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Directors’ responsibility for and approval 
of the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Reunert Limited for the year ended 30 September 2022 (annual financial 
statements), comprise the statements of financial position, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
statements of changes in equity, the statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the annual financial statements 
including the summary of significant accounting policies.

The Board of directors (the Board) is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements, 
in conformity with:

 > The framework concepts and the recognition and measurement requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and its interpretations as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in effect for the Group at 1 October 2021;

 > The South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides, as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee;

 > The Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council; 

 > The Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited; and

 > The requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act).

These annual financial statements include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management.

To discharge this responsibility, the Board ensures, through the review of information supplied by management and the reports of the 
internal auditors, that the Group (comprising the Company, its subsidiaries, its joint ventures, and associates) has instituted and applied 
appropriate internal controls and has operated a control environment that:

 > Ensures (within appropriate cost benefit parameters) the safeguarding of the Group’s assets

 > There is reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the Group’s financial information

The Board is also responsible for preparing the directors’ report.

The Board, together with the Risk and Audit committees, also ensures that the Group has instituted a risk management system which 
provides reasonable assurance that risks are: 

 > Identified

 > Assessed

 > Managed to acceptable levels

 > Transferred

Through its enquiries, the Board is not aware of any material breakdown in either internal controls or risk management practices that 
occurred during the year under review.

The Board has considered both the ability of the Company and Group to continue as going concerns for at least the next twelve months 
and the liquidity and solvency of the Company before and after approving the final dividend for the 2022 financial year. 

The Group’s external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, are responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act. They have issued 
an unmodified audit opinion in this regard which is set out on pages 3 to 6.

On the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the annual financial statements set out on pages 7 to 111 were approved by the 
Board and are signed on its behalf by:

Mohamed Husain Alan Dickson Nick Thomson
Chair Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

15 December 2022
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CEO and CFO responsibility statement 
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Company secretary’s certification
For the year ended 30 September 2022

In compliance with paragraphs 3.84(k) of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the Group CEO and Group CFO, after due, careful 
and proper consideration hereby confirm that: 

(a) The annual financial statements set out on pages 7 to 111, fairly present in all material respects the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of the Reunert Group in terms of IFRS; 

(b) To the best of our knowledge and belief, no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial 
statements of the Group false or misleading; 

(c) Internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to Reunert, and its consolidated 
subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the Group; 

(d) The internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, having 
fulfilled our role and function as executive directors with primary responsibility for implementation and execution of controls;

(e) Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit Committee and the auditors any deficiencies in design and operational 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls and have taken steps to remedy the deficiencies; and

(f) We are not aware of any fraud involving directors.

Alan Dickson Nick Thomson
Group CEO Group CFO

15 December 2022

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No.71 of 2008 (Companies Act), I, Karen Louw, duly authorised on behalf of the Group 
Company Secretary, Reunert Management Services Proprietary Limited (registration number 1980/007949/07), certify that to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission for the financial year ended 
30 September 2022, all such returns and notices as are required in terms of the aforesaid Companies Act and that all such returns and 
notices are true and correct.

Karen Louw
on behalf of Reunert Management Services Proprietary Limited 
Group Company Secretary

15 December 2022
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Reunert Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Reunert Limited (the Group and Company) set out on 
pages 17 to 111, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 30 September 2022, and the 
consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss, consolidated and separate statements of other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 
separate financial position of Reunert Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 September 2022, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code 
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of 
annual financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and 
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
annual financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
annual financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our audit report with regard to the separate annual financial 
statements for the year ended 30 September 2022.
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Impairment of goodwill (Group)

As disclosed in Note 12, the carrying amount of goodwill recognised 
by the Group amounts to R960 million (2021: R934 million). In line with 
IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets (IAS 36), the directors are required to 
assess annually whether goodwill is impaired. Judgement is required 
by the directors in assessing the impairment of this goodwill. For each 
affected cash generating unit (CGU) assumptions are made about 
the expected cash flows, and appropriate discount rate.

The assumptions with the most significant impact on the 
value‑in‑use calculations were:

 > The revenue growth rates applied for the following entities:

 o Reutech Radar (division of Reutech (Pty) Ltd;

 o Nanoteq (Pty) Ltd;

 o Skywire (Pty) Ltd;

 o Omnigo (Pty) Ltd; and

 o Reutech Communications (division of Reutech (Pty) Ltd).

 > The pre‑tax discount rates, which are derived from the weighted 
average cost of capital incorporating risk factors specific to the 
cash flow being assessed, for the CGUs identified above.

Due to the significant judgement applied by the directors in 
determining the values assigned to these assumptions, the 
impairment assessment of goodwill with a particular focus on the 
above assumptions and CGUs was considered a key audit matter.

In evaluating the impairment of goodwill, we performed the 
following procedures:

 > Assess the design of the relevant controls relating to 
assumptions in the cashflows and discount rate determination;

 > For selected cash generating units, we assessed the 
reasonableness of the revenue growth rates against historic 
performance, approved budgets, and expected future 
performance based on industry and entity‑specific factors;

 > A corporate finance specialist performed an independent 
assessment of the discount rate for selected cash 
generating units;

 > A corporate finance specialist computed a peer‑based market 
multiple for selected components;

 > Tested the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models;

 > Performed sensitivity analyses on the growth rates and 
discount rates to evaluate the impact on the value‑in‑use 
and headroom; and

 > Assessed the disclosures against the requirements of IAS 36.

Based on the procedures performed, the measurement of the 
impairment losses is considered appropriate.

Expected credit losses on Quince lease and loan receivables

As disclosed in Note 14, the carrying amount of leases and loans 
receivable as at 30 September 2022 is R2 271 million (2021: 
R2 476 million), after recognising expected credit losses (ECL) 
of R101 million (2021: R152 million).

In terms of IFRS, the objective of the impairment requirements 
is to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for all financial 
instruments for which there have been significant increases in 
credit risk since initial recognition, considering all reasonable and 
supportable information, including that which is forward‑looking. 
Assumptions include: 

 > The probability of default, and

 > The loss given default.

These assumptions have a significant impact on the carrying 
amount of the lease and loan receivables. The impact of key 
assumptions described above is therefore considered a key 
audit matter.

In assessing the carrying amount of the lease and loan receivables, 
we performed the following procedures related to the ECL 
assumptions:

 > Assess the design of the relevant controls relating to the 
ECL determination;

 > Compared the external benchmarks applied by the Group for the 
probability of default and the loss given default to the published 
benchmarks by the World Bank;

 > Assessed the reasonability of the probability of default;

 > Tested the accuracy and completeness of the underlying 
data used in the model and the arithmetical accuracy 
of the computation;

 > Involved our internal credit specialist to assist with assessing 
the key assumptions and judgements including forward‑looking 
information; 

 > Developed an independent estimate for the resulting ECL 
to determine whether the ECL recognised was appropriate; and 

 > Assessed the reasonability of the coverage ratio.

Based on the procedures performed, we concluded that the 
probability of default and loss given default applied is appropriate.
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Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled 
“Reunert Limited Group Audited Annual Financial Statements”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the 
Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and 
the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated 
and separate annual financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate 
Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate annual financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and / or the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate 
Annual Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate annual financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 
annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

 > Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

 > Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control; 

 > Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by the directors; 

 > Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate annual financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern; 

 > Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and 

 > Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated annual financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte & Touche has 
been the auditor of Reunert Limited for 37 years.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditor

Per: Nita Ranchod
Partner 

5 Magwa Crescent 
Waterfall City

15 December 2022
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Audit Committee report
Introduction
The Audit Committee is an independent statutory committee recommended by the Board and appointed by the shareholders. The Board 
formally delegates such additional duties and responsibilities to the Audit Committee beyond the statutory and regulatory duties of the 
Audit Committee as set out in the Companies Act, the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King IV) and the 
JSE Limited Listings Requirements (JSE Listings Requirements), as it considers appropriate. These duties are summarised in the Audit 
Committee Terms of Reference which is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee and then formally approved by the Board. 

The composition and effectiveness of the Audit Committee were also evaluated by the Nomination and Governance Committee as part 
of its annual review.

Composition and attendance of meetings
Members: LP Fourie (Chair), T Abdool‑Samad, AB Darko, S Martin and MT Matshoba‑Ramuedzisi.

The Audit Committee comprises independent non‑executive directors all of whom are financially skilled and have extensive audit 
committee experience. 

The Chair of the Board attended all meetings. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, External Auditors, Head of Internal Audit, 
Head of Internal Financial Controls and Risk Management, and financial executives attend Audit Committee meetings by request.

Appointed to
Committee

02 December
2021

17 May
2022

18 August
2022

16 November
2022

LP Fourie 1 October 2019 ü ü ü ü

T Abdool‑Samad 1 July 2014 ü ü ü ü

AB Darko 1 October 2019 ü ü ü ü

S Martin 1 December 2013 ü ü ü ü

MT Matshoba‑Ramuedzisi 1 April 2018 ü ü ü ü
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Audit Committee report (continued)

Statutory duties
In execution of its statutory duties during the financial year and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Audit Committee:

 > Confirmed the appointment of both Deloitte & Touche (Deloitte) as the independent external auditors and Ms Ranchod as the designated 
audit partner for the 2022 financial year

 > Considered the information required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements in assessing the suitability of both Deloitte 
and the designated audit partner for appointment, including accreditation by the JSE

 > Approved Deloitte's engagement letter, their audit plan and their audit fees
 > Evaluated a statement from Deloitte confirming that its independence was not impaired
 > Reviewed and reconfirmed the policy with regards to non‑audit services, which is:

 o The cost of non‑audit services provided by the external auditors may not, other than in exceptional circumstances, exceed 
20% of the external audit fee and the nature of such non‑audit services should not impair the external auditor’s independence

 > Considered the nature and extent of the other services prior to the engagements being approved and confirmed that in the Audit 
Committee’s opinion, they would not impact on the external auditor’s independence

 > Pre‑approved the non‑audit services provided by Deloitte in terms of the approved policy as follows:
 o Total fees charged by Deloitte in respect of all services were R30,1 million (2021: R28,1 million) of which the Group’s external audit 
fee amounted to R26,9 million (2021: R26,6 million)

 o The fees for other services amounted to R3,2 million (2021: R1,5 million) which amount is lower than the maximum cap for non‑audit 
services of 20% of the external audit fee

 > Recommends to the shareholders for consideration at the next Annual General Meeting (AGM), the reappointment of both Deloitte and the 
designated audit partner, as external auditors for the year ending 30 September 2023, and that such reappointment has been presented and 
included as a resolution at the next AGM pursuant to Section 61(8) of the Companies Act

 > In making this recommendation:
 o Considered the information listed in paragraph 22.15(h) as required by paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings Requirements
 o Concluded that, based on the outcome of the most recent inspection by IRBA of Deloitte, no matters were raised that negatively 
impacted the suitability of Deloitte for reappointment as external auditors

 o Considered the legal or disciplinary proceedings and the summary of concluded legal or disciplinary actions and concluded on the 
suitability of Deloitte for appointment as Reunert’s external auditor

 o Considered Deloitte’s independence, quality of work performed and value for money in terms of fees charged
 o Considered the IRBA guidelines on mandatory audit firm rotation

 > Recommends to the shareholders, for consideration at the next AGM, the appointment of KPMG Inc. (KPMG) as external auditors for the 
year ending 30 September 2024, pursuant to the mandatory audit firm rotation rule issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors

 > In making this recommendation:
 o Considered the information listed in paragraph 22.15(h) as required by paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings Requirements

 o Concluded that, based on the outcome of the most recent inspection by IRBA of KPMG, no matters were raised that negatively 
impacted the suitability of KPMG for appointment as external auditors

 o Considered the legal or disciplinary proceedings and the summary of concluded legal or disciplinary actions and concluded on 
the suitability of KPMG for appointment as Reunert’s external auditor

 o Considered KPMG’s independence and quality of work

 o Considered the IRBA guidelines on mandatory audit firm rotation

 > As required by paragraph 3.84(g)(ii) of the JSE Listings Requirements, considered and satisfied itself that the Group has appropriate 
financial reporting procedures and that those procedures are operating and that all entities included in the consolidated annual financial 
statements have been considered to ensure that it has access to all the financial information of the Group to enable the effective 
preparation of and reporting on the annual financial statements

 > Considered as required by paragraph 3.84(g)(i) of the JSE Listings Requirements and satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of 
the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer, and the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function

Other responsibilities
The Audit Committee has performed its duties and responsibilities as follows:

Integrated reporting, interim reporting and annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 September 2022

 > Guided the integrated reporting process, having regard to all factors and risks that may impact on the integrity of the Integrated Report
 > Assessed and recommended to the Board, the Company’s and Group’s ability to continue as going concerns for at least the next 12 months 
and accordingly confirmed that the interim and annual financial statements were appropriately prepared on the going concern basis

 > Reviewed the solvency and liquidity tests undertaken prior to relevant transactions and dividend declarations
 > Reviewed the interim financial statements, condensed consolidated financial statements and annual financial statements and other 
financial information made public, for recommendation to the Board, and satisfied itself that they fairly present the results of operations, 
cash flows and the financial position of both Reunert Limited and the Group
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 > Considered the accounting treatment for significant or unusual transactions and all material accounting judgements and estimates 
applied by management

 > Considered the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies and any changes made thereto
 > Reviewed any significant legal and tax matters and considered any matters identified therein that could have a material impact 
on the annual financial statements

 > Considered and made recommendations to the Board on the proposal for interim and final dividends
 > Met separately with management, Deloitte and internal audit to assess reporting controls and matters pertaining to the annual 
financial statements

 > Considered risk matters reported by the Risk Committee

External audit
 > Reviewed and evaluated Deloitte’s audit plan and concluded it to be satisfactory

 > Considered the significant audit risks identified by Deloitte 

 > Considered Deloitte's view on other qualitative aspects of the Group's accounting practices

 > Considered statutory matters reported to the committee

 > Noted the key audit matters set out in the independent external auditor’s report, namely:

 o Impairment of goodwill

 o Expected credit losses on the Quince lease and loan receivables

 > Considered the summary of corrected and uncorrected misstatements

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the key audit matters have been adequately addressed and appropriate disclosures have been 
made in the annual financial statements.

Mandatory audit firm rotation (MAFR)
In compliance with the new regulations established by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors and subject to shareholder 
approval at the February 2023 AGM, KPMG will be appointed external auditors with effect from 1 October 2023.

The Audit Committee provided oversight of the process undertaken by the Group to select the incoming auditors. This was done by:

 > Establishing a subcommittee to actively participate in the process, the subcommittee comprised LP Fourie, T Abdool‑Samad and 
MT Matshoba‑Ramuedzisi

 > The subcommittee gave input into the request for proposal for audit services circulated to various selected firms of auditors

 > The subcommittee met with each audit firm invited to propose

 > The subcommittee, together with management evaluated the written proposals from the participating external audit firms

 > The subcommittee made a recommendation to the Audit Committee who supported the recommendation that KPMG should be 
appointed as the Group’s external auditors

 > The Audit Committee considered input from the Board who concurred with the Audit Committee’s selection

Key accounting matters
The Audit Committee considered the impact of COVID‑19, the Russia‑Ukraine conflict and business, regulatory and macro‑economic 
changes on the financial statements, focusing on the uncertainties created and the impact on estimates, judgements and related 
disclosures.

The Audit Committee concluded that both the impact of the above and its own areas of special focus had been appropriately addressed 
in the annual financial statements. The areas of special focus were:

 > Impairment testing of goodwill and other non‑financial asset balances at year‑end

 > The measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL) as it relates to lease and loan receivables

 > The appropriateness of methodologies used and estimates and judgements applied to the determination of fair values for financial 
assets and financial liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or loss and through other comprehensive income

 > The review and consideration of the appropriateness of key estimates and judgements

 > The accounting and related disclosures for corporate transactions

The Audit Committee has deliberated on these matters based on information provided to the committee by management and is satisfied 
that they have been appropriately addressed by external audit, and work undertaken by management including the use of specialists where 
considered necessary.

The Audit Committee considered management's responses to the JSE monitoring panel findings and obtained assurance from 
external audit that they considered the panel findings, the relevance to Reunert and managements responses in their audit of 
the annual financial statements.
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Audit Committee report (continued)

Internal financial reporting controls
General
A comprehensive programme relating to the assessment of the adequacy of internal financial reporting controls was undertaken in 2022 in 
accordance with the SAICA guideline.

Audit Committee review: 
The Committee considered and reviewed the operationalisation and embedding of the CEO/CFO certification process as required 
by paragraph 3.84(k) of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The Committee considered the feedback from management on the results of combined assurance findings and the findings of both external 
and internal audit on the progress of remediation of control deficiencies.

Deficiencies
Internal financial reporting control deficiencies were reported to the Audit Committee during the year and have been remediated 
by management and/or are covered by compensating controls.

No significant deficiencies were reported to the Audit Committee during the year or at year‑end.

Internal audit
 > Reviewed and approved the internal audit charter and the annual internal audit plan
 > Evaluated the independence, effectiveness and performance of the Head of Internal Audit and the internal audit function and found 
it to be satisfactory

 > Considered the reports of the internal auditors (including written assurances) on the Group’s systems of internal control including 
financial and disclosure controls, financial risk management, information technology and maintenance of effective internal control 
systems and concluded that the Group has adequate financial reporting procedures to ensure the timely and accurate preparation 
of financial statements

 > Reviewed matters raised by internal audit and the adequacy of corrective action taken by management in response thereto

Combined assurance
The Group’s combined assurance framework is set out in the Integrated Report.

The committee reviewed the co‑operation between the assurance providers and confirmed that nothing has been identified through the 
combined assurance process that indicates any unmitigated reporting risks.

Legal and regulatory compliance relating to the financial statements
 > Reviewed legal matters that could have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and none were identified
 > Considered reports provided by management, internal audit and Deloitte regarding compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
 > Monitored the resolution of items received through the Group’s independent, confidential whistle‑blowing service
 > Evaluated the feedback presented by the Company Secretary of the annual compliance certification undertaken by the managing 
director of each of the Group’s business units

Sustainability information
 > Monitored the process of sustainability reporting
 > Received the necessary assurance from internal audit and various third‑party assurance providers that material disclosures are reliable 
and do not conflict with the financial information

Focus areas for 2022
 > Oversight of the mandatory audit firm rotation transition
 > Oversight of the governance of technology and information relating to internal financial controls and the integrity of financial reporting

Conclusion
The Audit Committee is satisfied that it has complied with all its statutory and other responsibilities and having had regard to all material 
risks and factors that may impact the integrity of the annual financial statements, following its review and having concluded on its findings 
the Audit Committee recommended the Integrated Report and the annual financial statements of Reunert Limited for the year ended 
30 September 2022 for approval to the Board. The Board approved the Integrated Report and the annual financial statements.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

LP Fourie
Chair

Sandton

15 December 2022
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 September 2022

The Board takes pleasure in presenting its report for the year ended 30 September 2022.

Authorised and issued capital
The authorised share capital of the Company remained unchanged. 

Review of operations and results 
The Group's revenue, operating profit, profit for the year, earnings per share and total cash dividend per share are:

Measure Units 2022 2021 % change

Revenue Rm 11 129 9 575 16
Operating profit Rm 1 231 1 050 17
Segment operating profit Rm 1 140 986 16
Profit for the year Rm 844 767 10
Basic earnings per share cents 520 483 8
Headline earnings per share cents 519 478 9
Total cash dividend per share for the year cents 299 277 8

Overview
Continued upward trajectory in financial performance
Reunert’s 2022 financial performance continued its positive upward trajectory of the last two years. The Group delivered a 16% increase 
in segment operating profit, which the Group considers to be the best metric to measure sustainable profit, with growth realised in all 
three segments. 

There were strong performance improvements in both the Electrical Engineering and Applied Electronics Segments and another above 
inflation performance from the ICT Segment. These performances enhanced earnings metrics for the Group with a strong improvement 
in the quality of earnings, measured by the return on capital employed (ROCE). In addition, despite numerous supply chain challenges, 
resulting in additional cash being invested into working capital, the Group rewarded shareholders with an 8% increase in dividends. 
The Group expects the impact of the electronic chip shortages and other global supply chain challenges to steadily decline during 2023, 
allowing for a gradual reduction in working capital.

Electronic chips and supply chain challenges
The Group was negatively impacted by the global electronic chip supply shortages and extended lead times for other raw materials. 
The situation deteriorated in the second half of 2022 and resulted in a loss of sales and operating profit at Nanoteq, the Group’s Encryption 
business, Omnigo, the Group’s manufacturer of printed circuit boards (PCBs), and Nashua, due to Ricoh’s inability to meet the demand for 
office automation products. The Group’s cash position was negatively impacted, as additional investment was made into raw material stock 
holdings to mitigate shortages. This was compounded by an increase work in progress and trade receivable balances, as sales were 
achieved later than planned or the underlying production commenced later than anticipated. However, there are early signs of 
improvement in supply in the electronic component market and supply chains are showing signs of recovery.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Group results 
The Group’s 2022 results reflect the positive impact of the ongoing recovery in the Applied Electronics and Electrical Engineering Segments 
and an above inflation increase in the ICT Segment. 

The Group, very pleasingly, increased revenue by 16% to R11 129 million (2021: R9 575 million). Segment operating profit increased by 16% 
to R1 140 million (2021: R986 million). 

The Group’s operating profit increased by 17% to R1 231 million (2021: R1 050 million) driven by the growth in segment operating profit 
and the benefit of various fair value remeasurements totaling R85 million (2021: R65 million).

The Group’s profit for the year increased by 10% to R844 million (2021: R767 million) after accounting for the R42 million share of loss in 
equity‑accounted investees. The majority of this loss arose from a fair value remeasurement loss of R38 million (remeasurement gain 2021: 
R24 million) arising from the call option that Lumika Renewables, the Group’s renewable energy joint venture, has to acquire the residual 
72% that it does not own in Terra Firma Solutions (TFS). Lumika is in the early stage of its development, but already has a strong pipeline 
of renewable energy projects.

Headline earnings per share improved by 9%, increasing to 519 cents (2021: 478 cents). Basic earnings per share improved by 8% 
to 520 cents (2021: 483 cents).

Cash resources and liquidity
The global logistics and supply chain challenges, the rising raw material prices and need to hold additional buffer stock, combined with the 
impact of the pass‑through of these cost increases to customers and higher sales in the last quarter of 2022, which resulted in higher trade 
receivable balances. The Group increased its investment in working capital by a further R334 million (2021: R200 million) to mitigate these 
challenges. Despite the increased working capital requirements, the Group still converted 80% of the Group’s profit for the year into free 
cash flow, as compared to 79% in the prior year. As global supply chains improve, particularly for electronic components, and as raw 
material prices fall due to the anticipated recessionary conditions that are likely to prevail in developed countries, the Group expects to 
benefit from reduced working capital requirements.

Pleasingly the Group ended the year with net cash resources of R359 million (2021: R291 million). This cash, together with the Group’s 
ongoing cash generation enables the Group to continue to deliver appropriate dividend returns to shareholders, and meet its operational 
requirements. The Group has adequate headroom in bank funding capacity to roll out our strategic initiatives, to fund investments into 
renewable assets and to acquire appropriate ICT businesses.

Strategy
The Group’s strategy execution progressed well in 2022. The Group retains its key strategic focus on the fast‑growing markets of renewable 
energy and the expansion of the ICT Segment.

ICT
+OneX expanded its service offering by acquiring application and software development and end user computing (EUC) capabilities. 
This increased service offering enabled increased engagement with its enterprise customer base. Pleasingly, its new‑age ICT offering 
has continued to provide value and there has been a positive increase in the number of clients serviced by +OneX. This has led to growth 
in both revenue and profitability. +OneX’s revenue now constitutes 16% of the ICT Segment (2021: 13%), a 37% increase year on year, 
reflecting the competitive relevance of its digital transformation product and service offering.

The Group retains its focus on the continued expansion of the ICT Segment’s new‑age ICT offerings in the Solutions and Systems 
Integration cluster, primarily through further acquisitions.

Renewable Energy
The South African renewable energy market continued to liberalise, entrenching the long‑term growth trajectory we envisaged when 
first investing into renewable energy in 2017. The lifting of the embedded generation cap to 100MW and the active participation of private 
industry in the country’s energy generation will drive the strong growth trajectory for our business units. 

Reunert’s renewable energy ecosystem now includes:

 > A leading engineering, procurement and construction solar energy service provider in South Africa in Terra Firma Solutions; 

 > A growing set of renewable energy solar assets (BOO’s) with attractive internal rates of return;

 > A leading renewable storage solution provider in Blue Nova; 

 > A modern “Internet of Things” (IoT) driven energy management capability in CBi: Energy; 

 > The ability to wheel energy across the Eskom grid to Commercial and Industrial customers by Apollo Energy. 

Reunert’s renewable energy ecosystem enables us to participate in multiple areas across the renewable energy market and presents a 
compelling value offering to both customers and investors. 
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Etion Create
Post year‑end, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Etion Create from Etion Limited for a purchase consideration 
of R202 million.

Etion Create is an original design manufacturer with a product portfolio that covers the industrial, defence and the rail sectors. The company 
has a significant local and Middle East market presence with opportunities in South East Asia. 

The acquisition will unlock synergies with other Applied Electronic business units, specifically due to Etion Create’s enhanced design 
and manufacturing capabilities. Etion Create will also increase the breadth of the segment’s product portfolio and improve access to 
key export markets.

Quince
The Group continues to make good progress in assessing alternate funding mechanisms for Quince, to release the Group’s current loan 
funding of the book to redeploy these funds, over time, into the Group’s higher yielding strategic investments.

Segmental review
Electrical Engineering
The segment continued its strong growth in financial performance as both Power Cables and Circuit Breakers delivered good results. 
These strong performances, together with the continued pass through of high commodity prices, increased segment revenue by 13% 
to R6 266 million (2021: R5 551 million) while positive operating leverage increased segment operating profit by 17% to R436 million 
(2021: R373 million). This is despite the loss of production in the first quarter due to industrial action. This result continues the strong 
performance of the prior year and the segment has returned to its pre‑Covid 19 profitability levels.

Power Cables production volumes improved moderately over the prior year. This coupled to an improved mix of products, the receipt 
and delivery of several large contracts, and a further improvement in operational efficiencies yielded a material increase in operating profit. 
The Zambian business environment remained stable and the cash position at Zamefa improved as the outstanding Government receivables 
reduced to ZMW49 million (2021: ZMW103 million). Zambian economic activity continues to slowly improve and the recent IMF loan 
of US$1,3 billion is likely to improve the country’s liquidity and the demand for cabling. 

Circuit Breakers continued its positive export performance as product volumes increased and its subsidiaries in the USA and Australia both 
posted record results. Local production volumes grew in line with GDP. Margin pressure were experienced during the year as supply chain 
related cost increases were initially absorbed by the company. Importantly, price increases were implemented in all markets by year‑end 
which will support margin recovery in 2023. CBi: Energy was launched during the year which consolidates the energy management 
initiatives of the Group. The successful Astute range has been augmented by a Building Energy Management solution that reduces 
customers’ electricity consumption and improves energy management. This new business line is expected to provide good impetus 
to the existing Circuit Breaker offering. 

ICT
The South African economic conditions remained challenging for the ICT Segment as sustained loadshedding negatively impacted the 
segment’s core customer base. Despite this, segment revenue grew by 4% to R2 599 million (2021: R2 490 million) and segment 
operating profit increased by 6% to R644 million (2021: R608 million). 

The segment’s Business Communications cluster suffered the most from loadshedding which had a negative impact on its core customers 
as the loss of electricity resulted in customer’s being unable to connect to the voice network. Consequently, total voice minutes decreased, 
despite the continued growth in the customer base, which reduced profitability. Positively, the cluster grew sales of its complementary 
product sets and demand was strong for last mile broadband connectivity. 

The Total Workspace Provider (Nashua) was again negatively impacted by the global electronic chip shortages and its primary multi‑function 
printer (MFP) supplier was unable to meet the demand for certain products during the third and fourth financial quarters. The cluster’s new 
dual brand initiatives assisted during these periods and, together with further improvements in their complementary revenues, resulted in 
above inflation growth in operating profit. 

+OneX continued to expand its service. A strong performance in its unified communications offering and the rapid growth of the new‑age 
ICT offering significantly increased both revenue and operating profit. 

The Rental‑based Finance cluster delivered a consistent financial performance. The quality of the book and the collections improved in 2022. 
The book remains adequately de‑risked with an appropriate allowance for expected credit losses. These were released at a slower rate than 
in 2021, due to a tightening of the forward‑looking credit conditions.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Applied Electronics
The Applied Electronics Segment recovered strongly after a difficult 2021. The large export order book enabled a much‑improved level of 
defence sales and the demand for renewable energy continued to increase. The global electronic chip shortages were a major challenge 
throughout the year and materially impacted both the revenue of Nanoteq and Omnigo, who rely heavily on electronic chips for their 
manufactured output. Although these challenges dampened performance, the segment’s revenue increased by 27% to R2 361 million 
(2021: R1 854 million) and segment operating profit increased by 64% to R164 million (2021: R100 million). 

The Fuze business operated at full capacity during the second half of 2022 and successfully navigated the complex supply chain 
environment resulting in a strong financial performance. The demand for its products is high and the company’s manufacturing capacity 
will be fully utilised in 2023. 

The Logistics business delivered another year of growth due to healthy local and export orders. The export pipeline remains strong as 
demand for their products from new geographies continues to grow. 

The Radar business was frustrated by the late placements of customer orders but still delivered an improved operating profit. The demand 
for mining radars is positive and the Berm Monitoring System, first launch in 2021, yielded good first‑year sales that will boost this market 
vertical of the business’ sales. 

The Secure Communications businesses had a challenging year. The South African National Defence Force did not place the local radio 
order and export orders were insufficient to cover this gap. This business restructured its cost base and the costs of doing so are fully 
accounted for in the financial year. Nanoteq received export orders too late to be concluded in this financial year while Omnigo struggled 
with the global chip shortages which materially impacted their sales despite having a substantial order book. 

The outlook for the year ahead for the Defence businesses is much more promising given improved order books across the segment. 

The ongoing liberalisation of the South African electricity generation market accelerated in 2022. The cap on embedded generation was 
lifted to 100MW and the tenders for the Renewable Independent Power Producer Programme Window 5 and 6 were issued. TFS benefited 
from an increase in embedded generation projects and revenue increased. It continued to invest in build‑own‑operate assets (BOOs) and 
its asset ownership now exceeds 30MW. 

Blue Nova invested heavily into systems and human resources to scale its production which resulted in record revenue and operating profit 
for the year.

Directorate 
After reaching the prescribed retirement age for non‑executive directors, as set out in the Board charter, Mr AB Darko will retire from the 
Board of directors immediately following the conclusion of Reunert’s 2023 annual general meeting.

Prospects
After a positive financial performance in 2022, the Group is in a better position than twelve months ago. In general, the Group’s order 
books are fuller, there are early signs of relief from the electronic chip and supply chain challenges and our strategic initiatives continue 
to deliver growth.

The Group is positioned to deliver an improved performance in 2023, driven by:

 > Strong growth in the Applied Electronics Segment, underpinned by the export order books;

 > Further improvement in the Electrical Engineering Segment as both Circuit Breakers and Power Cables continue to improve their 
performance; 

 > Strong market growth in renewable energy.

Whilst global recessionary pressures and local socio‑economic challenges pose threats to growth, the Group is well positioned to continue 
its trajectory of financial performance.
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Interests of directors
At the reporting date, fully paid ordinary Reunert shares were held directly and indirectly by the directors as indicated in the table below:

Direct beneficial Indirect beneficial Held by associates Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

AE Dickson 49 088 44 978 – – – – 49 088 44 978
M Moodley 54 314 52 921 – – – – 54 314 52 921
Adv. NDB Orleyn1 – – – – – 4 717 500 – 4 717 500
NA Thomson 91 918 89 402 – – – – 91 918 89 402

195 320 187 301 – – – 4 717 500 195 320 4 904 801

1 Adv. NDB Orleyn indirectly held 1 554 000 (2020: 1 554 000) Reunert shares through the Bargenel structure. In addition, she is a trustee and not a 
beneficiary in two other family trusts which held an indirect interest of 3 163 500 (2020: 3 163 500) Reunert shares through the Bargenel structure.

Subsequent to year‑end, AE Dickson, NA Thomson and M Moodley's direct interests increased by 3 850, 2 215 and 1 227 Reunert Shares, 
respectively, as a result of the partial vesting of units allocated in 2018 in accordance with the terms of the performance plan of the 
Conditional Share Plan 2012, as announced on SENS on Friday, 2 December 2022.

The directors have no financial interest in contracts entered into by the Group during the financial year. For further information on directors’ 
share options, refer to note 25 of the annual financial statements.

Attributable interest
The attributable interest of the Company in the aggregate profits and losses after tax of its consolidated subsidiaries for the year is as 
follows:

Rm 2022 2021

Net profits  886 874
Net losses  (25) (125)

Going concern
The directors assessed that the Group and Company have sufficient expected cash flows and resources to continue as going concerns for 
at least the next 12 months from the date of the approval of these annual financial statements.

Cash dividend
While cognisant of the economic uncertainty going forward, the Group’s free cash flow generating capacity remains intact. The 
directors declared a final cash dividend of 224,0 cents per ordinary share (2021: 207,0 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 
30 September 2022, before the deduction of dividend withholding tax. The dividend has been declared from retained earnings. 
This brings the total dividend declared for the year to 299 cents per share (2021: 277 cents per share) before dividend withholding tax.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Subsequent events
Subsequent to the reporting date, the following transactions have taken place:

+OneX Solutions
During September 2022, +OneX Solutions entered into a sale of business agreement with EUC Africa (Pty) Ltd (EUC) to acquire 100% of 
the business and related assets. EUC is a leading provider of desktop‑as‑a‑service and desktop virtualisation. The acquisition strengthens 
+OneX’s capabilities in end‑user computing.

EUC has attained both Citrix Platinum Solution Advisor Status as well as Microsoft Gold Cloud Competency certification. The company has 
helped leading retail, finance, public sector and technology clients to use the combination of Citrix technology running on the Azure cloud to 
optimise costs, security and performance across their end‑user computing environments.

Etion Create
On 1 October 2022 all conditions precedent in the sale of shares agreement between Reunert Limited and Etion Limited (Etion) were met. 
As a result, Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings Proprietary Limited (RAEH), has acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Etion Create 
from Etion for a purchase consideration of R202 million, being the agreed value of Etion Create, on the effective date. Etion Create is an 
original design manufacturer with a product portfolio that covers industrial, defence and the rail sectors. The company has a significant local 
and Middle East market presence with opportunities in South East Asia, a strong order book which should result in future growth in 
revenues and profitability. The acquisition will result in synergies with other companies in the Applied Electronics Segment specifically in 
enhanced design and manufacturing capabilities, as well as increasing the span of the segment product portfolio and improving access to 
key export markets. At the reporting date the valuation of the acquired intangible assets is in progress and accordingly the final purchase 
price allocation has not been finalised.

Quince sale of book
Subsequent to year‑end, the Group sold a further R49 million from its lease and loan book to a third party financial institution. The Group 
continues to make good progress in assessing alternate funding mechanisms for Quince to release the Group's current loan funding of 
the book to redeploy these funds, over time, into the Group's higher yielding strategic investments.

ICT acquisitions
The Group retains its focus on the continued expansion of the ICT Segment's new‑age ICT offerings in the Solutions and Systems 
Integration cluster, primarily through further acquisitions.

Significant guarantees  
Subsequent to year‑end, Reunert Limited issued two guarantees in favour of copper and aluminum suppliers of ATC (Pty) Ltd (African Cables) 
to the value of US$8 million. In terms of these guarantees, Reunert Limited irrevocably and unconditionally binds itself to all amounts due 
under the contract with the relevant suppliers up to the guaranteed value. 

Appreciation
Our companies continued to face many external challenges in 2022. Despite the complex operating environments, we have delivered a 
pleasing set of results that is reflective of the commitment and resilience of our employees across the Group. We thank them for their 
efforts and look forward to their continued commitment. Our customers remain the vital lifeblood of our businesses and we thank them for 
their valued business and commit to continue to add value in the years ahead. We value the support of our suppliers and other stakeholders 
that we have experienced throughout the past year.
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Accounting policies
For the year ended 30 September 2022

The annual financial statements (financial statements) comprising Reunert Limited (referred to as the Company), its subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates (collectively referred to as the Group), incorporate the following principal accounting policies. In these accounting 
policies the Group refers to both the Group and Company.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

 > The framework concepts and the recognition and measurement requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and its interpretations as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in effect for the Group at 1 October 2021;

 > The South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides, as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee;

 > The Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited;

 > The Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council; and

 > The requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act)

Basis of preparation
In line with the presentation and disclosure guidelines to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements, the accounting policies only include 
those policies which are material to the understanding and interpretation of the financial statements. Accounting policies have been 
included as part of the notes to the financial statements, where this facilitates an easier and more complete understanding for users 
of those matters being presented in the note. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and on the historical cost basis, except where otherwise in 
the relevant accounting policy. Examples where historical cost has not been applied include:

 > Certain financial instruments including derivatives and non‑derivatives measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

 > Share‑based payments

 > Business combinations

The accounting policies including those incorporated in the notes to the annual financial statements have been consistently applied, in all 
material respects, with those applied in the previous year.

The Group’s business interests are diverse, with its various subsidiaries providing a broad range of products and services to a wide set of 
markets. The Group’s businesses are organised into the following three segments, Electrical Engineering (EE), Information Communication 
Technologies (ICT) and Applied Electronics (AE). The other segment comprises the Group’s corporate functions, treasury operations and 
property portfolio. The majority of the Group’s operations are physically located in South Africa, with other operations in Australia, India, 
Lesotho, Mauritius, USA and Zambia.

The financial statements were compiled under the supervision of NA Thomson CA (SA) Chief Financial Officer.

Functional and presentation currency
The Reunert Group’s presentation currency and the Company’s presentation and functional currency is South African rand (ZAR/R). 
All amounts, unless otherwise stated, are stated in millions of rand (Rm). The following exchange rates were used when preparing 
these financial statements:

USD1 ZMW1 AUD1

2022
Year‑end rate: R17,98 R1,14 R11,57
Annual average rate: R15,82 R0,93 R11,25

2021
Year‑end rate: R15,10 R0,90 R10,89
Annual average rate: R14,82 R0,72 R11,14
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Accounting policies (continued)

Judgements and estimates
The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with IFRS, requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The results of these assumptions form the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised. 

The significant judgements and estimates are disclosed in note 11, Goodwill and note 13, Lease and loan receivables.

Consideration of the impact of COVID-19 and the Russia-Ukraine conflict in the 
assessment of goodwill and expected credit losses
The Group has assessed the potential impact of the Russia‑Ukraine conflict and the impact of this is mainly on input costs, rising inflation 
and interest rates with economic forecasters predicting a high probability of global recession in 2023. 

The Group has considered the residual impact of COVID‑19 and the ongoing impact of the Russia‑Ukraine conflict as well as the consequent 
probability of the economic recession in their assessment of the goodwill impairment and the expected credit losses (ECLs).

New and amended accounting standards and interpretations
There were no new and amended standards and interpretations issued during the current financial year which were adopted by the Group.

New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued but 
not yet effective
The following standards have been issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 30 September 2022. These standards have not been 
early adopted by the Group.

New pronouncement Effective date1 Impact on the Group

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting – Amendments to IFRS3: 
The amendment adds an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 and 
updates a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations

1 January 2022 The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group

Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to IAS 37: 
The amendments specify which costs should be included in an entity’s 
assessment of whether a contract will be loss‑making

1 January 2022 The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group

AIP IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for 
derecognition of financial liabilities: 
The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when applying the 
'10 per cent' test for the assessment of derecognising financial liabilities

1 January 2022 The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts: 
The standard will replace IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts and adopts a 
comprehensive model which is more useful and consistent for insurers. 
The model is supplemented by: 

 >  A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the 
variable fee approach) 

 >  A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short 
duration contracts

1 January 2023 The Group is assessing whether the 
standard will have an impact on the 
Group's insurance arrangements

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – 
Amendments to IAS 1: 
The amendments clarify how to classify debt and other liabilities as current 
or non‑current

1 January 2023 The Group is assessing the impact 
the amendments will have on current 
practice

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after the effective date.
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New pronouncement Effective date1 Impact on the Group

Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8: 
The amendments clarify how to distinguish changes in accounting policies 
from changes in accounting estimates by replacing the definition of 
accounting estimates. The requirements for recognising the effect of 
change in accounting remain unchanged

1 January 2023 The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group

Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2:  
The amendments require disclosure of material accounting policy 
information rather than significant accounting policies. Additional guidance 
is also given with examples of when accounting policy information is likely 
to be material

1 January 2023 The Group will revisit its accounting 
policy information disclosures to ensure 
consistency with the amended 
requirements

Deferred Tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12: 
The amendment provides clarification on how to account for income 
tax (including deferred tax) which represents tax payable or recoverable 
in the future

1 January 2023 The Group is assessing the impact 
of these amendments

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to IFRS 16: 
The amendments specify the requirements that a seller‑lessee uses in 
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to 
ensure the seller‑lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain/loss that 
relates to the right of use it retains

1 January 2024 The amendments are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after the effective date.
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Statements of profit or loss
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Revenue 1  11 129  9 575  816  500 
Operating (expenses)/income1  (9 903)  (8 524)  (1 062)  337 
Operating profit/(loss) before impairment 
of financial assets  1 226  1 051  (246)  837 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment)  5  (1)  659  (112)

Credit write‑off  (13)  (20)  –  – 
Expected credit losses 13,14  18  19  –  – 
Amount owing by subsidiaries  –  –  659  (112)

Operating profit 2  1 231  1 050  413  725 
Interest and dividend income 3  32  28  –  – 
Interest expense 4  (84)  (70)  (4)  (5)
Profit before tax  1 179  1 008  409  720 
Tax 5  (293)  (265)  (13)  (16)
Profit after tax  886  743  396  704 
Equity‑accounted investees  (42)  24 

Share of (loss)/profit net of tax 26  (39)  24 
Impairment of investment  (3)  – 

Profit for the year  844  767  396  704 
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Non‑controlling interests  17  (10)
Equity holders of Reunert  827  777 
Earnings per share (cents)
Basic 6  520 483
Diluted 6  517  481 

1  Operating (expenses)/income is a net amount disclosed for the purpose of reconciling from revenue to operating profit before impairment of financial 
assets on the statement of profit or loss. The detail of this amount has been disclosed in note 2, Operating profit where income and expenses are 
disclosed separately.
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Statements of other 
comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Profit for the year  844  767  396  704 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the 
statement of profit or loss  50  2 

Translation differences of foreign businesses  50  1 
Fair value remeasurement of financial asset –  1 

Items that may be not be reclassified subsequently to the 
statement of profit or loss  (48) –

Fair value remeasurement of financial asset1  (48) –

Total comprehensive income  846  769  396  704 
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Non‑controlling interests  25  (6)

– Share of profit/(loss) for the year  17  (10)
– Share of other comprehensive income  8  4 

Equity holders of Reunert  821  775  396  704 
– Share of profit for the year  827  777  396  704 
– Share of other comprehensive income  (6)  (2) – –

1  Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment in CBi-Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd, which was recognised as an investment at fair value through 
other comprehensive income during the current financial year. Refer to Note 28 for more details.
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Statements of financial position
As at 30 September 2022

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9  888  858  3  3 
Investment property 9  25  23  136  175 
Right‑of‑use assets 9  130  146  –  – 
Intangible assets 10  495  444  –  – 
Goodwill 11  960  934  –  – 
Interest in subsidiaries 12  6 000  2 775 
Investments in joint ventures and associates 26  9  99  –  – 
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 28  53  76  –  – 
Derivative financial asset 28  57  41  –  – 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries 12  1 154  4 452 
Lease receivables 13  370  410  –  – 
Loan receivables 13  1 209  1 393  –  – 
Other investments and loans  64  65  2  1 
Other receivables  33  – 
Deferred tax assets 15  151  145  –  – 

 4 411  4 634  7 328  7 406 
Current assets
Tax receivable  107  115  –  – 
Inventory 16  2 079  1 743  –  – 
Lease receivables 13  236  273  –  – 
Loan receivables 13  456  400  –  – 
Trade and other receivables 14  2 674  2 097  2  28 
Derivative financial assets 28  12  7  –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents 17  957  1 068  3  5 

 6 521  5 703  5  33 
Total assets  10 932  10 337  7 333  7 439 
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Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital 18  389  389  389  389 
Share‑based payment reserves 18  216  219 
Empowerment shares 18  (554)  (276)
Treasury shares 18  (169)  (447)
Equity transactions/put option with 
non‑controlling interests  (20)  (72)
Other reserves1  (169)  (163)  (75)  (75)
Retained earnings  7 364  7 045  6 927  7 000 
Equity attributable to equity holders of Reunert  7 057  6 695  7 241  7 314 
Non‑controlling interests  133  87 
Total equity2  7 190  6 782  7 241  7 314 
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities  15  200  158  16  7 
Equity forward contract  28  28  48  28  48 
Long‑term loans  19  71  44  –  – 
Lease liabilities  19  77  100  –  – 
Derivative financial liability  28  33  92  –  – 
Share‑based payment liability  20  7  –  –  – 
Contingent consideration  22  25  10  –  – 

 441  452  44  55 
Current liabilities
Put option liability  28  –  25 
Equity forward contract  28  20  18  20  18 
Current portion of long‑term loans  19  7  39  –  – 
Lease liabilities  19  89  85  –  – 
Derivative financial liabilities  28  15  17  –  – 
Provisions  21  62  81  –  29 
Tax liabilities  41  21  3  3 
Contract liabilities  22  260  264  –  – 
Trade and other payables  22  2 209  1 776  25  20 
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  17  598  777  –  – 

 3 301  3 103  48  70 
Total equity and liabilities  10 932  10 337  7 333  7 439 

1  Other reserves consists of: 
 > Equity forward contract 
 > Foreign currency translation reserve 
 > Translation loss on net investment in foreign subsidiary 
 > Fair value reserves
2 Refer to the statements of changes in equity for the composition of all components of equity.
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Statements of cash flows
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations before working 
capital changes A  1 328  1 158  744  446 
Increase in net working capital B  (334)  (200)  (5)  (9)
Cash generated from operations  994  958  739  437 
Cash interest received 3  31  26  –  – 
Dividends received 3  1  2  –  – 
Cash interest paid 4  (81)  (66)  (1)  (1)
Tax paid C  (234)  (272)  (4)  (2)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 
before dividends  711  648  734  434 
Dividends paid (including to non‑controlling 
interests in subsidiaries) D  (454)  (428)  (466)  (485)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
operating activities  257  220  268  (51)
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash received from loan receivables 13  766  966  –  – 
Cash invested in loan receivables 13  (793)  (893)  –  – 
Proceeds from sale of loan receivables 13  162  –  –  – 
Investments and loans granted  (31)  (8)  (1)  – 
Dividends received from joint venture 26  4  6  –  – 
Repayment of loans previously advanced to 
subsidiaries 154  300 
Replacement of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 9,10  (40)  (42)  (4)  – 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets  47  37  33  13 
Expansion of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 9,10  (192)  (196)  –  (3)
Acquisition of businesses 29  (16)  (8)  –  – 
Contingent consideration settled 22  (9)  –  –  – 
Proceeds from disposal of investment, 
subsidiary and associate 28,30  29  37  –  – 
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from 
investing activities  (73)  (101) 182  310 



G r o u p  Au d i t e d  A n n u a l  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s  2 0 2 2

25

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash invested in subsidiaries’ shares (427)  (237)
Shares acquired for equity settled Conditional 
Share Plan (CSP)  (6)  (11)  –  – 
Proceeds from share subscription by non‑
controlling interests 31  11  68  –  – 
Investment in treasury shares  –  (105)  –  – 
Shares acquired from non‑controlling interests 31  (21)  (31)  –  – 
Repurchase of shares from BBBEE party  (10)  –  (10)  – 
Put option liability settled 28,31  (24)  –  –  – 
Long‑term loans raised 19  31  47  –  – 
Long‑term loans settled 19  (3)  (9)  –  – 
Contingent consideration settled 22  (2)  (7)  –  – 
Equity forward contract liability settled  (15)  (15)  (15)  (15)
Lease liabilities settled 19  (84)  (73)  –  (1)
Repayment of loans previously advanced by 
subsidiaries  –  (2)
Net cash outflow from financing activities  (123)  (136) (452)  (255)
Net increase/(decrease) in net cash and 
cash equivalents  61  (17)  (2)  4 
Net cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year as reported in the 
Statement of Financial Position  291  323  5  1 
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the year before translation adjustments  352  306  3  5 
Foreign exchange translation adjustments on:
Cash and cash equivalents  21  (6)  –  – 
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  (14)  (9)  –  – 
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year as reported in the Statement 
of Financial Position  359  291  3  5 
Made up of:
Cash and cash equivalents 17  957  1 068  3  5 
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  (598)  (777)  –  – 
Bank overdrafts 17  (67)  (137)  –  – 
Other short‑term facilities 17  (531)  (640)  –  – 
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Notes to the statements of cash flows
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

A. Reconciliation of profit before tax to 
cash generated from operations 
before working capital changes
Profit before tax  1 179  1 008  409  720 
Adjusted for:
Cash interest received 3  (31)  (26)  –  – 
Dividend received 3  (1)  (2)  –  – 
Cash interest paid 4  81  66  1  1 
Unwinding of present value discount 4  3  4  3  4 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment and right‑of‑use assets 9  201  192  9  9 
Amortisation of intangible assets 10  52  61  –  – 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets 2  (1)  (12)  1  (6)
Profit on disposal of associate 2  –  (1)  –  – 
Fair value remeasurements

Gain on investment at fair value 
through profit or loss 2  (6)  (103)  –  – 
Gain on contingent consideration 2  (3)  (13)  –  – 
Gain on put option derivative asset 2  (16)  (41)  –  – 
(Gain)/loss on call option derivative liability 2  (59)  92  –  – 
Gain on put option liability 2  (1)  –  –  – 

Loss on disposal of subsidiary 2  –  1  –  – 
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of 
investments in and loans to subsidiaries 12  338  (261)
Impairment of non‑financial assets 2  –  1  –  – 
Expenses arising from share‑based 
payment transactions  6  7  6  – 
Share‑based payment expense in 
respect of the Group's CSP 2  16  16  –  – 
Share‑based payment expense in respect 
of the Group's Deferred Bonus Plan 2  –  1  –  – 
Share‑based payment expense in 
respect of the Group's cash settled 
employee ownership plan 2  7  –  –  – 
Cash paid to settle the Group’s Deferred 
Bonus Plan  –  (6)  –  – 
Net unrealised forex (gains)/losses 2  (31)  16  –  – 
Lease modification 2  (48)  (49)  –  – 
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment 
of financial assets

Credit write‑off 2  13  20  –  – 
Expected credit losses 13,14  (18)  (19)  –  – 

Provisions movements  (21)  (57)  (22)  (24)
Financial guarantee cost 2  4  –  4  – 
Other non‑cash movements  2  2  (5)  3 
Cash generated from operations 
before working capital changes  1 328  1 158  744  446 
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Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

B. Working capital changes
Inventory  (291)  (240) – –
Trade and other receivables and 
derivative financial assets  (344)  (176)  (6)  (12)
Trade and other payables, contract 
liabilities and derivative financial liabilities  301  216  1  3 
Increase in net working capital  (334)  (200)  (5)  (9)

C. Reconciliation of tax paid to 
the amounts disclosed in the 
statements of profit or loss 
as follows:
Net amounts outstanding as at 1 October  94  (4)  (3)  1 
Tax per the statements of profit or loss 5  (293)  (265)  (13)  (16)
Less: deferred tax  15  31  91  9  10 
Net amounts outstanding as at 
30 September  (66)  (94)  3  3 
Cash amounts paid  (234)  (272)  (4)  (2)

D. Reconciliation of dividends paid 
to the amounts disclosed in the 
statements of changes in equity 
as follows:
Dividends paid per the statements 
of changes in equity  (450)  (422)  (466)  (485)
Dividends paid to non‑controlling interests  (4)  (6)
Cash amounts paid  (454)  (428)  (466)  (485)
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Statements of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Group Group

Rm Notes Share capital

Share‑based 
payment 
reserves

Empowerment 
shares3

Treasury 
shares4

Equity 
transactions/

put option with 
non‑controlling 

interests

Equity 
forward 
contract5

Fair value 
reserves

Translation 
loss on net 

investment in 
foreign 

subsidiary

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders 

of Reunert

Non‑
controlling 

interests Total equity

Balance as at 1 October 2020 389 217 (276) (342) – (75) 7 (109) 16 6 678 6 505 38 6 543 
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 777 777 (10) 767 
Other comprehensive income – – – – – – 1 – (3) – (2) 4 2 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – 1 – (3) 777 775 (6) 769 
Share‑based payments
– In respect of CSP 18 – 18 – – – – – – – – 18 – 18 
– Shares acquired to settle CSP 18 – (11) – – – – – – – – (11) – (11)
–  Expenses arising from share‑based payment 

transactions 18 – 7 – – – – – – – – 7 – 7 
Shares bought back – – – (105) – – – – – – (105) – (105)
Cash dividends paid 7 – – – – – – – – – (422) (422) (6) (428)
Put option raised 28 – – – – (25) – – – – – (25) – (25)
Shares acquired from non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (33) – – – – – (33) 3 (30)
Subscription for shares by non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (14) – – – – – (14) 62 48 
Disposal of subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – (4) (4)
Transfer to retained earnings – (12) – – – – – – – 12 – – –
Balance as at 30 September 2021 389 219 (276) (447) (72) (75) 8 (109) 13 7 045 6 695 87 6 782 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 827 827 17 844 
Other comprehensive income – – – – – – (48) – 42 – (6) 8 2 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – (48) – 42 827 821 25 846 
Share‑based payments
– In respect of CSP1 18 – 17 – – – – – – – – 17 – 17 
– Shares acquired to settle CSP 18 – (6) – – – – – – – – (6) – (6)
–  Expenses arising from share‑based payment 

transactions2 18 – (3) – – – – – – – – (3) – (3)
Shares transferred from treasury company to 
empowerment partner – – (278) 278 – – – – – – – –
Cash dividends paid 7 – – – – – – – – – (450) (450) (4) (454)
Settlement of put option 28 – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Shares acquired from non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (10) – – – – – (10) (11) (21)
Subscription for shares by non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (7) – – – – – (7) 36 29 
Transfer to retained earnings – (11) – – 69 – – – – (58) – – –
Balance as at 30 September 2022 389 216 (554) (169) (20) (75) (40) (109) 55 7 364 7 057 133 7 190 

1  The amount in the statement of changes in equity of R17 million (2021: R18 million) consists of R16 million charge (2021: R17 million charge) in 
the statement of profit or loss and R1 million (2021: R1 million) related to deferred tax.

2  The minority shareholders’ shares in Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd (Bargenel) (the Group’s empowerment vehicle) were repurchased for a total 
consideration of R9,6 million. Of this, R3,3 million was charged to equity and R6,3 million was included as a charge to profit or loss. (2021: an empowerment 
charge in the ICT Segment of R6 million and in the AE Segment of R1 million).

3  This is the cost of Reunert Limited shares held by Bargenel, the Group’s primary empowerment structure. The underlying structure is considered to 
be controlled by Reunert Limited for accounting purposes and is thus consolidated.

4  Ordinary Reunert shares bought back in the open market and held by a subsidiary: 1 483 748 shares (2021: 7 032 824 shares). No shares were bought 
back during the current financial year. (In the current financial year: 5 549 076 shares were transferred to the Group’s empowerment partner, Bargenel, 
in order to establish the employee share ownership plan as approved by the shareholders at the February 2022 AGM). During the 2021 financial year 
2 035 126 shares were bought back.

5  At the end of the 2020 financial year, the Group, on behalf of the CSP, entered into a forward contract to acquire 2 346 930 ordinary Reunert shares 
from an independent third party, for purposes of hedging the Group’s potential future obligation to deliver Reunert ordinary shares to CSP participants. 
Refer to note 28, financial instruments, for further details.
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Group Group

Rm Notes Share capital

Share‑based 
payment 
reserves

Empowerment 
shares3

Treasury 
shares4

Equity 
transactions/

put option with 
non‑controlling 

interests

Equity 
forward 
contract5

Fair value 
reserves

Translation 
loss on net 

investment in 
foreign 

subsidiary

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders 

of Reunert

Non‑
controlling 

interests Total equity

Balance as at 1 October 2020 389 217 (276) (342) – (75) 7 (109) 16 6 678 6 505 38 6 543 
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 777 777 (10) 767 
Other comprehensive income – – – – – – 1 – (3) – (2) 4 2 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – 1 – (3) 777 775 (6) 769 
Share‑based payments
– In respect of CSP 18 – 18 – – – – – – – – 18 – 18 
– Shares acquired to settle CSP 18 – (11) – – – – – – – – (11) – (11)
–  Expenses arising from share‑based payment 

transactions 18 – 7 – – – – – – – – 7 – 7 
Shares bought back – – – (105) – – – – – – (105) – (105)
Cash dividends paid 7 – – – – – – – – – (422) (422) (6) (428)
Put option raised 28 – – – – (25) – – – – – (25) – (25)
Shares acquired from non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (33) – – – – – (33) 3 (30)
Subscription for shares by non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (14) – – – – – (14) 62 48 
Disposal of subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – (4) (4)
Transfer to retained earnings – (12) – – – – – – – 12 – – –
Balance as at 30 September 2021 389 219 (276) (447) (72) (75) 8 (109) 13 7 045 6 695 87 6 782 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 827 827 17 844 
Other comprehensive income – – – – – – (48) – 42 – (6) 8 2 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – (48) – 42 827 821 25 846 
Share‑based payments
– In respect of CSP1 18 – 17 – – – – – – – – 17 – 17 
– Shares acquired to settle CSP 18 – (6) – – – – – – – – (6) – (6)
–  Expenses arising from share‑based payment 

transactions2 18 – (3) – – – – – – – – (3) – (3)
Shares transferred from treasury company to 
empowerment partner – – (278) 278 – – – – – – – –
Cash dividends paid 7 – – – – – – – – – (450) (450) (4) (454)
Settlement of put option 28 – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Shares acquired from non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (10) – – – – – (10) (11) (21)
Subscription for shares by non‑controlling 
shareholders 31 – – – – (7) – – – – – (7) 36 29 
Transfer to retained earnings – (11) – – 69 – – – – (58) – – –
Balance as at 30 September 2022 389 216 (554) (169) (20) (75) (40) (109) 55 7 364 7 057 133 7 190 

1  The amount in the statement of changes in equity of R17 million (2021: R18 million) consists of R16 million charge (2021: R17 million charge) in 
the statement of profit or loss and R1 million (2021: R1 million) related to deferred tax.

2  The minority shareholders’ shares in Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd (Bargenel) (the Group’s empowerment vehicle) were repurchased for a total 
consideration of R9,6 million. Of this, R3,3 million was charged to equity and R6,3 million was included as a charge to profit or loss. (2021: an empowerment 
charge in the ICT Segment of R6 million and in the AE Segment of R1 million).

3  This is the cost of Reunert Limited shares held by Bargenel, the Group’s primary empowerment structure. The underlying structure is considered to 
be controlled by Reunert Limited for accounting purposes and is thus consolidated.

4  Ordinary Reunert shares bought back in the open market and held by a subsidiary: 1 483 748 shares (2021: 7 032 824 shares). No shares were bought 
back during the current financial year. (In the current financial year: 5 549 076 shares were transferred to the Group’s empowerment partner, Bargenel, 
in order to establish the employee share ownership plan as approved by the shareholders at the February 2022 AGM). During the 2021 financial year 
2 035 126 shares were bought back.

5  At the end of the 2020 financial year, the Group, on behalf of the CSP, entered into a forward contract to acquire 2 346 930 ordinary Reunert shares 
from an independent third party, for purposes of hedging the Group’s potential future obligation to deliver Reunert ordinary shares to CSP participants. 
Refer to note 28, financial instruments, for further details.
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Company

Rm Notes Share capital
Equity forward 

contract
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Balance as at 1 October 2020 389 (75) 6 781 7 095 
Profit for the year  – – 704 704 
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 704 704 
Dividends paid 7 – – (485) (485)
Balance as at 30 September 2021 389 (75) 7 000 7 314 
Profit for the year – – 396 396 
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 396 396 
Dividends paid 7 – – (466) (466)
Share‑based payment – – (3) (3)
Balance as at 30 September 2022 389 (75) 6 927 7 241 

Statements of changes in equity (continued)
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Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

1. Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is derived from the sale of products and rendering of services.

Products and services
Revenue recognised at a point in time
Revenue meeting this classification is derived from the sale of inter alia; cables, electrical distribution, protection and control 
equipment; multi‑function printers, radars, fuzes and communication products.

Revenue recognised over time
Revenue meeting this classification includes service revenue such as print and document solutions; communication products 
and services and engineering contracts; and solution services.

When the Group enters into a contract with a customer, the goods and services deliverable under the contract are identified 
as distinct separate performance obligations.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies the performance obligation for the related product or service for the customer; 
this can be recognised:

 > Over time for products, mainly in the AE segment, where the Group’s performance obligation results in an asset for a customer 
without an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date

 > Over time for services, mainly relating to print solutions in the ICT segment when the customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 

Revenue is recognised based on volumes consumed by the customer where this best represents the obligations provided 
to the customer in terms of the contract.

Where the requirements for revenue to be satisfied over time are not met, the Group recognises revenue at a point in time when 
the customer obtains control of a product or service. For product sales, control is generally transferred at the point when the Group 
transfers ownership to the customer.

Judgements applied in the recognition and measurement of revenue from contracts 
with customers
For certain contracts with customers, revenue is recognised over time by assessing whether the Group has an enforceable right 
to payment from the customer for the performance completed to date and the Group’s actions do not create an asset with an 
alternative use. Various judgements are applied in arriving at the revenue recognised for goods and services delivered over time. 

The most significant of these relate to the estimation of total costs, which assist in determining the inputs used towards 
completion of a performance obligation and the measure of progress for revenue recognised over time. This assessment is done 
at inception of the contract using a cost plus reasonable margin approach. In determining this assessment and estimate, reference 
is made to the contract terms, agreed payment milestones, estimated future costs likely to be incurred and the history of 
profitability for past and similar contracts. The judgements and resulting estimates applied in determining each input is made 
by regular analysis of detailed contract accounts and involvement of contract managers with knowledge of both its contracts 
and the industry. 

This method of revenue recognition and measurement is primarily applicable when there are defence contracts and turnkey 
solutions. Revenue raised on this basis gives rise to a contract asset until such stage as the customer is invoiced.

Certain contracts with customers allow customers discounts if contractual thresholds in those contracts are achieved. 
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

1. Revenue (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract assets and liabilities
Contract assets and liabilities result from agreements entered into with customers that contain both products and services 
as deliverables. When revenue recognised in respect of a customer contract exceeds the amounts received or receivable from 
a customer, a contract asset is recognised. If amounts received or receivable from a customer exceed revenue recognised for 
a contract, for example if the Group receives an advance payment from a customer, a contract liability is recognised.

A financing component may exist in the contract on which contract assets or liabilities are recognised. Contract liabilities include 
a contract with a customer that contains a significant financing component. If the contract exceeds 12 months, the customer 
obligation is considered to include a financing component. If a significant financing component is provided to the customer, 
the transaction price is reduced and interest revenue is recognised over the customer’s payment period using an interest rate 
reflecting the relevant customer’s credit risk. Typically however, the timing of receipt of payment is generally less than 12 months 
after the satisfaction of the performance obligation. All contract assets are subject to an impairment test under IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments (IFRS 9).

Under certain service contracts, the Group receives consideration from customers for installation services delivered at the inception 
of the contract. No separate performance obligation exists for the installation services provided at inception and accordingly, the 
consideration received is recognised as a contract liability and recognised in revenue over the period of the service contract.

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers have been recognised and disclosed in note 14, trade and other 
receivables and note 22, trade and other payables, contingent consideration and contract liabilities.

Other revenue
Interest received on lease receivables
The Group recognises interest earned on lease receivables using the implicit interest rate of the lease.

Company revenue policy
Dividends
The Company classifies dividends as revenue in line with it being an investment holding Company. Dividends from investments are 
recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment has been established, receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably 
measured. 

Rental revenue
Rental revenue from operating leases is recognised on a straight‑line basis over the lease term.

Revenue by segment
EE segment
Entities in this segment, generate revenue from various contractual arrangements, the majority of which are from the sale 
of products, as set out below:

Revenue source Application

Sale of products which include:

Energy, power and telecommunication 
products are from the design and 
manufacture of a comprehensive range 
of electrical conductors, cables and 
accessories, low voltage electrical 
distribution, protection and control 
equipment.

The sale of energy, power and telecommunication products are considered as one performance 
obligation and accounted for as a product sale. 

Revenue is recognised when the products are delivered to the customer. The Group considers 
itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on the gross basis. Revenue on the sale 
of these goods is measured at the effective selling price of the items sold net of value‑added tax 
(VAT) after subtracting discounts and rebates granted to customers. For contracts that permit 
returns, rebates or discounts, revenue is recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable 
that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur as a result of such items. 

Service revenue includes:

Turnkey installation, testing and 
maintenance of medium and 
high‑voltage cable systems.

The delivery of a turnkey solution is considered a single performance obligation. The input cost 
incurred method is used to assess the performance obligation which is met over time. The project 
completion is measured using the current cost incurred compared to the total estimated cost per 
the contract.

Revenue is recognised based on the input cost incurred method, which is an over time revenue 
recognition. The Group considers itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on 
the gross basis. The Group determines the transaction price to which it expects to be entitled 
in return for providing the promised performance obligation to the customer based on the 
committed contractual amounts, net of VAT, discounts, rebates, allowance for customer returns, 
and items of a similar nature. For contracts that permit returns, rebates or discounts, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue will 
not occur as a result of such items.
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ICT segment
Entities in this segment, generate revenue from various contractual arrangements, which include the sale of products and rendering 
of services, as set out below:

Revenue source Application

Sale of products which include:

Office equipment, communication 
equipment and automation products 
include Multi‑functional printer (MFP) 
devices, managed print software and 
solutions, production printing devices, 
routers, PBX equipment, switches and 
handsets.

The sale of these products are considered one performance obligation and accounted for as a 
product sale. 

Revenue is recognised when the products are delivered to the customer. The Group considers 
itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on the gross basis. Revenue on the sale 
of these goods is measured at the effective selling price of the items sold after subtracting VAT, 
discounts and rebates granted to customers. For contracts that permit returns, rebates or 
discounts, revenue is recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant 
reversal of revenue will not occur as a result of such items. 

Service revenue includes:

ICT services which include cloud‑
based virtual private branch exchange 
(VBX) offerings, hosted call recording, 
and business internet access products.

The sale of these services are considered one performance obligation and are accounted for 
as revenue when the service is rendered to the customer.

Revenue is recognised when the services are performed. The Group considers itself the principal 
in these services and recognises revenue on the gross basis.

Communication equipment and 
software is the design, implementation 
and support of converged networking, 
communications and security 
solutions.

The sale of these services are not considered to be one performance obligation and are 
accounted for when the performance obligations are met.

Obligations would typically include delivery of equipment/software, installation of equipment/
software and maintenance services. Maintenance services are satisfied over the period of the 
contract and revenue is recognised based on the input costs incurred method.

Revenue is recognised as follows:

a. installation

 > installation is recognised at a point in time (relating to product sales) when the equipment 
mentioned has been installed and commissioned at the customer premises; or 

 > over time where the equipment is installed in order to render a service to the customer

b. maintenance services 

 > maintenance services is satisfied over the period of the contract and based on costs incurred 
in order for revenue to be recognised.

The Group considers itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on the gross basis. 
The transaction price is allocated between the identified performance obligations according to the 
relative standalone selling prices of the performance obligations and revenue is measured at the 
effective selling price of the items sold or services rendered after subtracting VAT, discounts and 
rebates granted to customers. 

Wireless, fixed and satellite 
connectivity solutions which include 
wireless, fibre, satellite and LTE 
connectivity solutions across a single, 
next‑generation countrywide network. 

Judgement is applied to assess if the revenue from the goods sold are separately identifiable 
in terms of the contract and its performance obligations. If the obligations are not separately 
identifiable, revenue is recognised over time on a straight line basis. If the obligations are 
separately identifiable the sale of the products are recognised on the date of delivery and 
the service recognised over time.

Revenue on the over time method is recognised on a straight line basis as the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The Group considers 
itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on the gross basis. The Group 
determines the transaction price to which it expects to be entitled in return for providing the 
promised performance obligation to the customer based on the committed contractual amounts, 
net of VAT, discounts, rebates, allowance for customer returns, and items of a similar nature. For 
contracts that permit returns, rebates or discounts, revenue is recognised only to the extent that 
it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur as a result of such items.



34

R E U N E RT  L I M I T E D

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

1. Revenue (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue by segment (continued)
AE segment
Entities in this segment, generate revenue from various contractual arrangements, which include the sale of products and rendering 
of services, as set out below:

Revenue source Application

Sale of products which include:

Military and commercial products 
which include technology solutions for 
fuze requirements, radar solutions, 
secure/tactical communications, 
robotic development and production, 
precision electronic production, remote 
weapon systems, logistical integration 
and support and energy storage.

The sale of military and commercial products is considered one performance obligation and 
accounted for as a product sale. 

Revenue is recognised when the products are delivered to the customer. Control is transferred 
at point of delivery or per the incoterms as indicated in the contract. The Group considers itself 
the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on the gross basis. Revenue on the sale of 
these goods is measured at the effective selling price of the items sold after subtracting VAT, 
discounts and rebates granted to customers. 

Service revenue includes:

Military and defence solutions are 
engineered and manufactured for 
example remote controlled stabilised 
weapon platforms and the 
development and manufacturing of 
search and tracking radar systems and 
subsystems for local and export 
markets.

The solutions provided are considered a single performance obligation, the input cost incurred 
method is used to assess the performance obligation met over time. The project completion is 
measured using the current cost incurred compared to the total estimated cost for the contract.

Revenue is recognised based on the input cost incurred method, which is an over time revenue 
recognition. The Group considers itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on 
the gross basis. The Group determines the transaction price to which it expects to be entitled 
in return for providing the promised performance obligation to the customer based on the 
committed contractual amounts, net of VAT, discounts, rebates, allowance for customer returns, 
and items of a similar nature. For contracts that permit returns, rebates or discounts or any 
penalties, revenue is recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant 
reversal of revenue will not occur as a result of such items. 

Solar solutions are turnkey energy 
engineering solutions, delivering 
start‑to‑end solutions, starting with 
strategy development, leading to 
project implementation, support and 
maintenance this includes commercial 
scale rooftop, parking and ground 
mount solar PV systems.

The delivery of a turnkey solution is considered a single performance obligation. The input cost 
incurred method is used to assess the performance obligation which is met over time.

Revenue is recognised over time using the input cost incurred method as the customer controls 
the asset and the asset has no alternative use. Revenue is recognised equal to the cost of 
significant inputs for delivery of materials to site and when installation occurs revenue and margin 
are recognised. The Group considers itself the principal in these sales and recognises revenue on 
the gross basis. The transaction price is determined by reference to the contract and the nature 
of the installations. The full transaction price net of VAT per the contract is allocated to the 
performance obligation.

Judgement applied to the appropriate disaggregation of revenue disclosed for the Group
The Group determines that the categories used in the Board presentations can be used to meet the objective of the disaggregation 
disclosure requirement in paragraph 114 of IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15). The following table 
illustrates the disaggregation disclosure by primary geographical market, products and services and timing of revenue recognition, 
including a reconciliation of how the disaggregated revenue ties in with the EE, ICT and AE segment, in accordance with paragraph 
115 of IFRS 15.
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Analysis of revenue
Group

Segment

Rm EE ICT AE Other Total

2022
Revenue from contracts with customers
Category of revenue
Products  6 026  1 478  1 758 –  9 262 
Services  146  789  569 –  1 504 

 6 172  2 267  2 327 –  10 766 
Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue recognised at a point in time  6 135  1 612  1 586 –  9 333 
Revenue recognised over time  37  655  741 –  1 433 

 6 172  2 267  2 327 –  10 766 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  6 172  2 267  2 327 –  10 766 
Other revenue
Interest recognised on lease and loan receivables –  332 – –  332 
Rental revenue – –  27  4  31 
Total revenue  6 172  2 599  2 354  4  11 129 
Revenue by geography
South Africa  4 011  2 451  1 344  4  7 810 
Rest of Africa (excluding South Africa)  1 584  99  131 –  1 814 
Asia  51 –  599 –  650 
Australia  204 –  37 –  241 
Europe  129  48  208 –  385 
America  193  1  35 –  229 
Total revenue  6 172  2 599  2 354  4  11 129 
Revenue to be recognised on remaining 
performance obligations in respect of 
open contracts
In the next 12 months  999 
More than 12 months  204 
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1. Revenue (continued)
Analysis of revenue (continued)

Group

Segment

Rm EE ICT AE Other Total

2021
Revenue from contracts with customers
Category of revenue
Products  5 138  1 340  1 154  –  7 632 
Services  119  785  671  –  1 575 

 5 257  2 125  1 825  –  9 207 
Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue recognised at a point in time  5 189  1 574  1 148  –  7 911 
Revenue recognised over time  68  551  677  –  1 296 

 5 257  2 125  1 825  –  9 207 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  5 257  2 125  1 825  –  9 207 
Other revenue
Interest recognised on lease and loan receivables  –  340  –  –  340 
Rental revenue  –  –  24  4  28 
Total revenue  5 257  2 465  1 849  4  9 575 
Revenue by geography
South Africa  3 447  2 365  1 126  4  6 942 
Rest of Africa (excluding South Africa)  1 310  100  58  –  1 468 
Asia  58  –  419  –  477 
Australia  189  –  29  –  218 
Europe  95  –  181  –  276 
America  158  –  36  –  194 
Total revenue  5 257  2 465  1 849  4  9 575 

Company
South Africa

Rm 2022 2021

Revenue
Dividend income  747  426 
Rental revenue  69  74 

 816  500 
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2. Operating profit
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Operating profit is arrived at as follows:
Revenue  11 129  9 575  816  500 
Items included in operating profit
Changes in inventory  (7 147)  (5 852)  –  – 
Employee costs  (2 061)  (1 984)  –  – 

Salaries and wages  (1 816)  (1 776)  –  – 
Pension and provident fund contributions1  (126)  (126)  –  – 
Other staff costs2  (96)  (65)  –  – 
Employee related share‑based payment 
expense3  (23)  (17)  –  – 

Fair value remeasurements  85  65  –  – 
Gain on investment at fair value through profit  
or loss  6  103  –  – 
Gain on contingent consideration  3  13  –  – 
Gain on put option derivative asset  16  41  –  – 
Gain/(loss) on call option derivative liability  59  (92)  –  – 
Gain on put option liability  1  –  –  – 

Auditors remuneration  (29)  (28)  (7)  (7)
Audit fees  (28)  (27)  (7)  (7)
Other fees  (1)  (1)  –  – 

Reversal of impairment/(Impairment) of 
financial assets  5  (1)  659  (112)

Credit write‑off  (13)  (20)  –  – 
Expected credit losses  18  19  –  – 
Amount owing by subsidiaries  –  –  659  (112)

Net forex gains  63  24  –  – 
Net realised forex gains4  32  40  –  – 
Net unrealised forex gains/(losses)4  31  (16)  –  – 

Other income  74  47  6 12
Lease modification  48  49  –  – 
Profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets  1  12  (1)  6 
Interest incurred to finance the lease 
and loan receivables  (9)  (24)  –  – 
Operating lease charges  (29)  (27)  –  – 
Research and development  (137)  (150)  –  – 
Financial guarantee  (4)  –  (4)  – 
Gross other operating expenses  (499)  (395)  (44) (38)
EBITDA5  1 490  1 311  1 425  361 

1  Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.
2  Includes staff training, staff welfare, skills development levy, commissions and incentives and other staff related costs.
3  The following items are included in the employee related share-based payment expense: 
 >  a charge of R7 million (2021: Rnil) relating to the employee share ownership plan implemented in the current financial year. This is classified as a 

cash-settled share-based payment with the equivalent amount included in liabilities. Refer to note 20 for further details.
 >  a charge of R16 million (2021: R17 million) relating to the CSP share scheme, refer to note 18 for further details.
4  Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are initially recognised at the ruling rates of exchange at the dates of the transactions. At the end 

of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to the exchange rates prevailing at that date. Exchange 
differences on monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Derivative instruments are initially 
measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The 
resulting gains or losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

5  Earnings before net interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, impairment of non-financial assets, profit on disposal of associate, loss on disposal 
of subsidiary and expenses arising from share-based payment transactions. EBITDA includes interest income received on lease and loan receivables 
in the ICT Segment.
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2. Operating profit (continued)
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

The following additional disclosable 
items have been included in arriving 
at operating profit:
Depreciation and amortisation  (253)  (253)  (9)  (9)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  –  (1)  –  – 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of 
investment in subsidiaries  (997)  373 
Profit on disposal of associate  –  1  –  – 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary  –  (1)  –  – 
Expenses arising from share‑based payment 
transactions1  (6)  (7)  (6)  – 
Operating profit as per the statements of 
profit or loss  1 231  1 050  413  725 

1  The minority shareholders’ shares in Bargenel (the Group’s empowerment vehicle) were repurchased for a total consideration of R9,6 million. 
Of this, R3,3 million was charged to equity and R6,3 million was included as a charge to profit or loss. (2021: an empowerment charge in the 
ICT Segment of R6 million and in the AE Segment of R1 million). 

3.  Interest and dividend income
Dividends are recognised in the statements of profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established. 

Interest on investments and loan receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Dividend income 1 2 
Interest earned on financial assets:

Bank deposits 19 16 
Other assets 12 10 

Interest and dividend income as per the statements of profit or loss 32 28 
Interest earned on finance lease and loan receivables included in Group revenue 332 340 
Total interest and dividend income 364 368 
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4.  Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised in the statements of profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Loans, bank overdrafts and other short‑term 
facilities 66 47 1 1 
Lease liabilities 15 19 – –
Interest expense as per the statements of 
cash flows 81 66 1 1 
Unwinding of present value discount 3 4 3 4 
Interest expense as per the statements of 
profit or loss 84 70 4 5 
Interest incurred to finance the lease and loan 
receivables (included in Group operating expenses 
as this relates to the Group's finance business) 9 24 – –
Total interest expense 93 94 4 5 
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5. Tax
Current tax comprises tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates enacted at the reporting date together 
with any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Group Company

Rm Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

South African current tax:
– Current year  244  213  4  6 
– Prior year  (2)  (55)  –  – 
South African deferred tax:
– Current year 15  40  28  10  10 
– Rate change 15  (2)  –  (1)  – 
– Prior year 15  (4)  54  –  – 

 276  240  13  16 
Foreign tax:
– Current  20  16  –  – 
– Deferred 15  (3)  9  –  – 
Tax charge per the statements of 
profit or loss  293  265  13  16 

% % % %

Tax rate reconciliation
South African normal tax rate  28,0  28,0  28,0  28,0 
Movement in rate of tax due to:  – 
– Dividend income  –  (0,1)  (51,2)  (16,5)
– Non taxable income

–  Reversal of impairment of loans  –  –  (45,2)  (14,5)
–  Fair value remeasurement gain on investment 

at fair value through profit or loss  (0,2)  (2,9)  –  – 
–  Fair value remeasurement gain on option 

contracts  (1,8)  –  –  – 
–  Fair value remeasurement gain on contingent 

consideration  (0,1)  (0,4)  –  – 
–  Other non‑taxable income and special 

deductions1  (0,5)  (1,0)  (0,4)  (0,1)
– Research and development allowance  (1,0)  (1,3)  –  – 
– Disallowable expenses 

–  Impairment of investments and loans  –  –  68,5  4,3 
–  Deferred tax asset not recognised in loss‑

making subsidiaries  0,2  2,4  –  – 
–  Share‑based payment expense transactions  0,2  0,1  0,4  – 
–  Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment  –  –  0,1  – 
–  Fair value remeasurement loss on option 

contract  –  1,4  –  – 
– Consulting fees  0,5  0,5  1,5  0,5 
– Legal fees  0,1  0,2  0,4  0,2 
–  Other disallowable expenses2  1,0  0,5  0,6  0,3 

– Effect of foreign tax rates3 (0,5)  (1,3)  –  – 
–  Previously unrecognised tax losses used 

to reduce tax expense (0,3)  –  –  – 
– Prior year tax  (0,5)  (0,1)  –  – 
– Other4  (0,2)  0,3  0,5  – 
Effective rate of tax  24,9  26,3  3,2  2,2 

1  Includes profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, learnership allowances and amounts not taxable due to double tax agreements.
2  Includes disallowable expenses such as tax limitation on interest and financial guarantee. 
3 South African tax rate used as the effect of other tax jurisdictions are immaterial.
4  Includes withholding taxes, capital gains taxes, tax rate changes and securities transfer taxes.
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5. Tax (continued)
The Group has total tax losses available to be offset against future taxable income of R379 million (2021: R434 million). 
Of the R379 million tax losses, R13 million relates to foreign subsidiaries. Refer to note 15 for the determination of whether 
deferred tax assets are recognised.

R323 million of the tax losses (R3 million related to foreign subsidiaries) have been considered in the raising of R86 million 
(2021: R101 million) of the deferred tax asset.

Judgement is applied in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognised on tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
only if there is convincing evidence that there will be sufficient taxable profits in future years to recover the assets. The Group has 
concluded that the deferred tax assets recognised on tax losses will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income 
based on the approved business plans and budgets of the various entities. 

The Group has capital gains tax losses of R104 million (2021: R43 million) which can be offset against future capital gains. However, 
as the timing of any such offset is uncertain, no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

6. Number of shares and earnings used to calculate earnings per 
ordinary share

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, net of empowerment and treasury 
shares1, for basic earnings and headline earnings per share (millions of shares) 1592 1612 
Adjusted by the dilutive effect of unexercised share options granted (millions of shares)  1 –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted basic and diluted  
headline earnings per share (millions of shares)  160  161 
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of Reunert (earnings used to 
determine earnings per ordinary share and diluted earnings per share)  827  777 

1 The empowerment shares relate to Reunert Limited shares held by Bargenel Investment (Pty) Ltd. The treasury shares relate to shares held by the 
Group’s treasury company Julopro (Pty) Ltd. These entities are consolidated by the Group.

2 The Group has elected to treat the shares under the equity forward contract as issued shares, not treasury shares, for purposes of calculating 
earnings per share. This amounts to 2 346 930 shares (2021: 2 346 930).

7. Dividends
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Ordinary dividends paid:
–  Final 2021 – 207 cents per ordinary share  

(2020: 192 cents per ordinary share)  383  355  383  355 
–  Interim 2022 – 75 cents per ordinary share  

(2021: 70 cents per ordinary share)  139  130  139  130 
–  Attributable to Reunert shares held by a special 

purpose entity  (56)  (48)  (56)
–  Attributable to Reunert shares held by a subsidiary  (16)  (15)

 450  422  466  485 

Ordinary dividends declared:
–  Final 2022 – 224 cents per ordinary share  

(2021: 207 cents per ordinary share)  414  383  414  383 
–  Attributable to Reunert shares held by a special 

purpose entity  (54)  (38)
– Attributable to Reunert shares held by a subsidiary  (3)  (15)

 357  330  414  383 
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8. Headline earnings per share
Group

Rm Notes 2022 2021

Profit attributable to equity holders of Reunert  827  777 
Headline earnings are determined by eliminating the effect of the following items 
from attributable earnings:
– Impairment of non‑financial assets in a joint venture (2021: after a tax charge of Rnil) –  1 
– Net loss on disposal of subsidiary and associate (2021: after a tax charge of R1 million) –  1 
–  Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (after a tax 

charge of Rnil and NCI portion of Rnil) (2021: after a tax charge of R3 million and NCI 
portion of Rnil) (1)  (11)

Headline earnings  826  768 
Headline earnings per share (cents) 6  519 478
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 6  516  476 

Headline earnings have been determined in accordance with Circular 1/2021 Headline Earnings issued by The South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants.

9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property
The Group’s portfolio of property, plant and equipment includes furniture, computer equipment, vehicles, owner‑occupied land and 
buildings, plant and equipment and investment properties. (Furniture and computer equipment are included in plant and equipment, 
vehicles in the table below).

Property, plant and equipment includes both owned property and right‑of‑use assets for properties the Group utilises under leases. 
The Group’s property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The Group holds various property assets which are held to earn external rental income and for capital appreciation which have been 
classified as investment property, whereas properties held for use by the Group in the supply of goods, services or for administration 
purposes are classified as owner‑occupied properties. 

All property, plant and equipment, including investment property, is initially recognised at cost. Cost being the purchase price plus 
the incidental costs to prepare the assets for their intended use.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment and investment property is capitalised when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
subsequent expenditure (repairs and maintenance) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

Where the Group regularly replaces parts of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of such items includes the cost 
of replacing the part when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the group and the cost can 
be reliably measured. The carrying amounts of the parts replaced are derecognised on capitalisation of the cost of the replacement 
part. Each component of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the 
item is depreciated separately where it has an estimated useful life that differs from that of the item as a whole. These assets are 
mainly in the EE and AE Segments.

Capital projects in progress, but not completed are classified as work in progress assets. These are assets still in the construction 
phase and not yet available for use. These assets arise mainly in the EE and AE Segments.

Work in progress is carried at cost and is not depreciated. Depreciation commences once the assets are available for use as 
intended by management.

Depreciation of all depreciable assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight‑line basis over the estimated useful lives which represents the expected pattern of consumption  
of the future benefits of property, plant and equipment and investment property in order to reduce the cost of the asset to its estimated 
residual value. The depreciation methods, estimated remaining useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least annually, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Land is not depreciated and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. All other items of plant and equipment and 
investment property are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.
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9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value‑in‑use.

Property, plant and equipment and investment property are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefit is 
expected from the continued use of the asset and the profit or loss on disposal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. Where it has a lease, the Group recognises 
a right‑of‑use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for 
short‑term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as computer tablets 
and personal computers, and small items of office furniture and telephones), with a monetary threshold of R100 000 per lease.  
For short‑term and low value leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight‑line basis over 
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased assets are consumed. For most contracts there is limited judgement needed to determine whether an agreement contains 
a lease; however, where the Group has contracts for the use of fibre and other fixed telecommunications lines, judgement has 
been applied to determine whether the Group controls the line and therefore has a lease.

The right‑of‑use assets are initially measured at: 

 > the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by its incremental borrowing 
rate; and

 > any initial direct costs incurred.

Leases are recognised as a right‑of‑use asset at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

The right‑of‑use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight‑line basis.

The right‑of‑use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
adjusted for remeasurements of the lease liability.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight‑line basis over the lease term.

Right‑of‑use assets are assessed for impairments according to the impairment requirements of IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets (IAS 36).

Right‑of‑use assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value‑in‑use.

Lease modifications are defined as a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original 
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group differentiates between scenarios resulting in the remeasurement of existing lease 
assets and lease liabilities that are not lease modifications (for example, a change in lease term resulting from the exercise of an 
option to extend the lease when that option was not included in the original lease term) and those resulting in a lease modification 
(for example, a change in the lease term resulting from changes to the terms and conditions of the original lease). These lease 
modifications are mainly in the ICT Segment in relation to leases of multi functional of printers (MFP’s).

The Group further distinguishes between those lease modifications that, in substance, represent the creation of a new lease that 
is separate from the original lease and those that, in substance, represent a change in the scope of, or the consideration paid for, 
the existing lease.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right 
to use one or more underlying assets and the consideration paid for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the 
stand alone price for the increase in scope. 

For lease modifications that do not result in a separate lease, the existing lease liability is remeasured using a discount rate 
determined at the effective date of the modification.

If the modification decreases the scope of a lease, the carrying amount of the right‑of‑use asset is decreased to reflect the partial 
or full termination of the lease, and a corresponding gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For all other lease modifications, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right‑of‑use asset.
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9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property (continued)

Group

Rm

Owner-
occupied
freehold
land and
buildings

Owner-
occupied

leasehold
buildings

Plant and
equipment,

vehicles 

Capital
work in

progress

Total
property

plant
equipment 

Right-
of-use
assets1

Investment
property

2022
Cost 258  65 1 720 61  2 104 280 23 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairments 59 8 1 179 –  1 246 134 –
Net carrying amount  
as at 1 October 2021 199 57 541 61 858 146 23 
Impact on the statements 
of cash flows

Acquisition of businesses – – 1 – 1 – –
Acquisition of assets – 1 124 38 163 – 3 
Depreciation (10) (3) (109) – (122) (79) –
Disposals (34) – (6) (5) (45) – (1)

Capitalised right‑of‑use assets – – – – – 64 –
Transfers

Transfers from/(to) intangibles – – 1 (6) (5) – –
Transfer from inventory – – 18 – 18 – –
Transfer between categories – – 29 (29) – – –

Impairment – – – – – – –
Exchange rate difference – 15 3 2 20 (1) –
Cost 216 83 1 829 61  2 189 328 25 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairments 61 13 1 227 –  1 301 198 –

Net carrying amount  
as at 30 September 2022 155 70 602 61 888 130 25 

1 The classes of assets in the right-of-use assets net carrying amount are properties R72 million (2021: R105 million), plant R52 million 
(2021: R37 million), motor vehicles R6 million (2021: R3 million) and equipment Rnil (2021: R1 million).
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9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property (continued)

Group

Rm

Owner‑
occupied
freehold
land and 
buildings

Owner‑
occupied
leasehold
buildings

Plant and
equipment,

vehicles 

Capital
work in

progress

Total
property

plant
equipment 

Right‑
of‑use
assets1

Investment
property

2021
Cost 255 59 1 585 43 1 942 271 32 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairments 50 5 1 092 – 1 147 85 1 
Net carrying amount  
as at 1 October 2020 205 54 493 43 795 186 31 
Impact on the statements  
of cash flows

Acquisition of businesses – – 4 – 4 – –
Acquisition of assets – 1 125 55 181 – –
Depreciation (10) (3) (106) – (119) (72) –
Disposals – – (17) – (17) – (8)

Capitalised right‑of‑use assets – – – – – 50 –
Terminations – – – – – (5) –
Remeasurement – – – – – (11) –
Transfers

Transfers from/(to) intangibles – – 3 – 3 – –
Transfer from inventory – – 6 – 6 – –
Transfer between categories 4 1 32 (37)  – – –

Impairment – – (1) – (1) – –
Exchange rate difference – 4 2 – 6 (2) –
Cost 258 65 1 720 61 2 104 280 23 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairments 59 8 1 179 – 1 246 134 –

Net carrying amount  
as at 30 September 2021 199 57 541 61 858 146 23 
1 The classes of assets in the right-of-use assets net carrying amount are properties R72 million (2021: R105 million), plant R52 million 

(2021: R37 million), motor vehicles R6 million (2021: R3 million) and equipment Rnil (2021: R1 million).
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9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property (continued)

Company

Rm

Plant and
equipment,

vehicles

Capital
work in

progress Total
Investment

property

2022
Cost 5 – 5 231 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 2 – 2 56 
Net carrying amount as at 1 October 2021 3 – 3 175 
Additions – – – 4 
Disposals – – – (34)
Depreciation – – – (9)
Cost 5 – 5 193 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 2 – 2 57 
Net carrying amount as at 30 September 2022 3 – 3 136 

 
2021
Cost 5 2 7 234 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 2 – 2 48 
Net carrying amount as at 1 October 2020 3 2 5 186 
Additions – 3 3 –
Disposals – – – (7)
Transfer between categories – (5) (5) 5 
Depreciation – – – (9)
Cost 5 – 5 231 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 2 – 2 56 
Net carrying amount as at 30 September 2021 3 – 3 175 

Notes:

1.  The fair value of the Group’s and Company’s investment property at 30 September 2022 has been determined on the basis  
of valuations carried out at 30 September 2022 by Propval Property Valuation Services Proprietary Limited (Propval), independent 
valuers who are not a related party to the Group. Propval is a member of the South African Institute of Valuers and has the 
appropriate qualifications and the relevant experience in the nature and type of investment properties being valued. 

 Investment property of the Company includes properties leased by Reunert limited to other Group entities. The fair value of 
the Group’s investment property is stated after reclassifying Group related properties to owner‑occupied properties as these 
are used by subsidiaries of the Group.

The fair value of the Group’s freehold investment property amounted to R26 million at 30 September 2022 (2021: R31 million).

The fair value of the Company’s freehold investment property amounted to R329 million at 30 September 2022 (2021: R371 million). 

EE ICT AE Other Company

2. Useful lives per category and segment:
Owner‑occupied leasehold buildings 50 years 6 years 5 – 6 years – –
Owner‑occupied freehold buildings 50 years – 10 – 20 years – –
Plant and equipment and vehicles 3 – 20 years 3 – 10 years 3 – 30 years 5 – 20 years 5 – 20 years
Right‑of‑use‑assets1 2 – 5 years 2 – 6 years 2 – 5 years 4 years –
Investment property – 10 years – 20 – 50 years 5 – 50 years
1 The lease term equates with the useful life of the asset.
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9. Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment 
property (continued)

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

3. Rental agreements with customers
Gross carrying amount of assets let 
out under operating leases  32  70  184 212
Accumulated depreciation  (14)  (22)  (57) (56)

 18  48  127 156

Land and buildings: Group and Company
No purchase option exists in the leases to 
third parties. Renewal options are included in 
the leases for periods between one and 
three years and with escalations between 
the consumer price index and 10%.

No subleasing or alterations are allowed 
without Reunert’s prior consent.

Plant and equipment
These leases are largely for mining surveillance 
radars, which the customer may terminate at  
a month’s notice. A purchase option at normal 
margins exists. 

The equipment may only be used within the 
customer’s group.

4. The following amounts are included in the 
statement of profit or loss:
A. Investment properties
Rental revenue 4 4 69 74
Direct operating expenses (1) (5) (20) (24)
B. Plant and equipment
Rental revenue 27 24 – –
Direct operating expenses (8) (4) – –

5. Rental income maturity analysis
Land and buildings:
Maturity analysis 
< 1 year  4  4  51  54 
1 – 5 years  –  –  240 219
> 5 years  –  –  48 159

Plant and equipment:
Maturity analysis 
< 1 year  15  6  –  – 
1 – 5 years  8  3  –  – 
> 5 years  –  –  –  – 
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10. Intangible assets
The Group’s significant intangible assets are held mainly in the AE and ICT Segments.

The Group holds various types of intangible assets including computer software, customer lists, model designs and prototypes, 
capitalised development costs, brand names, copyright and developed intellectual property.

These intangible assets are held across the Group within the various segments and are held as strategic assets with the intention  
to generate future revenue.

Intangible assets recognised by the Group are accounted for in accordance with the requirements of IAS 38 – Intangible Assets 
(IAS 38) and accordingly intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The Group applies the principles of IAS 38 in the determination of whether internally generated intangibles assets are capitalised or not. 
Development costs, are the costs where research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products or processes. These costs are capitalised only if and when it results in an asset that can be identified, it is probable 
that the asset will generate future economic benefits (i.e. the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group 
has sufficient resources to complete the development) and these development costs can be reliably measured.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when 
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria. Where the criteria outlined above have not been met no internally generated 
intangible asset can be recognised and the related development expenditure is recognised in the statements of profit or loss in the 
period in which it is incurred.

The Group considers expenditure solely on research activities such as costs incurred with the prospect of gaining new scientific  
or technical knowledge and understanding, as an expense and does not capitalise such costs. These costs are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination such as customer lists and order books are recognised separately from 
goodwill. These intangible assets are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost, being the acquisition date fair value, less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Work‑in‑progress are assets under construction or development which are not yet available for use. 

These assets are carried at cost and are not amortised but are tested for impairment at each reporting date. Amortisation commences 
once the assets are available for use as intended by management.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from their use.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the intangible asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the amount by which the asset's carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and 
value‑in‑use.

Useful lives of intangible assets
All intangible assets held by the Group have finite useful lives which are amortised on a straight‑line basis, with the exception of 
those held at the Group’s tactical communication business which applies a units of production method to the asset class “models, 
designs and prototypes” as this is more reflective of the consumption pattern of future economic benefits.

Useful lives are reviewed on an annual basis with the effects of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
The residual values of intangible assets are assumed to be zero.

The following judgements and estimates have been used in assessing the useful lives of 
intangible assets
Customer lists
The value and useful lives of customer lists acquired in an acquisition is based on both contractual and non‑contractual customer 
relationships. In its annual review of the carrying amount of these assets, the Group considered various factors including the 
duration and value of ongoing customer contracts, historical customer retention information and the length of time the customer 
has been serviced by the Group. Judgement was applied in estimating the following significant factors in determining the carrying 
amount and useful lives of customer lists:

 > Expected willingness of related customers to remain with the Group
 > Expected action by competitors or potential competitors
 > The impact that technological advances may have on customer relationships
 > Estimated cash flows from customers over a period of time
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10. Intangible assets (continued)
All intangible assets with finite lives are subject to amortisation in accordance with the useful lives below.

EE ICT AE Other

Computer software 3 – 5 years 1 – 5 years 2 – 10 years 10 years
Customer lists and orderbooks  – 3 – 10 years 3 years  – 
Models designs and prototypes  –  – 10 years  – 
Other intangibles 10 years 10 years 3 – 10 years  – 

Group

Rm
Computer 

software

Customer
lists and 

orderbooks

Models
designs and 
prototypes

Other
intangibles1 Total

2022
Cost 173 161 194 239 767 
Accumulated amortisation and impairments 92 41 60 130 323 
Net carrying amount as at 1 October 2021 81 120 134 109 444 
Impact on the statement on cashflows

Acquisition of businesses – 24 – – 24 
Additions – Expansion 12 – 19 34 65 
Additions – Replacement 1 – – – 1 
Amortisation (17) (21) (3) (11) (52)

Transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment 6 – (1) – 5 
Transfer between categories 2 3 (2) (3) –
Exchange rate difference 1 – – 7 8 
Cost 183 183 211 280 857 
Accumulated amortisation and impairments 97 57 64 144 362 
Net carrying amount as at 30 September 2022 86 126 147 136 495 

2021
Cost 175 140 178 233 726 
Accumulated amortisation and impairments 95 38 50 98 281 
Net carrying amount as at 1 October 2020 80 102 128 135 445 
Impact on the statement on cashflows

Acquisition of businesses – 11 – – 11 
Additions – Expansion 12 – 19 24 55 
Additions – Replacement 1 – 1 – 2 

Transfer to property, plant and equipment – – (3) – (3)
Transfer between categories 2 25 (2) (25) –
Amortisation (15) (18) (8) (21) (62)
Exchange rate difference 1 – (1) (4) (4)
Cost 173 161 194 239 767 
Accumulated amortisation and impairments 92 41 60 130 323 
Net carrying amount as at 30 September 2021 81 120 134 109 444 
1 Other intangible assets consists of developed intellectual property for generation of future revenue of R88 million (2021: R60 million), brand 

names R3 million (2021: R6 million), capitalised research and development costs R32 million (2021: R25 million) and purchased intangible  
assets R13 million (2021: R18 million) as a consequence of acquired businesses in prior financial years.
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11. Goodwill
Goodwill arises from a business combination and is measured as the sum of the consideration transferred to the seller, plus the amount 
of any non‑controlling interests recognised through the transaction, and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree, if any, less the net of the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired (including any intangible assets) and 
the fair value of any liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed.

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October  934  924 
Disposal of subsidiary –  (4)
Acquisition of businesses  26  14 
Carrying amount as at 30 September  960  934 

Goodwill impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill is attributable are determined as the higher of their 
fair value (realisable value) less costs to sell or value‑in‑use. Value‑in‑use is determined by discounting expected future cash flows 
covering a discrete five‑year period and then incorporating a terminal value for the CGUs.

Judgements
Management uses projections covering periods up to five years based on the long‑term nature of the Group’s infrastructure and 
operating model. The Group prepared the required cash flow forecasts based on the most recent financial budget and forecasts 
prepared by management. The most recent financial budget is the Group’s 2023 budget which was approved by the Board in 
August 2022 and which is used as a basis for extrapolating the forecast for the subsequent years using appropriate growth rates. 

Estimates and assumptions
Management calculates discount rates using pre‑tax rates that reflect the current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates used were generally consistent with the long‑term average growth rates for each of 
the markets in which the respective CGU operated except for certain CGU’s operating in industries experiencing high demand such as 
ICT and renewable energy, and others that are impacted by secured customer contracts. CGUs have been determined at the lowest 
level of activity which results in cash flows considered largely independent from other activities generating separate cash flows. These 
are at a business unit level, being the level of which Group executive management monitors and evaluates the results of performance 
against pre‑determined targets.
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11. Goodwill (continued)
Goodwill impairment testing (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
The estimate of value‑in‑use was determined by using the following assumptions:

Group

Net carrying amount

Measurement
currency

Discount
rate

(pre-tax)1

2022
%

Discount
rate

(pre‑tax)1

2021
%

Terminal
growth

rate2

2022
%

Terminal
growth

rate2

2021
%

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

Significant CGUs
ICT
Nashua Office Automation  ZAR 22,3 16,9 4,0 4,0  199  199 
Quince Capital  ZAR 22,3 14,3 4,0 4,0  124  124 
ECN  ZAR 18,7 17,4 4,0 4,0  140  140 
SkyWire  ZAR 18,2 16,1 4,0 4,0  170  170 
+OneX  ZAR 21,3 20,6 4,0 4,0  40  14 
AE
Omnigo  ZAR 21,8 20,7 4,0 4,0  40  40 
Terra Firma Solutions  ZAR 18,3 20,2 4,0 4,0  88  88 
Nanoteq  ZAR 21,2 19,9 4,0 4,0  69  69 
Blue Nova Energy  ZAR 21,2 21,1 4,0 4,0  53  53 

 923  897 

Other3  ZAR 18,8 – 23,9 17,9 – 20,4 4,0  4,0  37  37 
Net carrying amount as 
at 30 September  960  934 
Gross goodwill carrying amount  1 102  1 076 
Less: accumulated impairment  (142)  (142)

1 The discount rate used is calculated as the weighted average cost of the different components of capital, being debt and equity (WACC). 
This is consistent with international best practice and covers the different industries in which the Reunert Group operates. The discount 
rate calculated is then converted to the pre-tax discount rate as required by IAS 36 using an appropriate methodology.

2 The terminal growth rate is calculated using the forecast South African consumer price index (CPI) as a basis and thereafter adjusted for 
various risk factors. This is used to extrapolate the cash flow projections beyond the period covered of 5 years.

3 This consists of the aggregate of individual immaterial goodwill balances across all segments above.
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11. Goodwill (continued)
Additions to Goodwill
During the current financial year, goodwill increased by R26 million due to an acquisition of a business in the +OneX group. 
Refer to note 29, Acquisition of business, for more details.

Sensitivities
Sensitivity testing was performed for those entities with smaller headrooms to assess the impact of changes in key assumptions 
on the available headroom. The sensitivity analysis assesses the consequence of a 5% reduction in the forecast revenue on the 
cash flow forecasts, without factoring in any management actions required from the decrease in revenue, and also assesses the 
consequence if the discount rates were increased by 1%.

The results of the sensitivities are outlined below:

Skywire
An impairment of R70 million would be required for Skywire if revenue forecasts were to be reduced by 5%. An impairment 
of R7 million would be required if the discount rate was to be increased by 1%.

Omnigo
An impairment of R16 million would be required for Omnigo if revenue forecasts were to be reduced by 5%. A small impairment 
of R0,5 million would be required if the discount rate was to be increased by 1%.

Nanoteq and Blue Nova Energy were also assessed for the impact of sensitivities with no indications of impairment noted.

2021
Under the economic conditions that had arisen during the COVID‑19 pandemic, revenue growth was a key consideration.

Accordingly, management had undertaken a sensitivity analysis of the consequence of a 5% reduction in forecast revenue 
on the cash flow forecasts without factoring in any management actions required from this level of decline in revenue.

The results of this sensitivity analysis were that additional impairments would be required for Nanoteq (R14 million), African Cables 
(R21 million) and Skywire (R69 million), if revenue forecasts were not met by 5% i.e. 95% achievement. 

If the terminal growth rates had been decreased by 1%, no impairment would have been required. 

If the discount rates had been increased by 1%, an impairment of R1 million would have been required in Nanoteq.

12. Interest in subsidiaries
Group
A subsidiary is an entity over which Reunert has control.

This is demonstrated by Reunert’s exposure to its rights to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and where 
Reunert has the ability to use its power to affect these returns. Reunert reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts 
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. The operating results of 
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date that control commences to the date that control ceases.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to align their accounting policies with the Group’s 
accounting policies. Non‑controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein (refer to note 31).
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12. Interest in subsidiaries (continued)
Company
In the separate financial statements of the Company, subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment. 

In the separate financial statements of the Company, amounts owing by subsidiaries are initially measured at amortised cost 
and subsequently interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in the statements of profit or loss. Refer to note 28 Financial 
instruments for further details.

Company

Rm 2022 2021

Shares at cost  7 652  3 430 
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries  (1 652)  (655)
Balance as at 1 October  (655)  (1 028)
Raised  (1 185) –
Reversed  188  373 
Interest in subsidiaries  6 000  2 775 
Gross amounts owing by subsidiaries1  1 158  5 115 
Impairment of amounts owing by subsidiaries  (4)  (663)
Balance as at 1 October  (663)  (551)
Raised –  (112)
Reversed  659 –
Amounts owing by subsidiaries  1 154  4 452 
Amounts owing to subsidiaries – –

 1 154  4 452 
Total net (impairment)/reversal of impairment in the statements of profit or loss  (338)  261 

1 The loans are not secured, have no fixed terms of repayment and bear no interest.

Impairment in subsidiaries
When circumstances indicate a possible impairment in a subsidiary, the recoverability of the carrying amount relating to that subsidiary 
is assessed by comparing the carrying amount with the recoverable amount of the investment. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of the fair value less cost to sell of the investment or the value‑in‑use which is derived from discounted future cash flows based on 
management’s expectations of future cash flows.

Assumptions are made with regards to discount rates and projected growth rates which are applied to a model using forecast 
periods of up to 5 years (refer to note 11).

In the current year, the net impairment on interest in subsidiaries and amounts owing by subsidiaries arose mainly from Reunert 
Finance Company (R217 million), Julopro (the company holding Reunert treasury shares) (R271 million) and a reversal of impairment 
in Bargenel (R188 million). The impairments are based on the net equity positions of the entities.
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13. Lease and loan receivables
Loan receivables
Loan receivables are loans provided by Quince to non‑owned Nashua Total Workspace Provider franchises and dealers to fund rentals 
between the franchise and the end customer. These are classified as financial assets held at amortised cost.

Lease receivables
The finance lease receivables (before ECL) comprise the present value of rental agreements discounted at the interest rate implicit 
in the agreement. 

Amounts due from lessees under a lease are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the lease. 
The difference between the gross receivables and the present value of the net investment in the lease represents unearned 
finance income.

Interest received from a lease is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s 
net investment outstanding in respect of the lease. The weighted average effective interest rate, taking into account the blend 
of fixed and variable rates charged on the portfolio, is 14,79% (2021: 12,93%).

Judgements applied in the classification of lease receivables
The group as a lessor
These rentals are classified as finance leases between the customer and the Nashua franchise. The judgements that the Group 
considered with respect to the classification of the lease transactions were:

 > Whether the lease terms are for the major part of the economic life of the assets

 > Whether at inception of the leases, the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially all 
of the fair value of the assets

Judgement applied in the classification of franchise lease receivable cash 
flow between operating and financing activities
The Group applies judgement in determining the classification of cash received from lease receivables. The Group controlled 
franchises recognise revenue on these lease contracts and subsequently collects the related cash flows from the lease receivables. 
This is considered in nature to be cash flows arising from the ordinary day to day business activities of the franchise and 
consequently these cash flows are classified in operating activities.

Lease modifications
IFRS 16 – Leases (IFRS 16) requires a lessor, like a lessee, to account for a modification to a lease as a separate lease if the 
modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right for the lessee to use one or more underlying assets and the 
consideration receivable for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand‑alone price for the increase in scope.

The applicability of the lease modifications within the Group arises mainly in the ICT Segment where electronic equipment is leased 
to customers. For modifications to a lease that are not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group reassesses the lease 
classification as if the modified terms were in effect at inception.

If the lease would have been classified as an operating lease had the modified terms been in effect at the inception date, the Group 
accounts for the lease modification as the termination of the original lease and the creation of a new lease effective on the date of 
the modification and measures the carrying amount of the underlying asset as the net investment in the original lease immediately 
before the effective date of the lease modification. 

If the contract meets the definition of a lease, the Group subsequently measures the lease under the requirements of IFRS 9. The 
Group determines whether the modification is substantial i.e. whether the cash flows of the original financial asset and the 
modified or replacement financial asset are to a large extent different.

A substantial modification results in derecognition of the original financial asset and the modified asset is recognised as a new 
asset, resulting in a gain or loss on modification. If the modification is not substantial, the original financial asset is remeasured 
and a modification gain or loss is recognised.
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13. Lease and loan receivables (continued)
Judgement applied in the classification of franchise lease receivable cash 
flow between operating and financing activities (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)

Group

Rm

Collectible
within

one year – 
current

Collectible
 between 

1 – 2 years

Collectible
between 

2 – 3 years

Collectible
between 

3 – 4 years

Collectible
between 

4 – 5 years

Collectible
after 

5 years

Total lease
and loan

receivables

2022
Gross lease receivables  317  223  137  74  29 –  780 
Unearned finance income  (73)  (32)  (33)  (12)  (5) –  (155)
Net lease receivables 
before ECL  244  191  104  62  24 –  625 
ECL  (8)  (6)  (3) (1) (1) –  (19)
Net lease receivables  236  185  101  61  23 –  606 
Loan receivables  477  471  391  271  108  29  1 747 
ECL  (21)  (25)  (18)  (12)  (6) –  (82)
Net loan receivables  456  446  373  259  102  29  1 665 
Net lease and loan 
receivables  692  631  474  320  125  29  2 271 

2021
Gross lease receivables  353  238  153  76  27 –  847 
Unearned finance income  (71)  (40)  (20)  (7)  (2) –  (140)
Net lease receivables  
before ECL  282  198  133  69  25 –  707 
ECL  (9)  (6)  (5)  (3) (1) –  (24)
Net lease receivables  273  192  128  66  24 –  683 
Loan receivables  520  533  429  304  135 –  1 921 
ECL  (120)  (3)  (2)  (2) (1) –  (128)
Net loan receivables  400  530  427  302  134 –  1 793 
Net lease and loan receivables  673  722  555  368  158 –  2 476 

The carrying amount of the lease and loan receivables approximate fair value because the rates inherent in the agreements are 
market‑related and are the same rates used to discount the total amount owing under the agreements back to their carrying amounts.
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13. Lease and loan receivables (continued)
Analysis of movement in loan receivables before ECL
The below analysis has been performed on loan receivables as the cash flow movements have been included under investing 
activities in the statements of cash flows.

Group

2022
Loan 

receivables

2021
Loan 

receivables

Balance as at 1 October  1 921  1 865 
Impact on statement of cash flows
– Cash received from loan receivables  (766)  (966)
– Cash invested in loan receivables  793  893 
–  Cash received from sale of loan receivables  (162)  –
– Disposal of subsidiary  –  72 
Transfer between categories  –  86 
Utilisation of ECL  (39)  (29)
Balance as at 30 September  1 747  1 921 

Assessment of ECL 
Analysis of movement in the ECL

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October  (152)  (210)
Movement in the ECL
Released during the year through the statements of profit or loss  11  29 
Utilised  40  29 
Carrying amount as at 30 September  (101)  (152)

Credit risk management
Risk is managed through ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of the underlying customers. The granting of credit is 
controlled through appropriate credit vetting procedures on the credit application which are updated and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Concentrations of credit risk consist principally of loans to franchises and rental receivables. Credit concentration risk with respect 
to these is reduced due to the large number of customers underpinning these lease and loan receivables.

These customers are spread across various industry types and different geographical areas, the majority of which are in South Africa. 
The Group’s fundamental principles to manage credit risk include:

 > Adherence to the Group’s lending philosophy 

 > A clear definition of the Group’s target market 

 > A qualitative and quantitative assessment of the creditworthiness of the Group’s counter‑parties and security offered 

 > Appropriate credit granting criteria

 > An analysis of related risks, including those associated with concentration 

 > Proactive and regular monitoring of existing and potential exposures once the facilities have been approved 

 > Active management of defaulting borrowers, with a primary focus on rehabilitation, complemented by efficient realisation of collateral 
in the event of continuing default, such that collateral value is protected and potential loss minimised 

 > Legal transfer of the underlying rental agreement with the end‑customers and legal ownership of the related assets is transferred 
from the franchise to Quince

 > Appropriate recourse mechanisms where either 50% or 100% of any customer default can be recovered from the associated 
franchises or dealers
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13. Lease and loan receivables (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)
The Group applies the IFRS 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) required in respect of lease and loan 
receivables.

This is first calculated by applying a historical loss ratio to the balance at each reporting date. The loss ratio for the lease and loan 
receivables is calculated according to the ageing/payment profile, as at the reporting date, by applying historic write‑offs to the payment 
profile of the population as at that date.

The historic loss ratio is then adjusted for forward‑looking information to determine the ECL at the reporting date to the extent that 
there is a strong correlation between the forward‑looking information and the ECL.

Assumptions used in the assessment of ECL
The loss given default (LGD) rate used was obtained from the quoted recovery rate of the World Bank for South African debt of 
36,8%. This remains the best independent and credible information available to estimate the expected LGD and results in an LGD 
of 63,2%.

In addition to the above, the following assumptions were used in estimating the ECL related to the general approach:

Group

2022 2021

Probability of default (PD) 3,6% 5,6%
Loss given default (LGD) 63,2% 63,0%
Exposure at default (EAD) – Amounts receivable at 30 September 30 September

Judgements and estimates used in the assessment of ECL
Impact of COVID-19
Economic activity has started to recover subsequent to the outbreak of the COVID‑19 pandemic. The credit environment 
has correspondingly improved.

The ECL is based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. Judgement is required in making these 
assumptions based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as forward‑looking estimates at the end 
of each reporting period.
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13. Lease and loan receivables (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)
Judgements and estimates used in the assessment of ECL (continued)
Management previously applied both Moody's Global PD and their experience as to which industry segments of the book were 
experiencing, or likely to experience, credit stress. In the current year, management, instead of simply applying the Moody’s Global 
PD, has used forward‑looking information derived from a detailed assessment of the book undertaken in conjunction with a South 
African credit bureau, Experian. This included sectoral trends identified within the book database which provided the basis for 
applying forward‑looking risk from a sectoral basis. The exercise determined the industry classification of each rental customer 
and which industries were considered to be likely to experience future adverse credit risk. This enhanced approach to determining 
the PD was adopted in the current year as the Group now has three years of actual data and experience of the impact of COVID‑19 
on the credit risk in its rental base. 

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as  
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers quantitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward‑looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In assessing 
the stage categorisation, customers within specific industries which are likely to experience credit risk were categorised as stage 2 
along with receivables that are 30 days overdue and receivables that are 90 days overdue are classified as stage 3.

Categorisation of stages
The following is a categorisation of the different stages in accordance with IFRS 9:

Expected credit losses

Rm

Carrying
amount 

before 
ECL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Net 
carrying 
amount 

after ECL

September 2022 2 372 (20) (24) (57) 2 271 
Lease receivables 625 (6) (6) (7) 606 
Loan receivables 1 747 (14) (18) (50) 1 665 

September 2021 2 628 (41) (13) (98) 2 476 
Lease receivables 707 (9) (6) (9) 683 
Loan receivables 1 921 (32) (7) (89) 1 793 
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14. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables comprise amounts due from customers across all three segments of the Group. The Group recognises expected 
credit losses (ECL) on these receivables as set out below.

Refer to note 28, financial instruments, for accounting policies relating to financial assets.

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 2 255 1 848 2 1 
Contract assets1 214 122 – –
Prepayments and other receivables 370 294 – 27 
ECL2 (165) (167) – –
Net trade and other receivables3 2 674 2 097 2 28 

1 Contract assets are derived mainly from the AE Segment comprising of the Group's Renewables and Defence entities. Refer to Note 1 Revenue for 
further details. 

2  The ECL for trade receivables amounts to R152 million (2021: R161 million) and contract assets R13 million (2021: R6 million). The ECL for other 
receivables is not significant. 

3  Refer to Note 28 Financial Instruments for an analysis of financial and non-financial assets included in trade and other receivables. 

Contract assets under IFRS 15
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October 122 126 – –
Raised 188 98 – –
Recognised as trade receivables (96) (102) – –
Carrying amount before ECL 214 122 – –
ECL (13) (6) – –
Net carrying amount as at 30 September 201 116 – –

The Group expects to invoice customers the balance of the contract assets in the 2023 financial year.

The movement in the ECL for the reporting period is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to the statement of profit or loss in the year recovered.

Measurement of ECL
The Group has consistently applied the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss model for 
all trade receivables. The ECL is based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. 

The Group has a diversified customer base and policies are in place to ensure sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
and payment history. A large portion of the Group’s revenues are generated in South Africa, with material sales to the rest of Africa, 
America, Australia, Asia and Europe. There are no other significant geographical concentrations of credit risk outside of South Africa. 
Management of the Group’s business units regularly review the receivables age analysis and follows up on overdue receivables.

ECLs are calculated by using a provision matrix and applying a loss ratio to an age analysis of trade receivables and contracts. These 
have been aggregated into groupings that represent, to a large degree, how the Group manages its receivables and contract assets, major 
risk type and similarities in risk and this illustrates the spread of credit risk at each reporting date. The loss ratio is calculated according to 
the ageing/payment profile of sales by applying historic write‑offs to the payment profile of the sales population. Similarly, the sales 
population selected to determine the ageing/payment profile of the sales is representative of the entire population and in line with 
future payment expectations.
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14. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
The historic loss ratio is then adjusted for forward‑looking information which includes inflation, country GDP and interest rate. The 
historic write offs are then assessed for a strong correlation against these economic factors to ascertain if an adjustment is required 
for these forward‑looking expectations. Management typically considers trade receivables aged in excess of 90 days past due (where 
the excessive ageing is not caused by administrative delays that are within the control of the Group), and those handed over to the 
Group’s attorneys for legal collection processes, to be in default and accordingly increase the allowance for ECL raised on these 
receivables. Subsequent payments are included in the assessment over an adequate period which reduces the loss ratio when 
applying the model. ECLs are discounted at the original effective interest rate. The ECL applied to trade receivables is set out below.

Analysis of trade receivables
Group

Rm Gross ECL Net

Average 
ECL ratio 

%

2022
Insured trade receivables covered by trade credit 
insurance  571  (3)  568  1 
Individuals/contractors and small businesses 
(SMMEs)  411  (46)  365  11 
Mines/large businesses  896  (60)  836  7 
State owned entities/government  281  (28)  253  10 
Municipalities  71  (15)  56  21 
Financial institutions  25 –  25 –
Total  2 255  (152)  2 103  7 

2021
Insured trade receivables covered by trade credit 
insurance  467  (3)  464  1 
Individuals/contractors and small businesses 
(SMMEs)  287  (47)  240  16 
Mines/large businesses  843  (58)  785  7 
State owned entities/government  182  (30)  152  16 
Municipalities  63  (23)  40  37 
Financial institutions  6  –  6  – 
Total  1 848  (161)  1 687  9 

There was no ECL related to trade and other receivables raised in the Company. ECL related to amounts owing by subsidiaries 
has been disclosed in note 12 Interest in subsidiaries.

Changes in ECL
The gross trade receivables book increased however the corresponding ECL declined. The lack of correlation between the two 
is mainly due to the waning impact of COVID‑19 as the economy recovers therefrom.

Credit quality of trade receivables
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. This is assessed individually by each operation 
and includes, for example, where the trade receivables have been handed over for legal collection.
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14. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Analysis of movement in the ECL

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October  (167)  (192)  –  – 
Released/(raised) during the year through the 
statement of profit or loss  7  (10)  –  – 
Utilised  6  39  –  – 
Disposal of subsidiary –  2  –  – 
Exchange rate difference  (11)  (6)  –  – 
Carrying amount as at 30 September  (165)  (167)  –  – 

Ageing of past due1 but not impaired receivables classified into major risk types
Group

Rm 

Insured trade
receivables
covered by

trade credit
insurance SMMEs

Mines/large
businesses

State owned
entities/

government Municipalities Total

2022
1 – 30 days  43  24  33  20  1  121 
31 – 60 days  7  5  8  5  2  27 
61 – 90 days  3  –  12  2  1  18 
90+ days  8  40  94  69  39  250 
Total  61  69  147  96  43  416 

2021
1 – 30 days  27  15  49  5  3  99 
31 – 60 days  3  8  30  6  1  48 
61 – 90 days  –  3  7  1  1  12 
90+ days  5  21  8  47  3  84 
Total  35  47  94  59  8  243 
1 This indicates the period after normal credit terms.

Company
Reunert Company’s receivables which are past due but not impaired are immaterial and have not been separately disclosed.
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15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which  
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for incurred tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. 
Deferred tax is recognised in the statements of profit or loss, except it relates to items credited or charged to other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity.

Movement in deferred tax
Group Company

Rm Note 2022 2021 2022 2021

Net (liability)/asset as at 1 October (13) 83 (7) 3 
Current year charge 5 (37) (37) (10) (10)
Deferred tax directly in equity 1 2 
Prior years adjustments 5 4 (54) – –
Subsidiaries acquired (7) (3)
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiary 30 – (1)
Tax rate change 5 2 – 1 
Exchange rate differences 1 (3)
Net liability as at 30 September (49) (13) (16) (7)
Represented by:
Deferred tax assets 151 145 – –
Deferred tax liabilities (200) (158) (16) (7)

(49) (13) (16) (7)

Judgement is applied in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognised. Deferred tax assets are recognised only if there 
is convincing evidence that there will be sufficient taxable profits in future years to recover the assets. The Group has concluded 
that the deferred assets recognised will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on the approved business 
plans and budgets of the various entities.

The unused tax losses include amounts of R3 million and R49 million which relate to carried forward tax losses of Algoa Offica 
Automation (Pty) Ltd and Nanoteq (Pty) Ltd respectively. These entities have incurred taxable losses over the last two financial 
years. The Group has concluded that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based 
on the approved business plans and budgets for these entities. These entities are expected to generate taxable income from 2023 
onwards. These losses can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date.

Analysis of deferred tax
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Capital allowances (250) (249) (9) (9)
Provisions, impairments and accruals 152 167 (7) 2 
Advance income offset by allowed future expenditure (19) (8) – –
Unused tax losses 86 101 – –
Share‑based payments 17 17 – –
Translation losses on investment in foreign subsidiary
in other comprehensive income (21) (21) – –
Unrealised forex gains (14) (20) – –
Net liability as at 30 September (49) (13) (16) (7)
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16. Inventory
Inventory comprises raw materials (including component parts used in the process of manufacture), finished goods (completed 
products including energy and telecommunications cables, low voltage products, office automation, radars, fuzes and communication 
systems) and work in progress (cost of raw materials, components, goods and other overheads consumed in the manufacturing 
process to produce finished goods). Merchandise comprises inventory purchased from suppliers in its finished state, which is re‑sold 
by the Group as part of its product and service offerings.

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the following bases:

 > First‑in, first‑out (predominantly in the EE Segment)

 > Weighted average (predominantly in the AE Segment)

 > Standard cost (in the ICT, EE and AE Segments)

Standard costs are assessed on an ongoing basis and updated when required to approximate actual cost. Cost includes direct 
material costs together with appropriate allocations of labour and overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Obsolete, redundant and slow‑moving inventory is identified on a regular basis and is impaired to its estimated net realisable value. 
Consumables are written down with regard to their age, condition and utility. 

Work in progress is valued at the lower of actual cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, labour, expenses 
and a proportion of overhead expenditure.

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Raw materials, components and consumables 722 533 
Finished goods 555 565 
Merchandise 154 130 
Work in progress 802 665 
Carrying amount before allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventory 2 233 1 893 
Allowance for slow‑moving and obsolete inventory (154) (150)
Net carrying amount at 30 September 2 079 1 743 

17. Net cash and cash equivalents
The Group considers the following in its composition of cash and cash equivalents: cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities.

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents1 957 1 068 3 5 

Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities (598) (777) – –
Bank overdrafts1,2 (67) (137) – –
Other short‑term facilities² (531) (640) – –

Net cash and cash equivalents per statements  
of cashflows 359 291 3 5 

1 Included in net cash and cash equivalents are foreign denominated bank balances. These amounts are reflected in the table above in rand, being 
the foreign denominated amount converted at the year end exchange rates.

2 These amounts include overdraft and overnight call facilities with major financial institutions. These amounts form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management and are considered to form part of net cash and cash equivalents.

At 30 September 2022 the Group had applied R1 877 million (2021: R1 844 million) to its lease and loan receivables book, which 
does not form part of bank balances and cash.
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17. Net cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Foreign denominated balances included in cash and 
cash equivalents in rand
US Dollars  95 124  –  – 
Euros  60 26  –  – 
Other 5 18  –  – 
Total 160 168  –  – 
Foreign denominated balances included in bank 
overdrafts in rand
US Dollars (54) (133)  –  – 

18. Share capital
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received net of any direct issue costs. Equity is not 
subsequently remeasured.

Empowerment transactions
Empowerment shares are equity instruments of the Company that are held by Bargenel, an empowerment partner consolidated 
by the Group. Empowerment transactions involving the disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries or the issuance of equity 
instruments are recognised in the Company when the accounting recognition criteria have been met. As required under 
IFRS 2 – Shared‑based Payments (IFRS 2), should shares be issued to the empowerment partner, the cost of these shares 
will be charged to profit and loss.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are equity instruments of the Company that are held by a subsidiary of the Company.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised as a deduction from equity. No gain or loss is recognised 
in the statements of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Authorised share capital
235 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2021: 235 000 000).

Issued share capital
Number of shares 2022 2021

Ordinary shares of no par value
As at 1 October  184 969 196  184 969 196 
As at 30 September  184 969 196  184 969 196 
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18. Share capital (continued)
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

As at 1 October 389  389 389 389 
As at 30 September 389  389 389 389 
Empowerment shares1

Reunert shares held by Bargenel: 24 049 076 
(2021: 18 500 000) (554)  (276)
Treasury shares2

Reunert shares held by a subsidiary: 1 483 748 
(2021: 7 032 824) (169)  (447)
Share-based payment reserves
As a result of IFRS 2 Share-based payments
As at 1 October 219  217 – –
In terms of the CSP 17  18 – –
Shares acquired for the CSP (6) 7 – –
Expenses arising from share‑based payment 
transactions (3) (11)
Transfer to retained earnings (11)  (12) – –
As at 30 September 216  219 – –

1  This is the cost of Reunert Limited shares held by Bargenel, the Group’s primary empowerment structure. The underlying structure is considered 
to be controlled by Reunert Limited for accounting purposes and is thus consolidated.

2  Ordinary Reunert shares bought back in the open market and held by a subsidiary: 1 483 748 shares (2021: 7 032 824 shares). No shares were 
bought back during the current financial year. (In 2022, 5 549 076 shares were transferred to the Group’s empowerment partner, Bargenel, in 
order to establish the employee share ownership plan as approved by the shareholders at the February 2022 AGM). During the 2021 financial 
year 2 035 126 shares were bought back.

Conditional Share Plan
The Group issues equity‑settled options to certain employees. Equity‑settled, share‑based payments are measured at fair 
value at the grant date.

Options for Reunert ordinary shares at a strike price of Rnil are granted to executives in terms of the CSP introduced in 2012.

Two broad schemes exist: a performance scheme, granted only to selected senior Group and business unit executives and 
a retention scheme, granted to selected senior Group and business unit executives and specialist (key) employees. Senior 
executives were granted retention options for the first time in November 2014.

The measurement criteria for the options issued under the performance scheme granted until November 2018 are an 
equal combination of real growth in NHEPS and TSR. These performance units vest four years from their date of issue.

The measurement criteria for the performance scheme granted from November 2019 are a combination of real growth in 
NHEPS (50% weighting), TSR (25% weighting) and ROCE (25% weighting). These performance units vest after four years 
from the date of issue.

No performance conditions are attached to the retention options. 50% of the retention options issued from November 2013 
vest after four years from the date of issue and the remaining 50% after five years with the sole condition being the recipient 
must remain within the employ of the Reunert Group.
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18. Share capital (continued)
Conditional Share Plan (continued)
The fair value of retention shares granted to employees is measured by use of a log‑normal method and the fair value of the 
performance shares granted to senior executives is valued using a bespoke Monte Carlo simulation model. Both valuations 
being undertaken by an external valuation expert.

Judgement is required in assessing the factors that impact the annual share‑based payments expense to be charged to statement 
of profit or loss. 

This judgement is exercised by determining the probability of units vesting in terms of the executive conditional share option 
schemes in as far as the attainment of the normalised headline earnings per share (NHEPS) and return on capital employed (ROCE) 
targets are concerned. The judgements include assessing the expected forecasted share price, dividend yield, risk‑free interest rate, 
consumer price index (CPI) and the performance of the companies used in the index for the measurement of TSR. Volatility was 
estimated using the daily closing share price and the dividend yield was estimated by using the average dividend yield over the year 
prior to the valuation date. For on‑market conditions (total shareholder return (TSR)), the number of units expected to vest is 
assessed at inception of the arrangement, as is the initial unit valuation in order to determine the expected annual cost of the units 
granted over their vesting period. The probability of vesting of units linked to non‑market conditions (NHEPS and ROCE growth) are 
reassessed annually, NHEPS by an independent valuation expert and ROCE is determined by management using the latest budget 
approved by the Board and a long term forecast prepared by management, in order to determine the number of units still expected 
to vest. The number so determined is applied to the initial unit valuation in order to remeasure the cost to be charged to profit or loss 
over the vesting period.

Fair value 
per unit on 

inception
R

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the 

beginning 
of the year
Thousands

Units 
granted 

during 
the year

Thousands

Units vested 
during the 

year1

Thousands

Units 
expired/
forfeited 

during 
the year

Thousands

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the end 
of the year 
Thousands

2022
Issued on 21 November 2016
Key – retention 49,57  38 – (38)  –  – 
Issued on 20 November 2017
Key – retention 47,21  95 – (49) (4) 42 
Executive – performance 44,10  862 – (43) (819)  – 
Issued on 19 November 2018
Key – retention 59,25  87 –  – (10) 77 
Executive – performance 50,46  803 –  – (28) 775 
Issued on 10 February 2020
Key – retention 31,05  76 –  – (7) 69 
Executive – performance 28,18  986 –  – (65) 921 
Issued on 30 September 2020
Key – retention 18,56  80 –  – (8) 72 
Executive – performance 18,04  2 040 –  – (69) 1 971 
Issued on 22 November 2021
Key – retention 30,65 – 93  – (5) 88 
Executive – performance 27,75 – 1 367  – (28) 1 339 
Total 5 067 1 460 (130) (1 043) 5 354 

1  During the financial year ended 30 September 2022 the 2017 executive performance and 50% of the retention scheme reached their vesting date, 
the executive performance scheme was assessed against the performance criteria resulting in 5% of the shares vesting. The weighted share price 
at the exercise date was R50,99.
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18. Share capital (continued)
Conditional Share Plan (continued)

Fair value 
per unit on 

inception
R

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the 

beginning 
of the year
Thousands

Units 
granted 

during 
the year

Thousands

Units vested 
during the 

year
Thousands

Units 
expired/
forfeited 

during 
the year

Thousands

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the end 
of the year 
Thousands

2021
Issued on 20 November 2015
Key – retention 55,38  31  – (31)  –  – 
Issued on 21 November 2016
Key – retention 49,57  83  – (42) (3) 38 
Executive – performance 37,00  856  – (128) (728)  – 
Executive – retention 49,57  90  – (90)  –  – 
Issued on 20 November 2017
Key – retention 47,21  101  –  – (6) 95 
Executive – performance 44,10  909  –  – (47) 862 
Issued on 19 November 2018
Key – retention 59,25  98  –  – (11) 87 
Executive – performance 50,46  831  –  – (28) 803 
Issued on 10 February 2020
Key – retention 31,05  86  –  – (10) 76 
Executive – performance 28,18  1 005  14  – (33) 986 
Issued on 30 September 2020
Key – retention 18,56  86  –  – (6) 80 
Executive – performance 18,04  2 061  –  – (21) 2 040 
Total 6 237 14 (291) (893) 5 067 

The valuations were performed by Lydia Greef (M.Sc. in Mathematics of Finance) of Financial Modelling Agency.
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18. Share capital (continued)
Conditional Share Plan (continued)
The inputs into the models were as follows:

Share price 
at issue 

R

Expected 
volatility 

%

Expected 
option life 

Years

Expected 
dividend 

yield 
% Risk free interest rate %

2017
Retention 65,46 22,96 4/5 7,28 The risk free rate for the key and 

executive options varies from 7,22% 
(year 1) to 8,04% (year 5)

2018
Retention 76,58 23,93 4/5 5,79 The risk free rate for the key and 

executive options varies from 7,19% 
(year 1) to 7,90% (year 5)

Performance 76,58 23,93 4 5,79 and is based on the ZAR zero coupon 
swap curve produced by BESA on 
19 November 2018

February 2020
Retention 58,95 24,52 4/5  7,40 The risk free rate for the key and 

executive options varies from 6,372% 
(year 1) to 6,639% (year 5)

Performance 58,95 24,52 4  7,40 and is based on a yield curve 
bootstrapped from JIBAR, FRA and 
swap rates obtained from Bloomberg 
on 10 February 2020

September 2020
Retention 28,63 30,85 4/5 9,54 The risk free rate for the key and 

executive options varies from 3,300% 
(year 1) to 5,046% (year 5)

Performance 28,63 30,85 4 9,54 and is based on a yield curve 
bootstrapped from JIBAR, FRA and 
swap rates obtained from Bloomberg 
on 30 September 2020

2021
Retention 51,46 34,65 4/5 6,40 The risk free rate for the key and 

executive options varies from 4,161% 
(year 1) to 6,292% (year 5)

Performance 51,46 34,65 4 6,40 and is based on a yield curve 
bootstrapped from JIBAR as 
published at SAF, and the FRA and 
swap rates obtained from Bloomberg 
on 22 November 2021

The volatility of the return on the Company shares was estimated as the annualised standard deviation of daily log returns 
of the share price over the four years prior to the valuation date. No forfeitures were used in the models.
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19. Long-term loans and lease liabilities
Long-term loans
Long‑term loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a monetary 
threshold of R100 000 or less per lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted by using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate; and any initial direct costs incurred.

Lease payments are allocated using the incremental borrowing rate in the lease to determine the lease finance cost, which is 
charged to the statement of profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease, and the capital payment, which reduces the liability 
to the lessor. The weighted average borrowing rate in the current year was 9,5% (2021: 10%).

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Long-term loans
Unsecured – at amortised cost
Total loans 78 83 
Less: current portion (7) (39)
Unsecured long‑term loans 71 44 
Maturity analysis of unsecured loans
< 1 year 7 39 
1 – 5 years 21 13 
> 5 years 50 31 
R3 million (2021: R37 million) of the balance within <1 year is non‑interest bearing, 
the balance of the loans bear interest at rates ranging between 8% and 12% 
(2021: 7% to 8%).
Lease liabilities
Secured – at amortised cost
Total lease liabilities 166 185 
Less: current portion (89) (85)
Secured non‑current lease liabilities 77 100 
Amounts payable under leases
Gross minimum lease payments 253 259 
< 1 year 115 110 
1 – 5 years 134 146 
> 5 years 4 3 
Less: future finance costs (87) (74)
< 1 year (27) (25)
1 – 5 years (59) (48)
> 5 years (1) (1)
Net minimum lease payments 166 185 
< 1 year 88 85 
1 – 5 years 75 98 
> 5 years 3 2 

The Group’s obligations under the lease liabilities are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The carrying amount 
of the assets under these lease agreements are R130 million (2021: R146 million).

During the current financial year lease expenses related to low value assets and short‑term leases amounted to R29 million 
(2021: R33 million).
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19. Long-term loans and lease liabilities (continued)
Analysis of liabilities

Group

Rm
2022

Lease liabilities
2021

Lease liabilities
2022

Long-term loans
2021

Long‑term loans

Balance at 1 October 185 218 83 16 
Impact on the statement of cash flows

Raised – – 31 47 
Settlements (99) (92) (3) (9)
Interest expense 15 19 – 1 

Lease liabilities raised 65 50 – –
Remeasurement of lease liability – (7)
Transfer – – (33) 29 
Termination of lease liability – (3)
Disposal of subsidiary – – – (1)
Balance at 30 September 166 185 78 83 
Less: current portion (89) (85) (7) (39)
Non-current portion 77 100 71 44 

The Company has no long‑term loans or lease liabilities in the current or prior financial years.

20. Share-based payment liability
Group

Rm 2022 2021

Share‑based payment liability – non‑current  7 –

In April 2022, the Group implemented its broad based black economic empowerment (BBBEE) transaction through Rebatona 
Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd. The implementation was undertaken in accordance with the shareholder approvals received at the 
February 2022 annual general meeting. 

The accounting consequences of the implementation of the transaction were as follows:

 > The R9,6 million paid to the Peotona shareholders to re‑acquire their shares in the predecessor structure was in part charged to 
the statements of profit or loss (R6,3million) and in part (R3,3 million) to equity.

 > The six‑month pro‑rata share of the annual service charge amounting to R7 million in respect of qualifying employees’ 
participation in the employee share ownership plan (ESOP) was charged to profit or loss. This charge was calculated in terms of 
IFRS 2. As any benefit arising from the ESOP in future will be settled in cash, the liability for this settlement, which is being raised 
over the expected vesting period of 5 years, will be “trued‑up” at each reporting date to the proportionate present value of the 
expected future commitment to employees.

 > The Group’s statement of cash flows reflect the 10% of the Reunert dividend earned from the Reunert shares held in the 
empowerment structure payable to ESOP participants. The residual 90% services the ESOP’s interest obligation on the funding 
mechanism which is eliminated as part of the Group’s consolidation.

Judgement is required in assessing the factors that impact the share‑based payment expense to be charged to the statements 
of profit or loss.

The judgement and the related estimates below are exercised in the calculation of the charge for the year:

 > the probability of units vesting;

 > the expected attrition rate of employees; 

 > the expected share price at the date of vesting;

 > the expected dividend yield over the vesting period;

 > the risk‑free interest rate; and

 > expected share price volatility. 
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20. Share-based payment liability (continued)
Share price volatility was estimated using the daily closing share price and the expected dividend yield was estimated by using the 
average dividend yield, over the year prior to the valuation date.

The fair value of ESOP shares granted to employees was then measured by use of a Monte‑Carlo valuation technique which 
incorporates the variables outlined above. This valuation is undertaken by the Group’s external valuation expert Lydia Greef (MSC in 
mathematics of finance) of the Financial Modeling Agency.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price 
at issue 

R

Expected 
volatility 

%

Expected 
option life 

Years

Expected 
dividend 

yield 
%

Risk free 
interest rate 

%

2022 50,13  38,13 5  7,07  9,43 

Summary of units per the ESOP share scheme:

Fair value 
per unit on 

inception
R

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the 

beginning 
of the year
Thousands

Units 
granted 

during 
the year

Thousands

Units vested 
during the 

year
Thousands

Units 
expired/
forfeited 

during 
the year

Thousands

Number 
of units 

unvested 
at the end 
of the year 
Thousands

2022
Issued 1 April 2022 50,13 –  8 323 –  (278)  8 045 



72

R E U N E RT  L I M I T E D

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

21. Provisions
A provision is raised when a reliable estimate can be made of a present legal or constructive obligation, resulting from a past event, 
which will probably result in an outflow of economic benefits and there is no realistic alternative to settling the obligation created by 
the event, which occurred before the reporting period date.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using estimated cash flows required to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Rm

Carrying 
amount as at 

1 October 
2021

Provisions 
created Utilised Released 

Carrying 
amount

 as at 
30 September

 2022

Description of nature of obligation
Group
Warranties1  53  16  (5)  (22)  42 
Contract‑related2  28  18  (14)  (12)  20 
Total  81  34  (19)  (34)  62 
Company
Warranties1  29  –  –  (29)  – 
Total  29  –  –  (29)  – 

1  The provision for warranties represents management’s best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required under the 
Group’s/Company’s obligations in respect of product warranties. The estimates have been made on the basis of historical warranty trends adjusted 
for probable risk factors, and may vary as a result of new materials, altered manufacturing processes or other events affecting product quality. 

2  The provision represents management’s best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required to settle claims. 
The provision has been estimated using all known facts and circumstances and the probability of likely outcome.

22.  Trade and other payables, contingent consideration and 
contract liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables consist of amounts due to a large number of suppliers spread across diverse industries.

Trade and other payables classified as financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost except for contingent considerations 
which are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Contract liabilities are not classified as financial liabilities.

Refer to note 28, Financial instruments, for the accounting policy relating to financial liabilities.

Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Trade payables  1 631  1 245 – –
VAT, payroll and accruals  561  513  25  20 
Contingent consideration  17  18 – –
Trade and other payables as at 30 September  2 209  1 776  25  20 

The carrying amount of trade payables approximate fair value because of the short‑term maturity of these liabilities.
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22.  Trade and other payables, contingent consideration and 
contract liabilities (continued)
Contingent consideration

Group

Rm 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October  28  24 
Raised on acquisition at fair value  28  18 
Raised on acquisition of NCI1 –  6 
Fair value remeasurement 2, 3  (3)  (13)
Settlement  (11)  (7)
Carrying amount as at 30 September  42  28 
Less: current portion  17  18 
Non‑current portion  25  10 

1  This relates to a contingent consideration that arose in the prior financial year on the acquisition of the non-controlling interest in 
Kopano Solutions Company (Pty) Ltd.

2  Remeasurement gain of R3 million for Dopptech (Pty) Ltd in the current financial year arising from the related targets not being achieved.
3  Includes a remeasurement gain of R11 million for Blue Nova Energy (Pty) Ltd in the 2021 financial year arising from the related targets 

not being achieved.

These were classified as level 3 instruments in the fair value hierarchy.

Contingent considerations still in effect
Dopptech
The contingent consideration is stipulated within the purchase agreement and is based on the achievement of certain specific 
key performance indicators (KPIs).

In the current financial year R3 million was released as a remeasurement gain due to related targets not being achieved.
(2021: R5 million of the contingent consideration was assessed resulting in a cash settlement of R2 million and R3 million 
being released as a remeasurement gain). 

The fair value of the contingent consideration as at 30 September 2022 amounts to R4 million.

Plus 1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd (+OneX)
The contingent consideration for the acquisition made in the current financial year was recognised at a fair value of R28 million, 
which will be settled in five annual tranches based on the achievement of pre‑defined future profit targets.

The contingent consideration was calculated using the discounted cash flow method. The following unobservable inputs were used 
to calculate the contingent consideration: 

 > Revenue growth average of 20% 

The fair value of the contingent consideration as at 30 September 2022 amounts to R28 million.

Sensitivities
The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to change in revenue targets achieved 
and the subsequent impact on the contingent liability payable at the statement of financial position date.

If the revenue growth rate had been 1% lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would decrease by R1 million.

If the revenue growth rate had been 1% higher and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would increase by R1 million.
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22.  Trade and other payables, contingent consideration and 
contract liabilities (continued)
Contingent considerations still in effect (continued)
Plus 1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd (+OneX) (continued)
The two contingent considerations recognised in the prior year will be settled in two and three annual tranches respectively based 
on the achievement of pre‑defined future profit targets.

The contingent considerations were calculated using the discounted cash flow method. The following unobservable inputs 
were used in the current year to calculate the contingent consideration: 

 > Revenue growth average of 9% (2021: 7%)

The aggregated fair value of the contingent consideration as at 30 September 2022 amounts to R10 million (2021: R18 million).

R8 million was settled in the current year.

Sensitivities
The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to change in revenue targets achieved 
and the subsequent impact on the contingent liability payable at the statement of financial position date.

If the revenue growth rate had been 1% lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would decrease by Rnil (2021: Rnil).

If the revenue growth rate had been 1% higher and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would increase by Rnil (2021: Rnil).

Contract liabilities
Group

Rm 2022 2021

Carrying amount as at 1 October  264  278 
Revenue recognised in respect of opening balance  (170)  (179)
Raised during the year  697  659 
Revenue recognised in respect of amounts raised during the year  (531)  (493)
Foreign exchange –  (1)
Carrying amount as at 30 September  260  264 

The Group expects to recognise the current portion of the contract liabilities within revenue in the 2023 financial year.

Due to the nature of certain contracts within the AE Segment, advance payments are requested from customers in order to 
fund the working capital requirements related to these contracts. These advanced payments are recognised as contract liabilities 
and, where contractually required, these advanced payments are secured by either parent company performance guarantees or 
bank guarantees.

The contract liabilities are non‑financial liabilities and are only repayable if the customer cancels the contract. Should cancellation 
occur, the total costs incurred to date of cancellation may be offset against the advance payment received. The advance payment 
liabilities are reduced through the supply of goods against orders and/or against the achievement of contract milestones. Before 
onboarding any new suppliers, an assessment is made of the potential supplier and a payment limit specific to that supplier is 
defined. The average credit period received for the purchase of goods is 30 days.
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23. Commitments
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Capital commitments in respect of property, 
plant and equipment
– Contracted  17  33 – –
– Authorised but not yet contracted  74  11  21  11 
Total capital commitments in respect of 
property, plant and equipment  91  44  21  11 

At 30 September 2022, the Group has a commitment to purchase Etion Create (Pty) Ltd and EUC Africa (Pty) Ltd. Refer to note 33, 
Subsequent events for more details.

24. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arose from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non‑occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the group; or a present 
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

> It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
> The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability

The Group has issued guarantees to the value of R1.4 billion (2021: R832,9 million).

These guarantees include the following:  

 > guarantees issued by the bank on behalf of subsidiaries of R232 million (2021: R125 million)   
 >  guarantees issued by Reunert Company on behalf of subsidiaries of R1,0 billion (2021: R456 million)   
 >  guarantees issued by Reunert Company on behalf of Joint Ventures of R212 million (2021: R125 million)  

These guarantees relate to security provided with respect to: 

 > Advance payments received from customers 
 > Performance guarantees in favour of customers 
 > Payment guarantees to suppliers

The Group has no exposure arising from these guarantees.

In addition to the above, guarantees in support of general banking and trade facilities for subsidiaries of the Group and Company 
amount to R2,1 billion (2021: R1,8 billion). The Group has also provided a cross guarantee to a financial institution for various 
companies within the Group in support of other general banking and trade facilities R1,0 billion (2021: R1,0 billion).

25.  Directors’ remuneration and interests
Payable to the directors of the Company by the Company and its subsidiaries for services as directors:

Executive directors

R'000 Salary

Bonus 
and perfor-

mance- 
related 

payments 

Deferred 
incentive 

share 
scheme

Travel 
allowances

Retirement 
contri-

butions

Medical 
contri-

butions
Leave 

pay1 Total

Fair value 
of CSP 

at grant 
date2

2022
AE Dickson  6 238 7 407  –  132  227  86  – 14 090  3 807 
M Moodley  2 931 3 280  –  –  203  68  – 6 482  1 186 
NA Thomson  4 919 5 132  –  –  237  147  – 10 435  2 266 
  14 088 15 819  –  132  667  301  – 31 007  7 259 
2021
AE Dickson  5 963  3 958  778  132  217  83  600  11 731  – 
M Moodley  2 791  1 876  788  –  209  65  –  5 729  – 
NA Thomson  4 707  3 781  1 163  –  227  141  –  10 019  – 
  13 461  9 615  2 729  132  653  289 600  27 479  – 
1 Settlement of leave that accrued prior to implementation of the current leave policy which requires employees to either use the leave within 

the leave cycle or forfeit it.
2 The value has been determined using the fair value per unit and the expected vesting probabilities of the non-market conditions (normalised 

headline earnings per share (NHEPS) and return on capital employed (ROCE); and the fair value of the market conditions (total shareholder 
return (TSR)) at grant date. For further details relating to the valuation methodologies and assumptions used, refer to note 18.
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25.  Directors’ remuneration and interests (continued)
Non-executive directors
R'000 2022 2021

MJ Husain  1 172  549 
TS Munday  597  1 569 
T Abdool‑Samad  959  837 
AB Darko  642  603 
LP Fourie 843 731
JP Hulley 733 659
SD Jagoe 273 660
S Martin 660 674
MT Matshoba‑Ramuedzisi 756 603
Adv NDB Orleyn  471  659 
TNM Eboka  266 –
RJ Boëttger  335 –

 7 707  7 544 

CSP

Number of 
unvested 

units as at 
1 October 

2021

Number 
of units 
granted 

during the 
year

Number 
of units 
vested 

during the 
year1

Number 
of units 
expired 

during the 
year

Number 
of units 

unvested 
as at 

30 September 
2022

Share price 
at grant 

date
Date of 

allocation

Date from 
which 

vesting 
begins

AE Dickson  153 644  –  (7 682)  (145 962)  – 65,46 20/11/2017 23/11/2021
  153 990  –  –  –  153 990 76,58 19/11/2018 19/11/2022

 183 560  –  –  –  183 560 58,95 10/02/2020 18/11/2023
 391 040  –  –  –  391 040 28,63 30/09/2020 21/11/2024

 –  244 065  –  –  244 065 51,46 22/11/2021 24/11/2025
M Moodley  52 083  –  (2 604)  (49 479)  – 65,46 20/11/2017 23/11/2021
  49 068  –  –  –  49 068 76,58 19/11/2018 19/11/2022

 57 170  –  –  –  57 170 58,95 10/02/2020 18/11/2023
 121 790  –  –  –  121 790 28,63 30/09/2020 21/11/2024

 –  76 015  –  –  76 015 51,46 22/11/2021 24/11/2025
NA Thomson  94 049  –  (4 702)  (89 347)  – 65,46 20/11/2017 23/11/2021

 88 605  –  –  –  88 605 76,58 19/11/2018 19/11/2022
 105 620  –  –  –  105 620 58,95 10/02/2020 18/11/2023
 225 000  –  –  –  225 000 28,63 30/09/2020 21/11/2024

 –  145 275  –  –  145 275 51,46 22/11/2021 24/11/2025
  1 675 619  465 355  (14 988)  (284 788)  1 841 198 

1  During the financial year ended 30 September 2022 the 2017 performance and retention CSP units vested at a share price of R50,99.

26. Summarised financial information of joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control.

The equity method of accounting for joint ventures and the associates is adopted in the annual financial statements. The Group’s 
interests in joint ventures and the associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently the Group recognises, in its 
statement of profit or loss or other comprehensive income, its share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
of the joint ventures and associates.

Dividends received from joint ventures and the associates are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment.
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26. Summarised financial information of joint ventures and associates 
(continued)
The following judgements are applied to determine if the Group has joint control or significant influence over an entity:

 > governance arrangements: whether the Group is represented in executive positions or the board of directors, majority 
rules and voting rights.

 > the nature of substantive or protective rights granted to shareholders, relating to the entity’s relevant activities.
 > whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity.

Analysis of Group's interest in joint ventures and associates
The table below reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in joint ventures 
and associates:

Joint ventures Associates

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Carrying amount of Group's interest in joint 
ventures and associates as at 1 October  99  64  –  10 
Investment in CBi Telecoms transferred to 
Investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  (48)  –  –  – 
Acquisition of interest in Lumika  6  34  –  – 
Allocation of NCI to AIF I Africa C&I Renewable 
Energy LLP (AIF 1)1  (5)  (19)  –  – 
Disposal of investment in associate  –  –  –  (8)

 52  79  –  2 
Share of joint ventures' and associates' (loss)/
profit per the statement of profit or loss2  (39)  24  –  – 
Dividends received  (4)  (4)  –  (2)
Carrying amount of Group's interest in joint 
ventures and associates as at 30 September  9  99  – –

Rm 2022 2021

Joint ventures  9  99 
Associates3 – –
Investments in joint ventures and associates  9  99 
1  Refer to note 31, equity transactions with non-controlling interests for further details regarding the transaction.
2  Per the statement of profit or loss, the amount disclosed for share of joint ventures' and associates' (loss)/profit is R42 million, R39 million 

relates to losses from operations and R3 million relates to an impairment of a capital loan provided to CBi Telecoms. The loan is disclosed 
in other investments and loans in the statements of financial position.

3  The Group’s investment in associates was less than R0,5 million and therefore has been rounded to Rnil.
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26. Summarised financial information of joint ventures and associates 
(continued)
The below table represents the Group's interest in joint ventures and associates:

Interest %

Entity name
Nature of 
relationship

Nature of 
activity

Place of 
business 2022 2021

Lexshell 661 Investments 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Property holding Woodmead, 
Gauteng

 50  50 

CBi‑Electric Telecom Cables 
Proprietary Limited (CBi Telecoms)1

Joint venture Manufacturer of 
telecommunication 
cables

Brits, North 
West 

–  50 

Lumika Renewables 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 50  50 

Nova Energy Holdings 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 39  39 

Nova One Energy Solutions 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 39  39 

Nova NCP Proprietary Limited Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 50  – 

City Industrial Solar Solutions 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 39  39 

City Industrial Solar One 
Proprietary Limited

Joint venture Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 39  39 

RKT Energy Proprietary Limited Associate Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 23  23 

MRKT Energy Holdings 
Proprietary Limited

Associate Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 12  12 

MRKT Energy One 
Proprietary Limited

Associate Renewable energy 
solutions in the form 
of solar and hybrid 
build‑own‑operate 
projects

Constantia, 
Cape Town, 
Western Cape, 
South Africa

 12  12 

1  On 2 March 2022, CBi Telecoms was placed into business rescue, consequently the Group has lost joint control. From this date CBi Telecoms 
was not considered as a joint venture. The amounts disclosed in this note for the current financial year are transactions whilst CBi Telecoms 
was considered a joint venture of the Group.
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26. Summarised financial information of joint ventures and associates 
(continued)

Joint ventures Associates

2022 2021 2022 2021

Rm Total
Group's 

share Total
Group's 

share Total
Group's 

share Total
Group's 

share

Extract from the statement of 
profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income
Revenue  217  107  611  306  14  2  60  25 
Depreciation and amortisation  4  2  3  2  2  –  2  – 
Interest income  –  –  1  1  –  –  –  – 
Interest expense  4  2  5  2  4  1  2  – 
Other expenses  12  6  18  9  5  1  5  1 
Tax charge  –  –  3  2  1  –  2  1 
(Loss)/profit after tax for the year (77) (39)  44  24  1  –  5  – 
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Total comprehensive income (77) (39)  44  24  1  –  5  – 
Extract from the statement of 
financial position
Non‑current assets  175  80  138  68  83  11  56  9 
Current assets (excluding cash)  45  22  390  195  7  –  4  1 
Cash and cash equivalents  18  8  12  6  1  –  2  – 
Total assets  238  110  540  269  91  11  62  10 
Non‑current financial liabilities  (62)  (24)  (51)  (26)  (88)  (11)  (55)  (9)
Current financial liabilities  (21)  (10)  (210)  (104)  –  –  (5)  (1)
Other current liabilities  (59)  (29)  (37)  (18)  –  –  (1)  – 
Equity  (96)  (47)  (242)  (121)  (3)  –  (1)  – 
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27. Related party transactions
Annexure A provides information about the Group's structure, including details of the subsidiaries and the holding company.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year.

Group

Rm Relationship Sales Purchases
Rendering 

services

Lease 
payments 

made
Dividends 

received

Amounts 
owed by 

related 
parties1

Amounts 
owed to 

related 
parties

Treasury 
shares

2022

CBi‑Electric Telecom 
Cables (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  6  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Lumika Renewables 
(Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  –  1  –  –  –  –  – 

Bargenel Investments 
(Pty) Ltd

Empowerment 
partner owning 
24 million 
Reunert shares

 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  554 

Lexshell 661 
Investments (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  –  –  13  2  –  –  – 

Nova One Energy 
Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  6  –  –  –  –  102  –  – 

MRKT Energy One 
(Pty) Ltd

Associate  7  –  –  –  –  122  –  – 

2021

CBi‑Electric Telecom 
Cables (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  4  2  –  –  –  5  3  – 

Lumika Renewables 
(Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  –  1  –  –  1  36  – 

Bargenel Investments 
(Pty) Ltd

Empowerment 
partner owning 
18,5 million 
Reunert shares

 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  276 

Lexshell 661 
Investments (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  –  –  13  4  –  4  – 

Nova One Energy 
Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  8  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

City Industrial Solar 
One (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture  –  –  –  –  –  1  –  – 

MRKT Energy One 
(Pty) Ltd

Associate  19  –  –  –  –  132  –  – 

1  The amounts owing by the joint ventures and associates were tested for impairment, and no impairment was required.
2  These relate to trade and other receivables arising in the ordinary course of business.

Company
Annexure A contains the details of the Company’s: 

 > Shareholding in
 > Loans with
 > Interest income from
 > Dividends received from 
 > Dividends paid to 

its subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and special‑purpose entity.

Rm

Lease 
payments 

received

Net 
administration 

fees paid

2022

Subsidiaries of the Company 67 11

2021

Subsidiaries of the Company 70 11

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in note 25.
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28. Financial instruments
Financial instruments recorded in the statements of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade 
receivables, trade payables, loans and derivative financial instruments, investments at fair value through profit and loss and 
contingent consideration. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through the statement of profit or loss (FVTPL)) as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

Financial assets – classification, recognition and measurement
Identification
Classification of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics 
of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its financial assets:

Recognition and initial measurement
Amortised cost
The Group holds these assets to collect contractual cash flows. Cash flows from these assets represent payments of principal 
and interest and are measured at amortised cost. Payments are on predetermined dates. 

The effective interest method is a method used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial instrument and to allocate interest 
income or expense over the relevant financial period.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows 
represent payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. 

Subsequent measurement
Amortised cost
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised 
directly in the statements of profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), except for the recognition of impairment 
gains or losses, dividends received, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in the statements 
of profit or loss. 

When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity 
to the statements of profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective 
interest method.

Fair value though profit and loss (FVTPL)
A gain or loss on a subsequent measurement of a financial asset is recognised in the statements of profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises.

Impairment
The Group recognises an impairment for expected credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt instruments that are measured 
at amortised cost. The ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective debt instrument.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a 
default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward‑looking information as described below. The exposure at default is represented by the assets’ gross carrying 
amount at the reporting date.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment (continued)
The ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward‑looking information, which is based on assumptions 
for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would expect to receive. Probability of default 
constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, 
the calculation of which includes historical data and assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

The Group uses the general approach in the determination of the ECL for loan and lease receivables. This is a three stage 
assessment from initial recognition whereby ECL is calculated based on either a lifetime ECL or a 12 month ECL.

The Group calculates ECL at initial recognition by considering the consequences and probabilities of defaults only for the next 
12 months, rather than the life of the asset. This is stage 1. It continues to apply this method until a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred, at which point the impairment is measured based on lifetime ECLs. This is stage 2. The assessment of whether 
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit‑impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the impairment that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset. 
In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial asset 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, lifetime ECL 
are recognised, directly reducing the carrying amount of the financial asset and interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying 
amount (i.e. net of impairment).

At Quince, the Group’s rental finance provider, the ECL is calculated taking into consideration the specific credit risk associated 
with their receivables. 

The ECL model applied by Quince has been aligned to consider forward‑looking information to recognise impairment allowances 
earlier in the lifecycle of a product. This is likely to increase the volatility of impairment allowances as the economic outlook 
changes, although cash flows and cash losses are expected to remain unchanged.

The following three‑stage approach to impairment has been applied in the impairment model:

Stage 1 – the recognition of 12 month ECL, that is the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that are 
expected within 12 months of the reporting date, if credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Stage 2 – lifetime ECL for financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly (i.e. when a borrower is more than 
30 days past due) since initial recognition.

Stage 3 – lifetime ECL for financial instruments which are credit impaired (i.e when a borrower is more than 90 days past due).

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
asset as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, which includes the credit ratings process the Group has followed and consequences 
that have lead to the default looking at historical information, for example, payment history, communications and any extended 
credit provided. Further to the above, forward‑looking information, including economic indicators and any subsequent payments, 
is incorporated in assessing an increase of credit risk.

The Group has the following types of financial assets that are subject to the ECL model:

 > Trade and other receivables

 > Lease and loan receivables

 > Other investments and loans

 > Cash and cash equivalents
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Equity instruments – classification, recognition and measurement
Identification
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 

Recognition and initial measurement
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received net of any direct issue costs. 

Subsequent measurement
Equity is not subsequently remeasured.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are equity instruments of the Group that are held by a subsidiary of the Group. Repurchases of the Group’s own 
equity instruments are recognised at their cost and deducted directly from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the statements 
of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Equity forward contract
The contract will be settled by the Group receiving a fixed number of its own equity instruments in exchange for a fixed amount of 
cash, this is considered an equity instrument. Changes in the fair value of an equity instrument are not recognised in the financial 
statements.

Financial liabilities – classification, recognition and measurement
Identification
Financial liabilities include bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities, trade and other payables, financial liabilities that arise 
from put and call options, lease liabilities, derivative financial liabilities and contingent considerations.

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as either:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Non‑controlling interests that have written put options to sell their interest in the subsidiary to the Group are initially recognised in 
equity at fair value with a corresponding financial liability. Fair value is the present value of the future cash flows expected to settle 
the put obligation discounted at the average cost of borrowing. 

A contingent consideration arising on acquisition of a subsidiary is included in the cost of the business combination as at the date 
of acquisition.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Any subsequent movement in the fair value of the written put option is recognised in the statements of profit or loss. 

Subsequent remeasurements of the fair value of the contingent arrangements are recognised in the statements of profit or loss 
in the period they arise. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Interest, dividends, losses and gains relating to a financial liability or a component that is a financial liability are recognised as 
income or expense in the statements of profit or loss. Interest expense is recognised in the statements of profit or loss based 
on the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the obligations specified in the contracts are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

On derecognition of a financial asset or liability, any difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration 
received or paid is recognised in the statements of profit or loss.
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Derivative financial instruments
Introduction
The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which it manages 
using derivative financial instruments. The Group’s principal derivative financial instruments are option contracts, interest rate 
swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are initially recognised at the ruling rates of exchange at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to the 
exchange rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in the statements of profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise. Derivative instruments are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gains or losses are recognised 
in the statements of profit or loss.

Recognition and initial measurement
Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on contract date.

Subsequent measurement
Changes in fair value are recorded in the statements of profit or loss as they arise. 

Derivatives are classified as current assets or current liabilities if the remaining maturity of the instruments is less than 12 months 
and are expected to be realised or settled within 12 months from the reporting date. 

Unless otherwise stated all financial instruments are disclosed on a gross basis other than where a legally enforceable right of 
offset exists for recognised financial assets and liabilities and there is an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset 
simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis. All related financial effects are offset.

Recognised fair value measurements
Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are 
categorised as a level 1 instrument.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques 
which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity‑specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is categorised as a level 2 instrument. 

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs on which the valuation is undertaken is not based on observable market data, 
the instrument is categorised as a level 3 instrument. 

Information on the fair value of financial instruments is included in the respective notes.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Group Company

Rm 2022 2021 2022 2021

Significant categories of financial 
instruments
Financial assets
At fair value through other comprehensive 
income included in:
Other investments and loans2  14  14  –  – 
At FVTPL
Non‑current derivative financial asset2  57  41  –  – 
Current derivative financial assets1  12  7  –  – 
Investment at FVTPL2  53  76  –  – 
At amortised cost included in:  –  – 
Other investments and loans  50  51  2  1 
Lease and loan receivables  2 271  2 476  –  – 
Trade and other receivables  2 236  1 767  2  28 
Other receivables  –  –  33  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  957  1 068  3  5 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries  –  –  1 154  4 452 
Non-financial instruments included in:
Trade and other receivables  438  330  –  – 
Financial liabilities
At amortised cost included in:
Long‑term loans  (71)  (44)  –  – 
Non‑current equity forward contract  (28)  (48)  (28)  (48)
Non‑current lease liabilities  (77)  (100)  –  – 
Current lease liabilities  (89)  (85)  –  – 
Current portion of long‑term loans  (7)  (39)  –  – 
Current equity forward contract  (20)  (18)  (20)  (18)
Trade and other payables  (1 919)  (1 648)  (25)  (20)
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  (598)  (777)  –  – 
At FVTPL
Non‑current contingent consideration2  (25)  (10)  –  – 
Non‑current derivative financial liability2  (33)  (92)  –  – 
Put option liability2  –  (25)  –  – 
Contingent consideration included in trade and 
other payables2  (17)  (18)  –  – 
Current derivative financial liabilities1  (15)  (17)  –  – 
Non-financial instruments included in:
Current contract liabilities  (260)  (264)  –  – 
Trade and other payables  (273)  (110)  –  – 

¹  These instruments are considered to be ‘level 2’ in the fair value hierarchy.
2  These instruments are considered to be ‘level 3’ in the fair value hierarchy.

There were no financial assets or liabilities settled or extinguished which did not meet the derecognition requirements.



86

R E U N E RT  L I M I T E D

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

28. Financial instruments (continued)
Put option liability
As part of the original acquisition of TFS in 2017, the Group granted and settled options in favour of the non‑controlling shareholders. 

The final elements of these put options were exercised and settled in the current financial year.

Group Company

Rm
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3

Analysis of the carrying amount
Financial liabilities – put option
Carrying amount as at 1 October  25 – – – 
Raised –  25 – – 
Fair value remeasurement  (1) – – – 
Settlement  (24) – – – 
Carrying amount as at 30 September –  25 – – 

Investment in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (OCI)

Group Company

Rm
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3

Analysis of the carrying amount
Fair value of investment through OCI
Carrying amount as at 1 October  14  13 – –
Fair value remeasurement –  1 – –
Carrying amount as at 30 September  14  14 – –

The financial asset through other comprehensive income relates to an investment in a S12J fund in respect of a solar energy build, 
own and operate project.

In undertaking the valuation, the following assumptions have been applied:

The net cash flows from each project have been aggregated and have been discounted using a 16,28% discount rate in order to 
determine the attributable net present value of the projects. The input that requires judgement in the valuation is the kilowatt per 
hour (kWh) generated per annum by each solar asset.

The valuation has been prepared on the assumption that:

 > The fund retains its venture capital companies (VCC) status with the South African Revenue Service (SARS) and that there are 
no liquidation events during the term of the Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) in which case the PPA off‑taker share class in 
the fund would entitle the off‑taker to the residual interest in the qualifying company’s solar asset

 > The qualifying companies that own the solar assets have no debt

If the discount rate had been 1% higher and all other variables remained constant, the value of the Group’s investment for the year 
ended 30 September 2022 would decrease by R1 million. If the discount rate had been 1% lower and all other variables remained 
constant, the value of the investment would increase by R1 million.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Investment in financial assets at fair value through OCI (continued)
CBi-Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd (CBi Telecoms)
Due to reduced factory throughput leading to under recoveries of fixed costs and reduced cash flow as a consequence 
of lower sales, as well as the impact of an over stocked position on cash flow, CBi Telecoms was placed into business rescue 
on 2 March 2022.

Consequently, the Group has lost joint control over its investment in CBi Telecoms and has therefore changed the classification 
of the investment from equity accounting under IAS 28 – Investments in Associates (IAS 28) to a financial asset under IFRS 9. 
In addition to the equity investment, the Group has made both a fully recoverable post business rescue funding loan and other 
operating loans to CBi Telecoms which continue to be recognised as receivables measured at the amounts expected to be 
recovered under the terms of the business rescue plan (55c:Rand).

The Group has made an election to recognise any subsequent changes in fair value of the investment under IFRS 9 through 
other comprehensive income. At 30 September 2022, CBi Telecoms remained in business rescue. Based on the latest available 
information received from the business rescue practitioner, including the expected realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
the Group has remeasured the investment in CBi Telecoms to R1 at 30 September 2022, being the expected equity recovery arising 
from the two provisional offers for the business, which are under consideration by the business rescue practitioner.

Due to the nature of the inputs used to determine the fair value of CBi Telecoms, no sensitivity analysis was required.

Group

Rm 2022

Carrying amount at 1 October (Investment in joint venture)  56 
Share of joint venture's loss (up to date of business rescue and loss of joint control)  (8)
Transfer to investment at fair value through other comprehensive income  (48)
Carrying amount at 30 September (Investment in joint venture) –
Carrying amount at 1 October (Investment at fair value through OCI) –
Transfer from investment in joint venture  48 
Fair value remeasurement  (48)
Carrying amount at 30 September (Investment at fair value through OCI)1 –

1 The carrying amount at the end of the year has been included in other investments and loans on the statement of financial position.

Contingent consideration
The analysis of the carrying amount of contingent consideration is disclosed in note 22 Trade and other payables, contingent 
consideration and contract liabilities.

Investment at fair value through profit or loss
In terms of IAS 28, Reunert is presumed to have significant influence over CAFCA Limited (CAFCA) as it owns more than 20% 
of CAFCA’s share capital. However, as it has less than 20% representation on its board of directors and does not have the ability to 
appoint additional directors, the Group does not equity account its investment in CAFCA as it does not, in fact, have significant 
influence over CAFCA. Therefore, the Group’s interest is measured at fair value through profit or loss. Although CAFCA is listed on 
the Zimbabwean Stock Exchange, there is limited trading in the share.

During the current financial year the Group sold a further 5 200 245 CAFCA shares for R29 million and subsequent to this sale the 
Group holds a residual interest in CAFCA of 28,65%. During the prior financial year the Group received and accepted two 
unsolicited offers for a portion of its investment in CAFCA for R27 million. 

The following significant estimate was used in assessing fair value of the investment at fair 
value through profit or loss
The fair value of the Group's investment in CAFCA was determined by applying a weighted probability of fair values including a fair 
value derived using an appropriate price/net asset value multiple and a fair value using the latest transaction price. Accordingly, the 
Group recognised a gain of R6 million in the current year (2021: gain R103 million).

In the prior year the fair value was derived by using the price/net asset value multiple basis. The change to the weighted probability 
basis in the current year takes into consideration the significant movement in the Zimbabwean Dollar to US Dollar official exchange 
rate over the past 12 months. This new probability basis provided management with a more appropriate estimation of the fair value 
of CAFCA. The selling price per share of the sale transaction negotiated during the current and prior financial year was also 
considered as a key factor in assessing the reasonability of the fair value for the current financial year.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Investment at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Accordingly, the Group recognised a gain as follows:

Group Company

Rm
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3

Analysis of the carrying amount
Fair value of investment through profit 
or loss
Carrying amount as at 1 October  76 – – –
Fair value remeasurement of investment in 
CAFCA  6  103 – –

–  Realised gain on remeasurement of 
investment –  27 – – 

–  Unrealised gain on remeasurement of 
investment  6  76 – – 

Disposals  (29)  (27) – –
Carrying amount as at 30 September  53  76 – –

Investment at fair value through profit or loss sensitivity analysis
If the price/net asset value had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would increase by R1 million (2021: R1 million). If the historical net asset value per share in 
US Dollars (US$) had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the 
year ended 30 September 2022 would increase by R1 million (2021: R1 million).

Non-current derivative financial asset and liability
The following significant estimates were used in assessing fair value of the non-current 
derivative financial asset and liability
Basis
In the 2021 financial year the Group concluded an agreement with AP Moller Capital through AIF I Africa C&I Renewable Energy 
LLP (AIF I) to establish a joint venture, Lumika Renewables (Pty) Ltd (Lumika). The Group subscribed for a 50,1% interest in Lumika. 
Although the Group holds a 50,1% interest, due to the contractual arrangement with AP Moller Capital, the Group exercises joint 
control over the venture. In 2021 the Group sold an effective 25% interest in Terra Firma Solution (Pty) Ltd (TFS) to Lumika and 
concluded a put and a call option for the sale of its residual 72,2% interest in TFS (the residual interest increased by a further 7,2% 
from the prior financial year due to the Group buying out the remaining non‑controlling shareholders in TFS). The put option is 
exercisable from 1 April 2023 until 30 June 2023 and the call option is exercisable from 1 July 2023 until 30 September 2023, 
however, the effective date of the transaction will be 1 October 2023.

In terms of these arrangements, the Group has the right to put its remaining interest in TFS to Lumika in exchange for the strike 
price in US$ and Lumika has the right to call the remaining interest in TFS from the Group at the same price. The put and call 
options have been recognised as a non‑current derivative asset and liability respectively at their fair values through profit or loss. The 
put and call are considered to be derivatives as, although they are for a fixed number of shares, they are for a variable Rand 
consideration as the consideration is priced in US$.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Non-current derivative financial asset and liability (continued)
Estimations
The following unobservable inputs were used in the determination of the value of the put and call and the resulting fair value:

1. US$13,3 million strike price translated to Rand at 30 September 2022 using a forward exchange rate of 18,65 (2021: 16,58).
2. Average revenue growth rate 10,0% (2021: 16,0%).
3. Post‑tax discount rate 14,8% (2021: 15,5%).

The equity value, strike price in US Dollars and other inputs (see above) were applied to a Black Scholes valuation model to 
determine the value of the put and call.

Group Company

Rm
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3
2022

Level 3
2021

Level 3

Put option derivative financial asset  57  41  –  – 
Call option derivative financial liability  (33)  (92)  –  – 
Net carrying amount at 30 September  24  (51)  –  – 
Analysis of the carrying amount
Non-current derivative financial asset 
and liability
Net carrying amount as at 1 October  (51)  –  –  – 
Fair value remeasurement  75  (51)  –  – 

Gain on put option derivative asset  16  41  –  – 
Gain/(loss) on call option derivative liability  59  (92)  –  – 

Net carrying amount as at 30 September  24  (51)  –  – 

Non-current derivative financial asset and liability sensitivity analysis
The following details the Group’s sensitivity to a change in the strike price, average revenue growth rate, and post‑tax discount rate 
against the derivatives.

If the forward exchange rate had been 10% higher or lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax 
for the year ended 30 September 2022 would increase/decrease by R24 million respectively (2021: increase/decrease by 
R20 million respectively). If the average revenue growth rate in TFS had been 5% higher or lower and all other variables remained 
constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2022 would decrease by R65 million and increase by 
R69 million respectively (2021: decrease/increase by R53 million respectively). If the post‑tax discount rate had been 1% 
higher or lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2022 
would increase by R36 million and decrease by R40 million respectively (2021: increase by R26 million and decrease by 
R29 million respectively). 

Risk management
The Group is exposed to liquidity, credit, foreign currency, interest rate and commodity price risks arising from its 
financial instruments. 

The risk management processes and financial management of assets and liabilities are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year.

The risk management relating to each of these risks is discussed under the headings below. The Group’s objective in using 
derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows arising from foreign 
currency, interest rate and commodity price risk exposures.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity in the Group will be unable to meet its obligations in respect of financial liabilities when 
they become due.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities and 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. 

Senior management across the Group is responsible for the management of liquidity risk.

The overnight call market is mainly used for short‑term loans, with three to six‑month duration facilities used when deemed 
appropriate. Excess cash is only deposited with reputable banks and is spread over more than one bank to reduce the default risk. 

Trade and other payables consist of payables to external parties, sundry creditors and accruals. These items are expected to be 
paid within 3 months.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table reflects the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required to pay. 

Group

Rm <1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

2022
Financial liabilities included in trade and 
other payables  (1 919)  –  –  (1 919)
Contingent consideration  (17)  (29)  –  (46)
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  (598)  –  –  (598)
Current portion of long‑term loans  (14)  –  –  (14)
Non‑current long‑term loans  –  (50)  (64)  (114)
Lease liabilities  (115)  (134)  (4)  (253)
Equity forward contract  (20)  (31)  –  (51)
Derivative financial liabilities  (15)  (33)  –  (48)

 (2 698)  (277)  (68)  (3 043)
2021
Financial liabilities included in trade and 
other payables  (1 648)  –  –  (1 648)
Contingent consideration  (18)  (12)  –  (30)
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  (777)  –  –  (777)
Current portion of long‑term loans  (39)  –  –  (39)
Non‑current long‑term loans  (5)  (27)  (36)  (68)
Lease liabilities  (110)  (146)  (3)  (259)
Put option liability  (25)  –  –  (25)
Equity forward contract  (18)  (52)  –  (70)
Derivative financial liabilities  (17) –  – (17)

 (2 657) (237)  (39) (2 933)
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Company

Rm <1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

2022
Financial liabilities included in trade and 
other payables  (25)  –  –  (25)
Equity forward contract  (20)  (31)  –  (51)

 (45)  (31)  –  (76)
2021
Financial liabilities included in trade and 
other payables  (20)  –  –  (20)
Equity forward contract  (18)  (52)  –  (70)

 (38)  (52)  –  (90)

The current portion of the Group’s financial assets and available credit lines are sufficient to pay the financial liabilities expected to 
fall due within the next 12 months. All the liabilities disclosed in the above maturity schedule in the respective categories 1‑5 years 
and more than 5 years are disclosed including future interest charges.

Borrowing capacity
In terms of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation (MOI), the directors may borrow funds as they deem fit, subject 
to the Company satisfying the solvency and liquidity test, as contemplated in section 4 of the Companies Act.

The Group has significant unutilised borrowing facilities and has substantial capacity to borrow funds if required. Refer to 
note 24, Contingencies. 

Capital management
The Group has low debt levels at present. There are accordingly no significant debt covenants imposed on the Group and no 
breaches or defaults on the terms of any loans have taken place during the year. Cash reserves and unutilised borrowing facilities 
are available to fund future acquisitions as part of the Group’s growth strategy as well as to fund any replacement or expansionary 
capital requirements. 

Capital allocation is evaluated against expected returns using appropriate weighted average cost of capital (WACC) rates and 
risk profiles.

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk of financial loss due to counterparties to financial instruments, including customers, not meeting 
their contractual obligations.

This risk is managed through ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of all customers. The granting of credit 
is controlled by application and credit vetting procedures which are updated and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Trade and other receivables 
(Contract assets do not form part of financial assets but are considered for ECL under IFRS 9)

Details of credit risk and the method of ECL calculation has been disclosed in note 14, Trade and other receivables.

Lease and loan receivables
Details of credit risk and the method of ECL calculation has been disclosed in note 13, Lease and loan receivables.

Other investments and loans
The Group has provided loans to its associates and joint ventures to satisfy operational and other requirements. These associates 
and joint ventures are located in South Africa. The Group manages credit risk on this portfolio of loans by following strict protocols 
for the approval. They are considered to have low credit risk and the identified ECL was immaterial.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are held with major banking groups and quality institutions that have high credit ratings above AA 
and therefore are considered to have low credit risk and the identified ECL was immaterial.
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Foreign currency risk
Certain transactions within the Group are denominated in foreign currencies, mainly US Dollars and Euro. This exposes the Group 
to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations for these currencies.

The Group manages these risks within parameters defined by operational management. Forward exchange contracts (FECs) 
and other relevant financial instruments are used where considered appropriate to hedge foreign currency exposure.

FECs disclosed as derivatives are classified as “level 2” liabilities in the fair value measurement hierarchy.

FECs for the Group, in respect of US Dollar and Euro only, are summarised below:

Group

Rm
Foreign amount

Million
Market value

Rm
Contract value

Rm

Unrealised 
(losses)/gains

Rm

2022 
Imports – trade
US Dollar  (9)  (124)  (116)  8 
Euro  (9)  (134)  (131)  3 
Exports – trade
US Dollar  13  243  229  (14)
Euro  11  198  196  (2)
Swiss Francs  1  7  8  1 
2021
Imports – trade
US Dollar  (9)  (93)  (91)  2 
Euro  (8)  (137)  (134)  3 
Exports – trade
US Dollar  8  131  131 –
Euro  2  31  31 –

The total current portion of derivatives per the statements of financial position is a net liability of R3 million (2021: R10 million), 
Rnil (2021: R15 million) liability relating to interest rate swaps, R15 million (2021: R2 million) liability and R11 million 
(2021: R7 million) asset which relate to FECs and R1 million (2021: Rnil) asset related to other derivatives.

Additional disclosures

Rm

 As at 
30 September 

2022 

 As at 
30 September 

2021

Balances related to:
Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies1  749  730 
Of which covered by FECs or zero‑cost collars1  369  307 
Loans payable denominated in foreign currencies  –  – 
Of which covered by FECs  –  – 
Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies2  869  583 
Of which covered by FECs or zero‑cost collars2  397  138 
Loans receivable denominated in foreign currencies  –  – 
Of which covered by FECs  –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents held in customer foreign currency accounts3 160  168 
Of which covered by FECs or zero‑cost collars  –  – 
Bank overdrafts denominated in foreign currency3  54  133 
Of which covered by FECs or zero‑cost collars  –  – 

1  Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies are: US$ of R514 million (2021: R517 million), Euro of R153 million (2021: R144 million) and other 
foreign currencies of R82 million (2021: R69 million). The FECs relating to US$ of R209 million (2021: R141 million), Euro of R150 million (2021: 
R161 million) and other foreign currencies of R10 million (2021: R5 million).

2  Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies are: US$ of R558 million (2021: R458 million), Euro of R229 million (2021: R74 million) and 
other foreign currencies of R82 million (2021: R51 million). The FECs relating to US$ of R194 million (2021: R126 million), Euro of R196 million 
(2021: R2 million) and other foreign currencies of R7 million (2021: R10 million).

3  Refer to note 17, Net cash and cash equivalents for the breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts relating to foreign currencies.

There were no FECs for the Company as at 30 September 2022.



G r o u p  Au d i t e d  A n n u a l  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s  2 0 2 2

93

28. Financial instruments (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following details the Group’s sensitivity to a weakening in the rand against the relevant foreign currencies. A 20% decrease 
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, FECs and zero‑cost collars and adjusts their translation 
at the year‑end for a 20% change in foreign currency rates.

Profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2022 would have decreased by R49 million (2021: decrease of R18 million) had 
the rand closed 20% lower against the relevant foreign currency. Had the rand been 20% higher, the profit after tax for the same 
period would have increased by R49 million (2021: increase of R18 million).

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 

Quince, the Group’s finance company, has originated fixed rate customer loans and is therefore exposed to changes in their fair 
value as market interest rates change over the term of these fixed rate customer loans. Quince has elected to economically 
mitigate this risk by entering into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the exposure to the fair value arising from interest 
rate risk. 

The fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the swap curves at the end of 
the reporting period and the credit risk inherent in the contract. The fair value was determined to be Rnil (2021: R3,4 million liability). 

Details of the interest rate swaps:

Group

Contracts expiring in:

Rm <1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

2022
Quince
Contract value  50 – –  50 
Average fixed interest rate 7,8% – – 7,8%
2021
Quince
Contract value –  100 –  100 
Average fixed interest rate – 7,4% – 7,4%

The interest rate swaps reset on a quarterly basis. The floating rate is based on the three‑month JIBAR rate. 

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the monthly JIBAR. The Group 
will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis. 

The Company has not entered into any interest rate swaps.

Interest rate swap contracts are classified as ‘level 2’ liabilities in the fair value measurement hierarchy.

Interest rate swap sensitivity analysis 
If the interest rate had been 1% lower and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year ended 
30 September 2022 would increase by R5,4 million on average (2021: R5,9 million increase). This is mainly due to the exposure 
to linked rate funding cost and the fixed rate customer loans originated, this is termed the open position. Management has taken a 
decision in prior years not to renew the swap contracts that have expired but rather explore a funding strategy with the banks that 
will result in obtaining funding that is a match proportionally to the split of the loan book between linked and fixed.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate analysis
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the statements of financial 
position date are:

Group

Rm

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate %

Floating 
interest 

rate
Fixed 

interest rate
 Non-interest 

bearing Total

2022
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  3,7  681  14  262  957 
Financial assets included in trade and other 
receivables  12,2  28  7  2 201  2 236 
Other investments and loans  7,5  24  –  40  64 
Investment held at fair value through profit or loss  –  –  –  53  53 
Lease and loan receivables  15,4  1 451  820  –  2 271 
Derivative financial assets  –  –  –  69  69 

 2 184  841  2 625  5 650 
Liabilities
Financial liabilities included in trade and other 
payables  6,1  (433)  –  (1 486)  (1 919)
Contingent consideration  –  –  –  (42)  (42)
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  7,8  (195)  (403)  –  (598)
Current portion of long‑term loans  8,0  (4)  –  (3)  (7)
Lease liabilities  9,5 –  (166) –  (166)
Equity forward contract  6,8  –  (48)  –  (48)
Non‑current long‑term loans  7,6  (68)  –  (3)  (71)
Derivative financial liabilities  –  –  –  (48)  (48)

 (700)  (617)  (1 582)  (2 899)
Net financial assets  1 484  224  1 043  2 751 
2021
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  3,1  558  296  214  1 068 
Financial assets included in trade and other 
receivables  11,8  36  7  1 724  1 767 
Other investments and loans  7,1  22  13  30  65 
Investment held at fair value through profit or loss  –  –  –  76  76 
Lease and loan receivables  14,2  1 557  919  –  2 476 
Derivative financial assets  –  –  –  48  48 

 2 173  1 235  2 092  5 500 
Liabilities
Financial liabilities included in trade and other 
payables  2,8  (361)  (79)  (1 208)  (1 648)
Contingent consideration  –  –  –  (28)  (28)
Bank overdrafts and other short‑term facilities  5,3  (630)  (147)  –  (777)
Current portion of long‑term loans  7,5  (2)  –  (37)  (39)
Lease liabilities  10,0  –  (185)  –  (185)
Equity forward contract  6,8  –  (66)  –  (66)
Put option liability  –  –  –  (25)  (25)
Non‑current long‑term loans  7,6  (41)  –  (3)  (44)
Derivative financial liabilities  –  –  –  (109)  (109)

 (1 034)  (477)  (1 410)  (2 921)
Net financial assets  1 139  758  682  2 579 
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis – Group
The sensitivity analyses for the Group and Company have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both 
derivative and non‑derivative instruments at the statements of financial position date.

The analyses are prepared assuming the amount of net assets outstanding at the date of the statements of financial position 
was outstanding for the whole year. A 2% increase is used for both the current year and prior year and represents management’s 
assessment of a reasonable maximum change in interest rates over the next 12 months. A 2% decrease would have the opposite 
effect on profit after tax.

If the Group’s interest rates had been 2% higher and all other variables remained constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year 
ended 30 September 2022 would increase by R21 million (2021: increase by R7 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s 
exposure to interest rates on its floating rate deposits.

Interest rate analysis
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the statement of financial 
position date are:

Company

Rm

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate %

Floating 
interest 

rate
Fixed 

interest rate
 Non-interest 

bearing Total

2022
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4,0  3  –  –  3 
Financial assets included in trade and other 
receivables  –  –  –  2  2 
Other investments and loans  7,5  2  –  –  2 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries – – – 1 154 1 154

 5  –  1 156  1 161 
Liabilities
Financial liabilities included in trade and other 
payables  –  –  –  (25)  (25)
Equity forward contract  6,8  –  (48)  –  (48)

 –  (48)  (25)  (73)
Net financial assets  5  (48)  1 131  1 088 
2021
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  2,0  5  –  –  5 
Financial assets included in trade and other 
receivables  –  –  –  28  28 
Other investments and loans  7,5  1  –  –  1 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries  –  –  –  4 452  4 452 

 6  –  4 480  4 486 
Liabilities
Financial liabilities included in trade and other 
payables  –  –  –  (19)  (19)
Equity forward contract  6,8  –  (66)  –  (66)

 –  (66)  (19)  (85)
Net financial assets  6  (66)  4 461  4 401 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis – Company
If the Company’s interest rates had been 2% higher and all other variables remained constant, the Company’s profit after tax for 
the year ended 30 September 2022 would increase by Rnil (2021: increase by R nil). This is mainly attributable to the Company’s 
exposure to interest rates on its floating rate deposits.
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29.  Acquisition of business
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. All acquisition‑related costs are recognised 
as expenses in the period in which the costs are incurred and the related services received. For the accounting policy relating 
to goodwill arising through acquisitions, refer to note 11.

If the initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete at the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. These provisional amounts 
are then adjusted during the remaining measurement period (up to 12 months from the effective date of the acquisition), or 
additional assets and liabilities are recognised, to reflect any new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date, which if known at the time of making the initial recognition entries, would have impacted the amounts 
recognised at that time.

Non‑controlling interests (NCI) in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
interest therein. NCI consists of the value of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the NCI’s share 
of changes in the subsidiary’s equity since the date of the combination.

Losses applicable to the NCI in excess of the NCI’s share of equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the 
extent that the NCI has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover their share of losses beyond their 
contributed equity.

1. The Code Maven Group of companies (MAVEN)
With effect from 1 October 2021, the Group, through +OneX, acquired 100% of the business and related net assets of “MAVEN”. 
MAVEN comprises of two companies (Moov Innovation (Pty) Ltd and Maven Agency (Pty) Ltd) focused on the development of 
bespoke software and applications. This was an acquisition of a business and was accounted for as a business combination in terms 
of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (IFRS 3).

The existing workforce is appropriately skilled to enable them to service their existing client base as well as future client gains 
arising from its incorporation into the Reunert ICT Segment.

The acquisition of MAVEN complements the ICT Segment’s expansion strategy and increases the geographical presence of +OneX.

Rm 2022

Cash paid  16 
Contingent consideration  28 
Working capital offset against the purchase price  (4)
Total purchase consideration  40 
Represented by:
Property, plant and equipment  1 
Goodwill  26 
Intangible assets  24 
Deferred tax liabilities  (7)
Trade and other payables  (4)
Net assets acquired (fair value at acquisition date)  40 
Revenue since acquisition – effective 1 October 2021  103 
Profit after tax since acquisition – effective 1 October 2021  8 
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30. Disposal of subsidiary and associate
2022
There were no disposals of subsidiaries or associates during the current financial year. 

2021
Sale of Nashua Paarl and West Coast (Pty) Ltd (PWC)
With effect from 1 August 2021 Nashua Holdings (Pty) Ltd sold the interest it held in the franchise known as Nashua PWC for 
R3 million.

Rm 2021

Net assets disposed in PWC:
Goodwill  4 
Deferred tax assets  1 
Lease receivables  72 
Inventory  2 
Trade and other receivables  11 
Non‑controlling interests  (4)
Long‑term loans  (1)
Trade and other payables  (9)
Amounts owing to subsidiaries  (74)
Net carrying amount disposed of  2 
Consideration received  1 

Cash received on sale  3 
Less: cash on hand  2 

Loss on disposal of subsidiary (net of taxation of Rnil)  (1)
Sale of Oxirostax (Pty) Ltd (Winelands)1

With effect from 1 August 2021 Nashua Holdings (Pty) Ltd sold its interest in the Nashua Winelands franchise 
it owned for R9 million.
Investment in Associate  8 
Consideration received:
In cash  9 
Profit on disposal of associate (net of taxation of Rnil)  1 
1 The investment in Winelands was previously recognised as an investment in associate and equity accounted for in the Group’s financial statements.

Transactions under common control
Transactions accounted for as a transaction under common control which is excluded from the scope of IFRS 3 – Business 
Combinations as they involve the combination of businesses that are ultimately controlled by the same company before and 
after the transaction. 

Such business combinations are accounted for at the net asset value of the business transferred and therefore no goodwill arises on 
these business combinations. No effect of the transactions is recorded at a Group level as the transactions eliminate on consolidation. 
Any differences between the proceeds and the net assets disposed were recognised in profit or loss of the relevant entity.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the NCIs are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiary concerned.

Transaction that affected the Group:
With effect from 30 September 2021 the net assets and business of Dopptech (Pty) Ltd (Dopptech), a subsidiary of the Group, 
were transferred to Fuchs Electronics (Pty) Ltd, another Group company, at the net book value of Rnil.

 

Net assets transferred
Inventory  5 
Trade and other receivables  2 
Property, plant and equipment  3 
Amounts owing to subsidiaries  (10)
Net carrying amount transferred –
Amount received –
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31.  Equity transactions with non-controlling interests (NCIs)

Rm 2022

Transactions to increase controlling interest in subsidiaries' 
holdings
Terra Firma Solutions (Pty) Ltd (TFS)
In the current financial year the Group increased its effective holding in TFS from 77,46% to 86,13%, this 
increase in shareholding resulted from the non‑controlling shareholders exercising their put options together 
with a repurchase of shares from SIBU Private Equity (Pty) Ltd (SIBU Private Equity) the BBBEE partner in TFS.
Consideration paid  (45)

Zevoli 151 (Pty) Ltd (Nashua West Rand)
With effect from 1 September 2022, the Group acquired an additional 5% interest in Nashua West Rand, 
a Group‑owned Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration paid –

Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd (Nashua Tshwane)
With effect from 1 September 2022, the Group acquired an additional 15% interest in Nashua Tshwane, 
a Group‑owned Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration paid –

Sale transactions decreasing the Group's controlling interest  
in subsidiaries
Bridoon Trade and Invest 197 (Pty) Ltd (Nashua Cape Town)
With effect from 1 May 2022, the Group sold 26% of its interest in Nashua Cape Town, a Group‑owned 
Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration received –

Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd
Through the Group's joint venture, Lumika, AIF 1 subscribed for shares in Reunert Investment 
Company No 2, where Lumika holds a 27,8% interest.
Consideration received  5 

Plus 1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd (+OneX)
On 1 May 2022, the non‑controlling shareholders exercised their call option whereby the Group 
sold 6,8% of its interest in +OneX.
Consideration received  6 
Net consideration paid  (34)

Non‑controlling interests recognised in the statements of changes in equity  8 
Transactions with non‑controlling interests recognised in the statement of changes in equity  (36)
Put option liability  (24)
Investment in joint venture recognised due to transaction with Lumika  18 
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31.  Equity transactions with non-controlling interests (NCIs) (continued)

Rm 2021

Transactions to increase controlling interest in subsidiaries' 
holdings
Kopano Solutions Company (Pty) Ltd (Nashua Kopano)
With effect from 1 April 2021, the Group acquired all of the non‑controlling interest in Nashua Kopano, 
a Group‑owned Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration paid  (21)

Just Jasmine Investments 201 (Pty) Ltd (Just Jasmine)
With effect from 1 August 2021, the Group acquired the remaining non‑controlling interest in Just Jasmine, 
a Group‑owned Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
The increase was due to the Group electing to exercise it's Call Option in respect of the non‑controlling 
interest in Just Jasmine.
Consideration paid –

Main Street 1052 (Pty) Ltd (Nashua Central)
With effect from 1 August 2021, the Group acquired all of the non‑controlling interest in Nashua Central, 
a Group‑owned Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration paid  (10)

Transactions to decrease controlling interest in subsidiaries' 
holdings
Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd (Nashua Tshwane)
With effect from 1 June 2021, the Group sold 30% of its interest in Nashua Tshwane, a Group‑owned 
Nashua franchise in the ICT Segment.
Consideration received  3 

Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd (RIC #2)
With effect from 1 July 2021 Reunert Limited through its subsidiary, Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings (Pty) 
Ltd (RAEH) has, concluded a shareholders agreement with AIF I to establish a joint venture, Lumika Renewables 
(Pty) Ltd (Lumika). As part of the establishment of Lumika, RAEH has agreed to sell an effective 27,8% 
interest to Lumika.
Through this 27,8% interest, Lumika will hold an effective 25% in TFS, which remains a 
subsidiary consolidated by Reunert.
Reunert has elected to eliminate the equity‑accounted earnings associated with TFS in the consolidated 
financial statements.
Consideration received  38 

Plus 1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd (+OneX)
+OneX was introduced into the Group on the 1st of August 2020 whereby Reunert Connect (Pty) Ltd was 
renamed to +OneX, Reunert ICT Holdings (Pty) Ltd (Reunert ICT) held 100% of the shares. With effect from 
1 December 2020 the +OneX Group was formed and Nashua Communications (Pty) Ltd which was 100% 
owned by Reunert ICT was then moved to be a part of this cluster and renamed to +OneX Communications 
(Pty) Ltd. On 1 December 2020, non‑controlling interests were introduced by way of an issue of shares by 
+OneX to the founders.
On 30 September 2021, a further dilution of shareholding occurred resulting in a reduction in Reunert ICT 
shareholding in +OneX Group. This reduction was due to new shares being issued to a strategic BEE group, 
which will now hold 20% of the +OneX Group. Due to this dilution the shareholding for +OneX Group will 
change resulting in Reunert ICT, The Founders and the Black Founders now holding 56,9%, 14,4% and 
8,7% respectively.
Consideration received  27 
Net consideration received  37 

Non‑controlling interests recognised in the statement of changes in equity 65 
Transactions with non‑controlling interests recognised in the statement of changes in equity (47)
Investment in joint venture recognised due to transaction with Lumika 19 
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32.  Going concern
The directors assessed that the Group and Company have sufficient expected cash flows and resources to continue as going 
concerns for at least the next 12 months from the date of the approval of these annual financial statements.

33. Subsequent events
Subsequent to the reporting date, the following transactions have taken place:

+OneX Solutions
During September 2022, +OneX Solutions entered into a sale of business agreement with EUC Africa (Pty) Ltd (EUC) to acquire 
100% of the business and related assets. EUC is a leading provider of desktop‑as‑a‑service and desktop virtualisation. The 
acquisition strengthens +OneX’s capabilities in end‑user computing.

EUC has attained both Citrix Platinum Solution Advisor Status as well as Microsoft Gold Cloud Competency certification. The 
company has helped leading retail, finance, public sector and technology clients to use the combination of Citrix technology running 
on the Azure cloud to optimise costs, security and performance across their end‑user computing environments.

Etion Create
On 1 October 2022 all conditions precedent in the sale of shares agreement between Reunert Limited and Etion Limited (Etion) 
were met. As a result, Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings Proprietary Limited (RAEH), has acquired 100% of the issued share 
capital of Etion Create from Etion for a purchase consideration of R202 million, being the agreed value of Etion Create, on the 
effective date. Etion Create is an original design manufacturer with a product portfolio that covers industrial, defence and the rail 
sectors. The company has a significant local and Middle East market presence with opportunities in South East Asia, a strong order 
book which should result in future growth in revenues and profitability. The acquisition will result in synergies with other companies 
in the Applied Electronics Segment specifically in enhanced design and manufacturing capabilities, as well as increasing the span of 
the segment product portfolio and improving access to key export markets. At the reporting date the valuation of the acquired 
intangible assets is in progress and accordingly the final purchase price allocation has not been finalised.

Quince sale of book
Subsequent to year‑end, the Group sold a further R49 million from its lease and loan book to a third party financial institution. The 
Group continues to make good progress in assessing alternate funding mechanisms for Quince to release the Group's current loan 
funding of the book to redeploy these funds, over time, into the Group's higher yielding strategic investments.

ICT acquisitions
The Group retains its focus on the continued expansion of the ICT Segment's new‑age ICT offerings in the Solutions and Systems 
Integration cluster, primarily through further acquisitions.

Significant guarantees
Subsequent to year‑end, Reunert Limited issued two guarantees in favour of copper and aluminum suppliers of ATC (Pty) Ltd 
(African Cables) to the value of US$8 million. In terms of these guarantees, Reunert Limited irrevocably and unconditionally 
binds itself to all amounts due under the contract with the relevant suppliers up to the guaranteed value.

34.  Litigation
There is no material litigation against the Group or Company.
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Segmental analysis
Business segments
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in activities from which it may earn revenue and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Group, whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision‑maker and for which discrete financial information is available. Operating segments are reported 
in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision‑maker.

The business segments identified are Electrical Engineering (EE), Information Communication Technologies (ICT), Applied Electronics (AE) 
and Other.

The segments have been identified based on products, technology, services, markets and customer segmentation.

EE encompasses the design, manufacture, installation and maintenance of a complete range of power cables, the manufacture and supply 
of copper and optical fibre telecommunication cables, the manufacture and supply of low‑voltage distribution, protection and control 
equipment and the supply of high and medium‑voltage switchgear. This segment’s market includes municipalities, parastatals, utilities, 
the mining and building industries.

ICT is a provider of data and voice communication and network services and solutions; a distributor of business systems with products 
focusing mainly on office automation and telecommunications; and asset‑backed rental solutions. The market serviced comprises corporate 
and retail customers, small to medium‑sized enterprises (SMEs), government, and state‑owned entities.

AE specialises in tactical, very high‑frequency/ultra‑high‑frequency/high‑frequency communication systems; designs and manufactures 
fuzes and related defence products for artillery, mortar, naval and aircraft weapon systems; develops and manufactures ground and naval 
search and tracking radar systems; designs and manufactures mining radar sensor systems used in open‑cast mining; manufactures 
electronic components and printed circuit boards; provides renewable energy engineering and storage solutions; and develops 
cryptographic products and solutions to meet cybersecurity requirements.

In addition, this segment manufactures and supplies remote‑controlled weapon platforms and supplies system engineering and logistic 
support services in telecommunications, radar, satellite, mining, fare management and transportation fields. The AE Segment’s markets 
are local and international defence forces, mining houses, municipalities and corporates.

The Other Segment is made up of the Group’s administration, finance and property portfolio.

The majority of the Group’s operations are situated in South Africa with operations in Australia, India, Lesotho, Mauritius, America 
and Zambia. Revenue by geography has been disclosed in note 1, Revenue.

Reunert does not have a single customer or grouping of customers which meets the requirements to be separately disclosed 
in terms IFRS 8 – Operating Segments.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in the annual 
financial statements.
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2022 2021

Rm  Total  EE  ICT  AE  Other Total EE ICT AE Other

% 
change 
in total

Revenue1

Segment revenue  11 237  6 266  2 599  2 361  11  9 905  5 551  2 490  1 854  10  13 
Adjusted for revenue from equity‑
accounted joint ventures and associates (108) (94)  – (7) (7) (330) (294) (25) (5) (6) 
Revenue  11 129  6 172  2 599  2 354  4  9 575  5 257  2 465  1 849  4 
Revenue as reported in the 
statement of profit or loss  11 129  9 575  16 
Segment revenue – % of total  100  56  23  21  –  100  56  25  19  – 
Segment revenue – % change 
over prior year  13  4  27  10 
Analysis of revenue
Category of revenue
Products  9 262  6 026  1 478  1 758  –  7 632  5 138  1 340  1 154  – 
Services  1 504  146  789  569  –  1 575  119  785  671  – 

 10 766  6 172  2 267  2 327  –  9 207  5 257  2 125  1 825  – 
Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue recognised at a point in time  9 333  6 135  1 612  1 586  –  7 911  5 189  1 574  1 148  – 
Revenue recognised over time  1 433  37  655  741  –  1 296  68  551  677  – 

 10 766  6 172  2 267  2 327  –  9 207  5 257  2 125  1 825  – 
Other revenue
Interest recognised on lease and loan 
receivables  332  –  332  –  –  340  –  340  –  – 
Rental revenue  31  –  –  27  4  28  –  –  24  4 
Total revenue  11 129  6 172  2 599  2 354  4  9 575  5 257  2 465  1 849  4 
Revenue by geography
South Africa  7 810  4 011  2 451  1 344  4  6 942  3 447  2 365  1 126  4 
Rest of Africa (excluding South Africa)  1 814  1 584  99  131  –  1 468  1 310  100  58  – 
Asia  650  51  –  599  –  477  58  –  419  – 
Australia  241  204  –  37  –  218  189  –  29  – 
Europe  385  129  48  208  –  276  95  –  181  – 
America  229  193  1  35  –  194  158  –  36  – 
Total revenue  11 129  6 172  2 599  2 354  4  9 575  5 257  2 465  1 849  4 

1 Inter-segment revenue has been eliminated, however it is immaterial and has not been separately disclosed.

Segmental analysis (continued)
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2022 2021

Rm Notes  Total  EE  ICT  AE  Other Total EE ICT AE Other

% 
change 
in total

Operating profit
Segment operating profit/(loss)1  1 140  436  644  164 (104)  986  373  608  100 (95)  16 
Adjusted for operating loss/(profit) 
from equity‑accounted joint ventures 
and associates  10  11  –  5 (6) (4)  5 (2) (1) (6) 
Profit on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets 2  1  –  –  1  –  12  3  –  3  6 

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment 2  –  –  –  –  – (1)  –  – (1)  – 

Fair value remeasurements
Gain on investment at fair value 
through profit or loss 2  6  6  –  –  –  103  103  –  –  – 
Gain on contingent consideration 2  3  –  –  3  –  13  –  –  13  – 
Gain on put option derivative asset 2  16  –  –  16  –  41  –  –  41  – 
Gain/(loss) on call option derivative liability 2  59  –  –  59  – (92)  –  – (92)  – 
Gain on put option liability 2  1  –  –  1 –  –  –  –  –  – 

Financial guarantee cost 2 (4)  –  –  – (4)  –  –  –  –  – 
Profit on disposal of associate 2  –  –  –  –  –  1  –  1  –  – 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 2  –  –  –  –  – (1)  – (1)  –  – 
Expenses arising from share‑based 
payment transactions 2 (6)  –  –  – (6) (7)  – (6) (1)  – 
Operating profit/(loss) before 
impairment of financial assets  1 226  453  644  249 (120)  1 051  484  600  62 (95) 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of 
financial assets 

Credit write‑off 2 (13) (3) (9) (1)  – (20) (8) (9) (3)  – 
Expected credit losses 2  18  24  9 (12) (3)  19 (23)  29  13  – 

Operating profit/(loss)  1 231  474  644  236 (123)  1 050  453  620  72 (95) 
Operating profit as reported in 
the statement of profit or loss  1 231  1 050  17 
Segment operating profit/(loss) – 
% of total  100  39  56  14 (9)  100  38  62  10 (10) 
Segment operating profit/(loss) – 
% change over prior year  17  6  64  9 

1  The net interest charged on Group funding provided to the Group’s in-house finance operation has been eliminated in line with IFRS 10 – Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The interest eliminated amounted to R137 million (2021: Rnil). Should this operation be externally funded, this would result 
in a reduction of ICT’s operating profit by the quantum of the external interest paid.
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2022 2021

Rm  % of total  % of total 

Total assets
EE  2 893  26  2 708  26 
ICT  4 277  39  4 334  42 
AE  3 284  31  2 755  27 
Other  478  4  540  5 
Total assets as reported in the statement 
of financial position1  10 932  100  10 337  100 
Inventory
EE  901  44  790  45 
ICT  173  8  142  8 
AE  1 005  48  811  47 
Other  –  –  –  – 
Total inventory as reported in the statement 
of financial position  2 079  100  1 743  100 
Trade and other receivables, lease and loan 
receivables – current
EE  1 125  33  995  35 
ICT  1 202  36  1 105  40 
AE  1 007  30  655  24 
Other  32  1  15  1 
Total trade and other receivables, lease and 
loan receivables as reported in the statement 
of financial position  3 366  100  2 770  100 
Total liabilities
EE  1 362 36  1 246  35 
ICT  769  21  834  23 
AE  991  26  839  24 
Other  620  17  636  18 
Total liabilities as reported in the statement 
of financial position1  3 742 100  3 555  100 

1 Intercompany receivables, payables and loans have been eliminated in line with the consolidation principles of IFRS.

Segmental analysis (continued)
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2022 2021

Rm  % of total  % of total 

Trade and other payables, contract liabilities, 
provisions, derivative financial liabilities and 
put option liability – current
EE  1 241  49  1 074  50 
ICT  482  19  430  20 
AE  757  30  569  26 
Other  66  2  90  4 
Total trade and other payables, contract liabilities, 
derivative financial liabilities, provisions and put 
option liability – current as reported in the 
statement of financial position  2 546  100  2 163  100 
Capital expenditure
EE  57  25  64  27 
ICT  45  19  46  19 
AE  127  55  124  52 
Other  3  1  4  2 
Capital expenditure as reported in the statement 
of cash flows  232  100  238  100 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and amortisation of 
intangible assets
EE  44  18  52  21 
ICT  122  48  109  43 
AE  77  30  83  33 
Other  10  4  9  3 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and amortisation of intangible 
assets as reported in the statement of profit or loss1  253  100  253  100 

1 Intercompany depreciation has been eliminated in line with the consolidation principles of IFRS.
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Annexure A
Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and special purpose entities

Share capital
R

(unless 
otherwise 

stated)

 Interest of holding company Interest and distributions
made to/(received from)

the holding companyEffective percentage holding Shares Loans to/(from)

2022
%

2021
%

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

Refer to the Segmental Analysis for a description of the business activities and markets.
Electrical Engineering
Reunert Electrical Engineering Holdings (Pty) Ltd1 8 000 047  100 100  38  38  –  192  155 
RLI Investments (Pty) Ltd 885 000  100 –  1 – – – – –
Afcab Holdings (Pty) Ltd1 8 409 091  88 88 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi‑Electric Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd1 10 000 000  65 65 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi-Electric: African Cables
Reunert Investment Company No 1 (Pty) Ltd 4 000  100 100  68  68  4  4 –  – 
ATC (Pty) Ltd1 145 740 511  65 65 –  – –  – –  – 
Zambia
Metal Fabricators of Zambia PLC KW 270 900  75 75 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi-Electric: Low and Medium Voltage
Circuit Breaker Industries (Pty) Ltd 46  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries GmbH (incorporated in Germany) Euro 25 565  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries Inc. (incorporated in USA) USD 50 000  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries Lesotho (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Lesotho) LS 1 000  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Heineman Electric (incorporated in Australia) A$ 2  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Polybox (Pty) Ltd 2, 3 5 000 100  51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Investment Company No 3 (Pty) Ltd 5 028 000  100 100  16  16 –  –  1  – 
CBi-Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd1 (joint venture) 246 312 400  33 33 –  – –  – –  – 

Information Communication Technologies
Reunert ICT Holdings (Pty) Ltd 952 450 764  100 100  1 257  1 257 –  –  482  155 
Plus1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd4 62 549 779  56 57 –  – –  – –  – 
Plus1X Communications (Pty) Ltd (previously Nashua Communications (Pty) Ltd)4 100  56 57 –  – –  – –  – 
Nashua Office Automation5

Nashua (Pty) Ltd 947 794  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Kopano Solutions Company (Pty) Ltd 2 000 000  100 100 – – –  – –  – 
Nashua Holdings (Pty) Ltd 377 220 436  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Algoa Office Automation (Pty) Ltd 200  70 70 –  – –  – –  – 
Circular Drive Property (Pty) Ltd 200  51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd6 3 002 090  85 70 –  – –  – –  – 
Zevoli 151 (Pty) Ltd6 190  65 60 –  – –  – –  – 
Bridoon Trade and Invest 197 (Pty) Ltd6 5 140 100  54 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Just Jasmine Investments 201 (Pty) Ltd –  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Main Street 1052 (Pty) Ltd 155 562 360  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Main Street 1051 (Pty) Ltd 36 063 582  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Quince Capital (Pty) Ltd 75 268 322  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Electronic Communications Network (Pty) Ltd 100  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Skywire (Pty) Ltd 128 825 012  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
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Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and special purpose entities

Share capital
R

(unless 
otherwise 

stated)

 Interest of holding company Interest and distributions
made to/(received from)

the holding companyEffective percentage holding Shares Loans to/(from)

2022
%

2021
%

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

Refer to the Segmental Analysis for a description of the business activities and markets.
Electrical Engineering
Reunert Electrical Engineering Holdings (Pty) Ltd1 8 000 047  100 100  38  38  –  192  155 
RLI Investments (Pty) Ltd 885 000  100 –  1 – – – – –
Afcab Holdings (Pty) Ltd1 8 409 091  88 88 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi‑Electric Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd1 10 000 000  65 65 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi-Electric: African Cables
Reunert Investment Company No 1 (Pty) Ltd 4 000  100 100  68  68  4  4 –  – 
ATC (Pty) Ltd1 145 740 511  65 65 –  – –  – –  – 
Zambia
Metal Fabricators of Zambia PLC KW 270 900  75 75 –  – –  – –  – 
CBi-Electric: Low and Medium Voltage
Circuit Breaker Industries (Pty) Ltd 46  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries GmbH (incorporated in Germany) Euro 25 565  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries Inc. (incorporated in USA) USD 50 000  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Circuit Breaker Industries Lesotho (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Lesotho) LS 1 000  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Heineman Electric (incorporated in Australia) A$ 2  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Polybox (Pty) Ltd 2, 3 5 000 100  51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Investment Company No 3 (Pty) Ltd 5 028 000  100 100  16  16 –  –  1  – 
CBi-Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd1 (joint venture) 246 312 400  33 33 –  – –  – –  – 

Information Communication Technologies
Reunert ICT Holdings (Pty) Ltd 952 450 764  100 100  1 257  1 257 –  –  482  155 
Plus1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd4 62 549 779  56 57 –  – –  – –  – 
Plus1X Communications (Pty) Ltd (previously Nashua Communications (Pty) Ltd)4 100  56 57 –  – –  – –  – 
Nashua Office Automation5

Nashua (Pty) Ltd 947 794  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Kopano Solutions Company (Pty) Ltd 2 000 000  100 100 – – –  – –  – 
Nashua Holdings (Pty) Ltd 377 220 436  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Algoa Office Automation (Pty) Ltd 200  70 70 –  – –  – –  – 
Circular Drive Property (Pty) Ltd 200  51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd6 3 002 090  85 70 –  – –  – –  – 
Zevoli 151 (Pty) Ltd6 190  65 60 –  – –  – –  – 
Bridoon Trade and Invest 197 (Pty) Ltd6 5 140 100  54 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Just Jasmine Investments 201 (Pty) Ltd –  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Main Street 1052 (Pty) Ltd 155 562 360  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Main Street 1051 (Pty) Ltd 36 063 582  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Quince Capital (Pty) Ltd 75 268 322  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Electronic Communications Network (Pty) Ltd 100  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Skywire (Pty) Ltd 128 825 012  100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
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Share capital
R

(unless 
otherwise 

stated)

 Interest of holding company Interest and distributions
made to/(received from)

the holding companyEffective percentage holding Shares Loans to/(from)

2022
%

2021
%

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

Applied Electronics
Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings (Pty) Ltd 445 901 972 100 100  473  329 –  – –  8 
Authentiss (Pty) Ltd 1 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd8 10 000 000 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech (Pty) Ltd8 39 023 797 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Omnigo (Pty) Ltd8 1 000 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Nanoteq (Pty) Ltd7, 8 100 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Zisaforce Cyber Enterprise (Pty) Ltd8 100 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Accessential (Pty) Ltd t/a Dynateq International 48 272 679 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Fuchs Electronics (Pty) Ltd7 50 000 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Dopptech (Pty) Ltd 7 683 147 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Lumika Renewables (Pty) Ltd9 120 122 322 50,1  50,1 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd9 182 887 528 86 72 –  – –  – –  – 
Terra Firma Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 8 327 426 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terragrow (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew One (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Two (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Three (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Four (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Ghana Ltd (incorporated in Ghana)9 GHS 100 75 67 –  – –  – –  – 
Terra Firma Solutions Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia)9 N$ 100 52 46 –  – –  – –  – 
Nova Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
Nova One Energy Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
City Industrial Solar Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
City Industrial Solar One (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
RKT Energy (Pty) Ltd9 1 000 26 23 –  – –  – –  – 
MRKT Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd9 100 13 12 –  – –  – –  – 
MRKT Energy One (Pty) Ltd9 100 13 12 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert International Holdings (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 –  – –  – –  5 
Reutech India INR 18 544 870 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech Australia7 A$ 100 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
NPC (Electronics) (Pty) Ltd 52 331 286 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Blue Nova Energy (Pty) Ltd 95 277 941 51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
RC&C (Parow Factory) Properties (Pty) Ltd 2 100 100  1  1 –  – –  – 
Investments and services
Reunert Finance Company (Pty) Ltd7 3 799 195 368 100 100  3 799  4 1 154 5 111 –  – 
Reunert Management Services (Pty) Ltd 4 000 100 100  –  – –  –  52  45 
Julopro (Pty) Ltd10 401 006 318 100 100  401  401 –  – 279 (15)
Reunert International Investments (Mauritius) Ltd11 USD 11 829 170 100 100  181  177 –  – –  – 
Sundry companies (net)3 –  – –  – –  4 
Investment in terms of a broad‑based share‑based payment transaction encompassing Group employees12  27  27 –  – –  – 
Principal subsidiaries
Special purpose entities
Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd13 1 390  1 112 –  –  (2)  – 
Rebatona Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd14 –  – –  – –  – 
Rebatona Educational Trust14 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Employee Share Ownership Trust (refer to note 20) – – – – – –

7 652  3 430 1 158  5 115 1 004  357 
Impairment (1 652) (655) (4) (663)  – 
Interest in subsidiaries 6 000  2 775 1 154  4 452 1 004  357 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries to Reunert Company in total (refer to note 12) 1 154  4 452 –  – –  – 
Amounts owing to subsidiaries (refer to note 12) –  – –  – –  – 

1 154  4 452  –  –  –  – 
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Share capital
R

(unless 
otherwise 

stated)

 Interest of holding company Interest and distributions
made to/(received from)

the holding companyEffective percentage holding Shares Loans to/(from)

2022
%

2021
%

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

2022
Rm

2021
Rm

Applied Electronics
Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings (Pty) Ltd 445 901 972 100 100  473  329 –  – –  8 
Authentiss (Pty) Ltd 1 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd8 10 000 000 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech (Pty) Ltd8 39 023 797 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Omnigo (Pty) Ltd8 1 000 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Nanoteq (Pty) Ltd7, 8 100 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Zisaforce Cyber Enterprise (Pty) Ltd8 100 80 80 –  – –  – –  – 
Accessential (Pty) Ltd t/a Dynateq International 48 272 679 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Fuchs Electronics (Pty) Ltd7 50 000 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Dopptech (Pty) Ltd 7 683 147 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Lumika Renewables (Pty) Ltd9 120 122 322 50,1  50,1 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd9 182 887 528 86 72 –  – –  – –  – 
Terra Firma Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 8 327 426 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terragrow (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew One (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Two (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Three (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Four (Pty) Ltd9 100 86 77 –  – –  – –  – 
Terradew Ghana Ltd (incorporated in Ghana)9 GHS 100 75 67 –  – –  – –  – 
Terra Firma Solutions Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia)9 N$ 100 52 46 –  – –  – –  – 
Nova Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
Nova One Energy Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
City Industrial Solar Solutions (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
City Industrial Solar One (Pty) Ltd9 100 43 39 –  – –  – –  – 
RKT Energy (Pty) Ltd9 1 000 26 23 –  – –  – –  – 
MRKT Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd9 100 13 12 –  – –  – –  – 
MRKT Energy One (Pty) Ltd9 100 13 12 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert International Holdings (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 –  – –  – –  5 
Reutech India INR 18 544 870 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Reutech Australia7 A$ 100 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
NPC (Electronics) (Pty) Ltd 52 331 286 100 100 –  – –  – –  – 
Blue Nova Energy (Pty) Ltd 95 277 941 51 51 –  – –  – –  – 
RC&C (Parow Factory) Properties (Pty) Ltd 2 100 100  1  1 –  – –  – 
Investments and services
Reunert Finance Company (Pty) Ltd7 3 799 195 368 100 100  3 799  4 1 154 5 111 –  – 
Reunert Management Services (Pty) Ltd 4 000 100 100  –  – –  –  52  45 
Julopro (Pty) Ltd10 401 006 318 100 100  401  401 –  – 279 (15)
Reunert International Investments (Mauritius) Ltd11 USD 11 829 170 100 100  181  177 –  – –  – 
Sundry companies (net)3 –  – –  – –  4 
Investment in terms of a broad‑based share‑based payment transaction encompassing Group employees12  27  27 –  – –  – 
Principal subsidiaries
Special purpose entities
Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd13 1 390  1 112 –  –  (2)  – 
Rebatona Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd14 –  – –  – –  – 
Rebatona Educational Trust14 –  – –  – –  – 
Reunert Employee Share Ownership Trust (refer to note 20) – – – – – –

7 652  3 430 1 158  5 115 1 004  357 
Impairment (1 652) (655) (4) (663)  – 
Interest in subsidiaries 6 000  2 775 1 154  4 452 1 004  357 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries to Reunert Company in total (refer to note 12) 1 154  4 452 –  – –  – 
Amounts owing to subsidiaries (refer to note 12) –  – –  – –  – 

1 154  4 452  –  –  –  – 
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1  Reunert owns 100% of Reunert Electrical Engineering Holdings (Pty) Ltd, which owns 88% of Afcab Holdings (Pty) Ltd, which owns 74% of CBi-Electric 
Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd (CBi-Electric Mzansi) resulting in an indirect interest of 65,12%. CBi-Electric Mzansi owns 100% of ATC (Pty) Ltd, which owns 50% 
of CBi-Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd.

2  Reunert owns 100% of Circuit Breaker Industries (Pty) Ltd, which owns 51,22% of Polybox (Pty) Ltd, resulting in an indirect interest of 51,22%.
3 These companies are in the process of being either deregistered or liquidated.
4  During 2022 various strategic minority shareholders subscribed for Plus1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd (+OneX) shares. This diluted Reunert’s investment in +OneX 

to 55,9%. +OneX owns 100% of +OneX Communications (Pty) Ltd, resulting in an indirect interest of 55,9%.
5 In terms of IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, none of the non-controlling interests are individually material to the Reunert Group results. 
6  During 2022 Reunert acquired a further 15% in Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd, 5% in Zevoli 151 (Pty) Ltd and disposed of 26% in Bridoon Trade and 

Invest 197 (Pty) Ltd.
7  Reunert has provided financial support to these companies, either in the form of a parent company guarantee, a letter of support, or a subordination 

agreement to these subsidiaries for a period of one year from the signature date of the annual financial statements or to enable these entities to continue 
trading and settle their obligations as they fall due. This was provided after the financial year-end.

8  Reunert owns 100% of Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings (Pty) Ltd (RAEH), which owns 70% of Reutech Mzansi (RF) (Pty) Ltd (Reutech Mzansi) and 
100% of Bantel Investments (Pty) Ltd, which owns 10% of Reutech Mzansi, which results in RAEH holding an 80% indirect interest in Reutech Mzansi. 
Reutech Mzansi owns 100% of Reutech (Pty) Ltd, which owns 100% of Omnigo (Pty) Ltd, 100% of Nanoteq (Pty) Ltd and 100% of Zisaforce Cyber 
Enterprise (Pty) Ltd.

9  During 2021 RAEH entered into a joint venture with AIF I Africa C&I Renewable Energy LLP (AIF I). Accordingly RAEH acquired 50,1% of Lumika 
Renewables (Pty) Ltd (Lumika) by exchanging 27,8% of its shareholding in Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd  (RIC #2) for 50,1% of Lumika’s 
shares. The remaining 49,9% of Lumika was acquired by AIF I. RIC #2 owns 100% (increased in the current financial year due to the minority shareholders 
exercising a put option and repurchase agreement with the BBBEE shareholders, SIBU Private Equity (Pty) Ltd) of Terra Firma Solutions (Pty) Ltd (TFS). 
RAEH’s effective ownership of TFS in the current financial year increased to 86,13%.
TFS owns 100% of Terragrow (Pty) Ltd, Terradew One (Pty) Ltd and Terradew Two (Pty) Ltd. 
TFS owns 86,96% of Terragrow Ghana Ltd 
TFS owns 60% of Terra Firma Solutions Namibia (Pty) Ltd 
TFS owns 50% of Nova Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd
TFS owns 30% of RKT Energy (Pty) Ltd
Nova Energy Holdings owns 100% of Nova Energy One Solutions (Pty) Ltd
Terragrow (Pty) Ltd owns 100% of Terradew Three (Pty) Ltd, Terradew Four (Pty) Ltd and 50% of City Industrial Solar Solutions (Pty) Ltd 
City Industrial Solar Solutions (Pty) Ltd owns 100% of City Industrial Solar One (Pty) Ltd
RKT Energy (Pty) Ltd owns 50% of MRKT Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd
MRKT Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd owns 100% of MRKT Energy One (Pty) Ltd

10  During 2022 Reunert Ltd paid ordinary dividends totalling R16 million (2021: R15 million) to Julopro and Julopro paid ordinary dividends totalling R16 million 
(2021: Rnil) to Reunert Ltd.

11  Reunert owns 100% of Reunert International Investments (Mauritius) Ltd, which owns 75% of Metal Fabricators of Zambia PLC, resulting in a 75% 
indirect interest.

12  During 2007, shares were transferred to Group employees in terms of a broad-based scheme. In terms of IFRS 2, the share premium on the shares issued 
was allocated to Reunert’s investments in the subsidiaries employing the employees.

13  Reunert sold its investment in Bargenel’s ordinary shares in 2007 as part of a BBBEE ownership transaction whereby the 9% of Reunert’s issued share 
capital held by Bargenel was effectively sold to Reunert’s empowerment partners. This transaction was funded by Reunert taking up preference share capital 
in Bargenel to fund the market value of the Reunert shares held by Bargenel. As a result of this transaction, Reunert owned Bargenel’s entire issued 
cumulative A preference shares (1 112 405 shares of R0,01 each, issued at a premium of R999,99 per share). Reunert had not recognised the cumulative 
arrears preference dividend of R216 million (2020: R209 million) it is entitled to as at 30 September 2021, as Bargenel was not in the financial position 
to meet this obligation. 
During the 2022 financial year, the Group implemented its new BBBEE transaction (refer to note 20). The updated structure included the redemption of a 
portion of the issued Bargenel preference shares, a modification of the remaining issued Bargenel preference shares and a waiver by Reunert of the arrear 
preference dividends accrued to Reunert. The modification of the remaining issued Bargenel preference share included a requirement that Bargenel pay 
90% of dividends received to Reunert Ltd as a dividend. The change in return on the instrument from a debt return to an equity return was a significant 
modification in Reunert Ltd, resulting in the derecognition of the Reunert investment in Bargenel preference shares, to a recognition of an investment 
in subsidiary by Reunert. Reunert owns Bargenel’s entire issued modified cumulative A preference shares.
During 2022 Reunert paid ordinary dividends totalling R56 million to Bargenel (2021: R48 million) and Bargenel paid preference dividends totaling R64 million 
to Reunert Ltd (2021: R48 million).

14  Rebatona Educational Trust owns 70% of Rebatona Investment Holdings which owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of Bargenel Investments. These 
entities were set up as part of the BBBEE ownership transaction undertaken in 2007. The terms of the memorandum of incorporation and relationship 
agreement together with the rights of the A preference shareholders and special preference shares provide Reunert with control over these entities.
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Annexure B
Share ownership analysis
as at 30 September 2022

Number of 
shareholders %

Number of 
shares (million) %

1 – 1 000 shares  8 176  74,9  2  1,0 
1 001 – 10 000 shares  2 104  19,3  7  3,8 
10 001 – 100 000 shares  470  4,3  14  7,6 
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  128  1,2  41  22,2 
1 000 001 shares and more  32  0,3  121  65,4 
Total  10 910  100,0  185  100,0 

Public/Non-public shareholders
Number of 

shareholders %
Number of 

shares (million) %

Non-public shareholders  9  0,1  26  14,1 
Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd1  1 –  24  13,0 
Reunert Share Option Trust  3 – – –
Own Holdings2  5  0,1  2  1,1 
Public shareholders  10 901  99,9  159  85,9 
Total  10 910  100,0  185  100,0 

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more
Number of 

shares (million) %

Government Employees' Pension Fund  23  12,4 
Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd1  24  13,0 
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA  10  5,4 

2022 2021

Major holdings through fund managers in 
excess of 5% 

Number of 
shares (million) %

Number of 
shares (million) %

Old Mutual Investment Group (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd  23  12,4  27  14,5 
Public Investment Corporation (SOC) Limited3  21  11,4  21  11,2 
Ninety One SA (Pty) Ltd  17  9,2  15  8,3 
Sanlam Investment Management (Pty) Ltd  9 5,0  11  6,1 

1  Empowerment transaction shares. 
2  Own shares include 195 320 ordinary shares held by the executive directors.
3  Included in the Government Employees Pension Fund.
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AE Applied Electronics

AFS Annual Financial Statements

AGM Annual General Meeting

AIF I AIF I Africa C&I Renewable Energy LLP

ATC ATC (Pty) Ltd

Bargenel Bargenel Investments (Pty) Ltd

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

Blue Nova Blue Nova Energy (Pty) Ltd

Board Board of directors of Reunert Limited

CAFCA Cafca Limited

CBi Telecoms CBi‑Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd

CGU Cash Generating Unit

Code Maven Code Maven (Pty) Ltd

CPI Consumer Price Index

CSP Conditional Share Plan

DCM Datacore Media (Pty) Ltd

Dopptech Dopptech (Pty) Ltd

EAD Exposure at default

EBITDA Earnings before net interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation, impairment of non‑financial 
assets, profit on disposal of associate, loss 
on disposal of subsidiary and expenses 
arising from share‑based payment 
transactions. EBITDA includes interest 
income received on lease and loan 
receivables in the ICT Segment.

ECL Expected Credit Loss

ECN Electronic Communications Network (Pty) Ltd

EE Electrical Engineering

EPS Earnings per share

ESOP Employee Share Option Plan

FECs Forward Exchange Contracts

FVOCI Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss

HEPS Headline earnings per share

IAS International Accounting Standards

ICT Information Communication Technologies

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

JSE JSE Limited

KPI Key performance indicators

Abbreviations and acronyms
LGD Loss given default

Lumika Lumika Renewables (Pty) Ltd

m Million

Mauritius Reunert International Investments 
(Mauritius) Limited

MFP Multi‑function printer

MOI Memorandum of Incorporation

Nashua Central Main Street 1052 (Pty) Ltd

Nashua Kopano Kopano Solutions Company (Pty) Ltd

Nashua Tshwane Classic Number Trading 80 (Pty) Ltd

Nashua Winelands Oxirostax (Pty) Ltd

NCI Non‑controlling interest

NHEPS Normalised headline earnings per share

+OneX Plus1X Solutions (Pty) Ltd 

PAT Profit after tax

PD Probability of default

PPA Power Purchase Agreements

Quince Quince Capital (Pty) Ltd

RAEH Reunert Applied Electronics Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Rebatona Rebatona Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Reunert Reunert Limited

RFCL Reunert Finance Company (Pty) Ltd

RIC #2 Reunert Investment Company No 2 (Pty) Ltd

RMS Reunert Management Services (Pty) Ltd

ROCE Return on capital employed

SARS South African Revenue Service

SkyWire SkyWire (Pty) Ltd

SME Small to medium‑sized enterprises

SPE Special Purpose Entity

Telecom Cables CBi‑Electric Telecom Cables (Pty) Ltd

Terra Firma Terra Firma Solutions (Pty) Ltd

TripleH TripleH Cloud Services (Pty) Ltd

TSR Total shareholder return

VAT Value‑added tax

VBX Virtual private branch exchange

VCC Venture capital companies

WACC Weighted average cost of capital

Zamefa Metal Fabricators of Zambia Plc
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Corporate information and administration

Reunert Limited 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
ISIN: ZAE000057428
Short name: REUNERT
JSE code: RLO
Currency: ZAR
Registration number: 1913/004355/06
Founded: 1888
Listed: 1948
Sector: Electronic and electrical equipment

Business address and registered office 
Nashua Building
Woodmead North Office Park
54 Maxwell Drive, Woodmead
2191
Sandton
South Africa 

Postal address 
PO Box 784391 
Sandton 
2146 
South Africa 

Group Secretary and administration 
Reunert Management Services Proprietary Limited
Nashua Building
Woodmead North Office Park
54 Maxwell Drive
Woodmead
2191
Sandton
South Africa 

Karen Louw (FCIS)
Directly responsible for secretarial matters 
Email: karenl@reunert.co.za
Telephone: +27 11 517 9000
Telefax: +27 11 517 9044

Group Legal 
Hendrik van Rensburg 
Admitted Advocate to the High Court of South Africa, PR Eng 
Email: legal@reunert.co.za 
Telephone: +27 11 517 9000 
Telefax: +27 11 517 9035

Corporate and sustainability 
information and investor relations 
Karen Smith 
MComm
Communication and Investor Relations Manager
Telephone: +27 11 517 9000
Telefax: +27 11 517 9035
Email: karens@reunert.co.za

Share transfer secretaries 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
2196 

Postal address 
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107
South Africa 

Telephone: +27 11 370 5000
Telefax: +27 11 688 5200
Website: www.computershare.com 

Auditors 
Deloitte & Touche
Deloitte
5 Magwa Crescent
Waterfall City
Midrand
2090
South Africa 

Telephone: +27 11 806 5000 
Telefax: +27 11 806 5003 

Sponsor 
One Capital Sponsor Services Proprietary Limited

Principal bankers 
Nedbank
Standard Bank 
Investec
Rand Merchant Bank (RMB)

Reunert is an industrial group with a portfolio of businesses in its Electrical Engineering, ICT and Applied Electronics segments. It was 
founded in 1888 and listed on the JSE in 1948. It is included in the JSE industrial goods and services (electronic and electrical equipment) 
sector and is a constituent of the FTSE/JSE Responsible Investment Index.
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